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Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to report that Huanxi Media Group Limited (the “Company”
or “Huanxi Media", together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) made
significant development and progress in the past year. During the year
under review, a number of quality films the Group invested in and
produced hit the screen and achieved impressive box office receipts
as well as word-of-mouth recommendations.

Believing in the importance of content, the Group has been exploring
opportunities to cooperate with outstanding directors. During the
year, internationally renowned director Zhang Yimou joined the Group,
adding another strong capability in creating film and TV contents. The
Group continued to forge alliance with top-tier directors in China and,
together with them, mapped out its strategy to deliver original and
premium movie and TV production to the market and locked in the
source of best original content for films and drama series in China,
thereby fortifying its leadership in the film and TV industry in China.

Furthermore, the Group continues to be positive about the online
viewing trend and has developed the online video platform “huanxi.com”
(Bt = & ) focusing on delivering curated content. The purpose
of the platform, which offers a selection of high quality film and TV
productions, is to drive the Group’s evolution to become a leading
media group with the best planning and production teams, top film
and TV productions and its own online video platform. The Group
was delighted to see "huanxi.com” gain market recognition and user

patronage during the year under review.
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

In late 2018, the China Film Administration published the “Opinions
on Accelerating the Construction of Movie Theaters to Promote the
Prosperity and Development of the Film Market”, proposing a series
of measures to help the film market develop, reflective of the Central
Government’s endorsement of and determination to drive growth of
the Chinese film industry. And, the industry itself has maintained a
positive growth momentum. According to China Film Administration
data, the total box office receipts of movies released in China in 2018
exceeded RMB60 billion for the first time, with made-in-China films
accounting for 62.15%, the highest ever, commanding box office
receipts of RMB37.89 billion, a surge of 25.89% when compared with
the last corresponding period. As film productions in China become
more and more sophisticated, Chinese audience also have a greater
sense of identification with and preference for them.

Moreover, the number of viewers of videos on online platforms is
growing rapidly. According to a China Internet Network Information
Center report, as at late June 2018, there were 802 million internet
users in China and the country’s internet penetration rate was 57.7%.
According to the “2018 Online Video Market Annual Report” published
by BigData-Research, the online video platform market in China was
valued at over RMB110.46 billion, representing a 26.6% increase year-
on-year, and the proportion of pay-to-view internet drama managed
continuous growth. The “2018 Analysis Report of Development of
Online Original Programs” released by State Administration of Press,
Publication, Radio, Film and Television also showed that 218 online
drama series were released on the internet during the year, 95% of
them were pay-to-view drama, up by close to 10 percentage points
when compared with 2017. Driven by advanced technologies, the
film, TV and cultural industry is looking at consistently increasing
demands. Stimulated by the rich supply of different film and TV
content and support from the ever-improving internet infrastructure,
Chinese consumers are growingly receptive to the online pay-to-view
mode and quality internet drama series have stronger and stronger
followings.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Several films hit the screen and achieved
strong box office receipts and word-of-mouth
recommendations

During the year under review, many outstanding works produced by
the Group in cooperation with shareholder directors and contracted
directors were released as scheduled. These films were well received
by the mass audience and achieved satisfactory box office receipts as
well as word-of-mouth recommendations.

Us and Them (1 R # % 17), a directorial debut of the renowned
Taiwanese singer Rene Liu, which was invested by the Group and
produced by Zhang Yibai, was released during the Labor Day holiday
in China in 2018. It achieved impressive box office receipts of more
than RMB1.36 hillion.

Dying to Survive (3~ =2 % 1%), based on real-life happenings, was
released in July 2018. The movie the Group invested in was co-
produced by Ning Hao and Xu Zheng also the lead actor, and directed
by the new director Wen Muye, it created a craze and became a
blockbuster. The film, which drew attention to and sparked discussions
on a social phenomenon, was shortlisted for seven awards at the 55th
Golden Horse Awards and took home three — Best Leading Actor, Best
New Director and Best Original Screenplay. With box office receipts
reaching RMB3.1 billion, it was among the top three movies grossing
the highest box office receipts in 2018.

Ash Is Purest White (1% 52 %z) directed by Jia Zhangke was released
in September 2018. The film was nominated for awards at the 71st
Cannes Film Festival, bearing testimony to the recognition it enjoys
from the international movie community.
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Steadily developing content production business
to deliver excellent film and TV works

Looking ahead, in 2019, the Group will continue to exert its best in
growing the film and TV business. Crazy Alien (Ja3E#)9h £ A), the
third in the “Crazy” series, just hit cinemas in China during the 2019
Chinese New Year holiday and received enthusiastic market response.
The film, with the Group as exclusive investor, was directed by Ning
Hao, who was a member of the “comedy trio” formed together with
Huang Bo and Shen Teng, two celebrated comedians starred in the
movie. Supported by such a top-notch team and with the special
appearance by Xu Zheng, the film became a blockbuster comedy and
the best choice for family audience during the holiday. It recorded box
office receipts of more than RMB2.20 billion and the RMB700 million
minimum distribution income from the movie will be booked by the
Group in the first half of 2019.

Wizards in the Royal Palace (& #& 1§ 2 ¥ 2K 7 ) directed by
Manfred Wong is an interesting story about four princesses running
into an elf at Yuanmingyuan (the Old Summer Palace). It boasts a star-
studded cast including Qin Lan who played “Fuca Rongyin” in a hot TV
drama series last year and won fans and fame. The movie is in post-
production and expected to be released in 2019.

Tropical Memories (£ %5 £ =), with the Group as an investor, is
produced by Ning Hao and directed by the new director Wen Shipei
and will be released in 2019. The film was a nominee of the Talent
Project Market at the 68th Berlin International Film Festival and
received the “VFF Talent Highlight Award” cash prize. It has been the
only Chinese movie to win the Award since its debut in 2004.

Li Na (Z=#), a biographical film the Group invested in and directed
by Peter Chan, tells the story of the legendary female tennis player
who won Asia’s first Grand Slam women'’s singles, her “love-hate
relationship” with tennis starting in Wuhan, taking her then to Beijing,
and Paris and London, and the extraordinary efforts she put into the
sport and the hardships she endured on the path to glory. The movie
is expected to be released in 2019.
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Another movie deserving attention is Lost in Russia (F14%), the latest
production in the “Lost” series written and directed by and starring
Xu Zheng, and with the Group as exclusive investor. It is scheduled
for release on the first day of Chinese New Year in 2020, making it the
first movie in the “Lost” series to be screened in the Chinese New Year
period. As the third movie in the classic comedy series, it is highly-
anticipated among the mass audience. The filming of Miss Mom (4
A~|A 2), which is about real life and social topics such as pregnancy
of women, has begun and is expected to resonate with and spark
discussions among the audience when it hit the cinema screen.

Exclusive customised internet drama content soon
to make debut at “huanxi.com”

For its online film and TV platform “huanxi.com”, the Group has been
actively enriching the selection of quality films and TV productions on
the platform. The 12-episode drama series Paradise Guesthouse (X
E R &8 , the first internet drama produced and co-directed by the
Group’s shareholder director Wong Kar Wai, is expected to go into
production in 2019.

Run For Young (f& KX 4 % #) X 22), an internet drama directed
by Zhang Yibai and screen-written based on the fiction with the
same name, is being filmed. The Group owns the exclusive rights
to distribute the above internet drama productions to new media
platforms around the world. Director Zhang Yibai is filming the Run For
Young (Ja R 45 #) X 22 ) movie at the same time.
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Building an online platform for premium
productions to prepare for the advent of paid
viewing trend

To promote and expand development of its new media online film and
TV platform, the Group signed a cooperation agreement with Tianjin
Maoyan Weying Cultural Media Co., Ltd (“Maoyan Weying"). Maoyan
Weying has started to include a highly visible “huanxi.com” access
gateway in all its internet portals, such as App and the WeChat Mini
Programmes, which has served well in directing traffic to the platform,
increasing the number of registered users of the platform to more
than 1,000,000. Of all the registered users, more than 30% are paid
users. In the future, the Group’s shareholder directors and contracted
directors will continue to tailor internet films and drama series
exclusively for the platform. The Group itself will keep sourcing more
quality local and overseas film and TV productions for “huanxi.com”.

BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS

At this opportune time with favorable government policies backing
the industry, the Group has been actively creating quality original
contents, with the aim of developing itself into a leading all-round
media and entertainment group in the Greater China region. The
Group is preparing and producing a number of quality films and
internet drama series and expects to continuously deliver outstanding
film and TV contents to audiences in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). Such quality contents, the Group believes, will bring abundant
returns.

People are the core resource of the film and TV industry. The Group
has thus worked hard on rallying top directors in the PRC and, to date,
it has seven shareholder directors, namely Ning Hao, Xu Zheng, Chan
Ho Sun Peter, Wong Kar Wai, Zhang Yibai, Gu Changwei and zZhang
Yimou. It has also forged close cooperation relationship with famous
directors, at home and abroad, including lia Zhangke, Manfred Wong,
Wang Xiaoshuai, Li Yang and Chen Daming. Capitalising on its win-
win operational model emphasising on offering original contents
and the top content creation capability of all partner directors, it
endeavors to establish a film and TV platform that can meet diverse
market demands. In the future, the Group will continue to look
for opportunities to cooperate with more top directors and assist
young directors, in a bid to gradually enhance its core competitive
advantages in the film and TV production sector.
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Furthermore, the Group has also been active in building “huanxi.com”
that agrees with the burgeoning online viewing trend. Unlike existing
video broadcast websites, the platform carefully selects and offers
various quality films and TV productions to audiences, allowing them
to enjoy their preference contents at ease without spending time
and effort searching for them. With premium contents to offer and
importance of content being the trend, the Group believes “huanxi.com”
shall be able to win more loyal users. The Group is confident that the
online video platform business will become one of its future growth
drivers.

CONCLUSION

With the Chinese people spending more and more on cultural
entertainment, the film and TV industry has a strong impetus to
achieve sustainable growth. On the second anniversary of the
enactment of the “Film Industry Promotion Law”, the China Film
Administration issued another notice on promoting the prosperous
development of the film market, giving the growing film market yet
another shot in the arm.

Looking ahead, the Group will stay true to its original aspiration, which
is to create outstanding original film and TV productions. With an
industry-leading content creation team and a flexible management and
operational model, the Group will optimise its strategically deployed
industrial chain that stretches full length from film and TV content
creation, shooting and production to distribution and promotion, as
well as building an online video platform that offers diverse film and
TV contents, so as to further consolidate and sharpen its competitive
advantages and generate greater long-term returns for shareholders.

Last but not least, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all

board members, our management team, business partners and staff
for their contributions to the Group’s business.

Dong Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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APPENDIX: FAMOUS DIRECTORS COOPERATING EXCLUSIVELY WITH THE GROUP
ik RAKERITBREFESNZANBER

had brought strong investment returns.
His directorial debut /ncense (& X.) and
another work Mongolian Ping Pong (4% &
#) were nominated for awards in over 50
international film festwals

BIEBITEARRE BER - 2EEFY
MX@JEE&,@@& Héa‘ HEBEZ(H
ﬁ%ﬁ@fﬁﬂwﬂﬂﬂ— Z BB EREE

e Crazy Stone (J&1f 8 A 58), a low budget
production he directed in 2006, won at
the Taiwan Golden Horse Awards for Best
Original Screenplay. Crazy Racer (J& 1 #9
FE) (2009), which he wrote and directed,
was produced with only RMB10 million,
yet brought in box office receipts of over
RMB100 million

Bé\:gf \Eiﬂﬁd\$a%<ﬁﬁﬂ’]6

) %ﬁ%%%,\%%m&ﬁ

° He also directed the huge box office hit
Breakup Buddies (/016 1R (2014), which
grossed RMB1,169 million in box office
receipts in the PRC, making it the highest-
grossing domestic Chinese movie of the
year
HPBSZOLERBO(ZE—WF) -
IWZ%%AE%1wwmmmm%”¢
BFEREREDREY

o He is one of the co-producers of Dying to
Survive (F T2 %48) (2018), which earned
RMB3.1 billion in box office receipts. The
movie was nominated for seven awards
at the 55th Taiwan Golden Horse Awards
and won the awards for Best Leading
Actor, Best New Director and Best Original
Screenplay. The movie also won Best
Screenplay at the 42nd Montreal World
Film Festival and Best Film at the 14th
Changchun Film Festival
H2HEBEERN(B T2 W) (ZF
—\5) H&Z%m}%}\ﬁﬁ%s 100,000,000 7T
EES5EE HER A tfli%léi R IRE

SERESEA EENTSEREEREE
A= B3I - b A INER T 42 [E KRR B

ABEEH D2 BB AER 2 14E 6
EEEP M BEREL S

Director Background Cooperation Details

8" BEEN BERAR

N|n§ Hao* ° Famous internationally for his unique | Shall direct one to two films (for public
25 directing style, all films he made so far release) every three years

BRAESEE=F8F - EMIELIED
(AEREXNAR LB A%E)

o The Group shall own exclusive investment
and production rights to any films and
programmes developed and directed by
Mr. Ning, i.e. the Group shall be the sole
investor of such productions
AEBEEFSEAAEBERRE 2 EF R
BB 2 BrhiR & R BUERE - BIRNEE K
REBERZIE—RESE

o The Group shall have priority distribution
rights (including cinema screenings, audio-
visual products, television broadcasting,
network dissemination, etc.) to the
shareholder director’s productions in the
PRC, Hong Kong, Taiwan and the Macau
Special Administrative Region of the PRC
AEEBEERREEIEREFRE - FB -
578 K BRI R T ISR 2 B IR 1THE
BIETEE R SR m  BREE K

MEEEE

o The shareholder director shall, at his
best, provide the Group with the priority
investment, production and distribution
rights for films and TV programmes not
developed or directed, or produced, screen-
written by him or with him as lead actor or
member of the creative team
Hﬁ%%ﬁﬂ%%%ﬁﬁ@%?ﬁ@kmHﬁ%‘ﬁiﬁ%
m&ﬂ;uﬁﬁﬁéﬁaﬁ%%\ﬁ%~

;ﬁiﬁi\{ﬁiéw\é\z%ﬁf’ﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁ )
REBREELERERE  RUERERETE

e Crazy Alien (R ® SN2 A), with the
Group as exclusive investor and directed
by Mr. Ning, was released on the first
day of the Chinese New Year in 2019. It
bagged a third-party guaranteed minimum
distribution amount of RMB2,800,000,000
and is expected to generate income of
RMB700,000,000 for the Group
AEEBRRE m%%&ﬂ%ﬂ’]é&‘é‘xr
EEW\\E/QEEA —NFFH— L -
HX?%%EH}\EM SOOOOOOOOnf%ﬁ%
ﬁq%;%,\ﬁ A & B 5 2R A KR % 700,000,000
JG

*  Shareholder director and non-executive director of the Company
* BREREBBERAARFHITES

HEEREEARAA |

—B-N\EER
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

TRHES

wrote, produced and starred in, earned
over USD200 million in box office receipts
—E-_HFEREBREERERERDK
EEKAERZZZFH)  RERERERES
200,000,000 7T

In 2014, Mr. Xu produced and starred in
the film Great Hypnotist (1&R& X Af) which
became a classic in the thriller film market
in the PRC

—TE - ARAEARUET FIEEIREEE
BR(ERARD) - KAEZERBRER
35 48 8

Dying to Survive (% 2 &) co-
produced by Mr. Xu earned RMB3.1 billion
in box office receipts in 2018. The film was
nominated for seven awards at the 55th
Taiwan Golden Horse Awards and won the
Best Leading Actor, Best New Director and
Best Original Screenplay awards. The movie
also won Best Screenplay at the 42nd
Montreal World Film Festival and Best Film
at the 14th Changchun Film Festival
—E-N\F - H2HEBE BRI FIRN(E
TREEEE) WEEF A R 3,100,000,000
L EESSESFEP AET7REEIE - &
KRESRZESEA EFEERRER
EZBIAR=(E4RIE - )b MR BE R ERRE
NBBEREXH L RERRNERFE14E
FRREEXO CHERSEHE

Director Background Cooperation Details

8= BEEN BERE

Xu Zheng* o In 2012, his directorial debut Lost in | e Shall direct one to two films (for public
Bl Thailand (A B M #% 2 Z= M), which he also release) every three years

BAAEES=FEE—EMEEYES
(AR R DB A %)

The Group owns exclusive investment
and production rights to any films and
programmes developed and directed by Mr.
Xu, i.e. the Group shall be the sole investor
of such productions
REEBBETWHAEEBRERNELER
8 B 2 BRI B R BLIERE - RIS E
REBAEFR2E—IRESE

The Group has priority distribution rights
(including cinema screenings, audio-visual
products, television broadcasting, network
dissemination, etc.) to the shareholder
director’s productions in the PRC, Hong
Kong, Taiwan and the Macau Special
Administrative Region of the PRC
AEBBHEBRREEERTFRE B -
BB RPBIRFIRRIITHRR 2B EITHE -
BRERIBERERE  SGEREM EREEKE
WX EES

The shareholder director shall, at his
best, provide the Group with the priority
investment, production and distribution
rights for films and TV programmes not
developed or directed, or produced, screen-
written by him or with him as lead actor or
member of the creative team

BRREEHF BRI IFRRREERE
BRPEBUARBRFEEES RER - HE -

FESIEMEBAB ZERIERRE R M
RARREEERERE  BUERERIEITRE

Lost in Russia (E1%), the latest in the “Lost”
series, is expected to hit the screen on the
first day of the Chinese New Year in 2020
Fr—m D) Ry B 2 KBS - Bt &
—ECEERFY-HEHERRE

*  Shareholder director and non-executive director of the Company
* BRRBBERAARFHITES
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TRHES

Kar Wai won the “Best Director” title at the
Hong Kong Film Awards and the Golden
Horse Awards for the movie Days of Being
Wild (PRI R IEF)
NIEEFAIZRBOANBELE R - R
KigE - EHENEL(RIEF)RES
BEFBRESERGEEFE

o He also won the “Best Director” Award for
Happy Together (%& % ‘E %) at the 50th
Cannes Film Festival
BE(ENER)RESES0ERREZH

RIEBRLE

Director Background Cooperation Details
55 BERBEN EERAR
Chan Ho Sun o He is the first and also the only director | e During the six-year cooperation period,
Petert crowned the “Best Director” at the Taiwan the Group shall have investment right to
PR A = # Golden Horse Awards, the Hong Kong at least two films directed or co-directed
Film Awards and Mainland China’s Golden by Mr. Chan, in amount up to 60% of the
Rooster Awards. His films A/most a Love total investment in each of Mr. Chan’s
Story (#t % %) and Dragon (& &) had productions
made it among Time Magazine's 10 Best ERFEERAR  ARESHEE LMD
Movies of the Year MR A SRS EENEIRERE -
EREMNITRESH—ELSFESFE - B ERERENREEIERIRERTE
BEEETeBRURTRHEY R ) 60%
EEBEIMAMEEE EHENEZ
BEYRCREYEBMEEZEEZHERE | «  The Group shall have priority over others
HHFETEER to purchase exclusive global distribution
licenses in new media with respect to Mr.
Chan’s productions (“new media distribution
right”)
REFEBENMAEER T EIERBEIX
BRI Al 2 A ([T 21T
%)

o For those productions the Group invested
in, the Group shall have the right to decide
regarding distribution of the films to
exclusive new media platforms
HAEEERENRE  TNEEHFEXT
REBR  CBRNEE T OMAEITHE

Wong Kar Wai# o Dubbed a “movie poet”, renowned movie | e During the six-year cooperation period, the
FRAE! director, producer and screenwriter, Wong Group has the right to invest exclusively in a

Chinese internet drama series — 18 episodes
in two seasons — co-directed and produced
by Mr. Wong. There will be 12 episodes in
the first season

EREEERRN  AEEESHEHRER
M S GBI H 18 XM RV
RENBRIZERE  BFH12E8

o The Group has exclusive right to distribute,
sub-license and broadcast the internet
drama series to the global audience through
new media platforms for a period of 10
years
REBBERRT BERIERBNERTA
MERERE R AER R RENBER
FERIRE - FHRETF

o Mr. Wong is going to produce and co-direct
his first internet drama series Paradise
Guesthouse (R Z T8 ) with 12 episodes
TRAERBEHGERERMBSERI2E
Wi R HRBICREIRED

#  Shareholder director
fORREE

HEEREEARAR

—B-N\EER
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TRHES

Director

B®

Background
BEEN

Cooperation Details
BERE

Zhang Xiaoling*
(also known as

Zhang Yibai)
R e bk #
(XBKR—AH)

Dubbed the “Godfather of Youth Films”
in the PRC, his love story movies have
enjoyed wide acclaims and among them,
the 2016 production / Belonged to You (#
RHy 2t & 38) brought in box office
receipts of more than RMB800 million, a
record among movies of its kind
HERIPEEERHR]  EHENZ
BEBFEXLINTEAREST  ER—F
—NEBEREH 2T ARIR) E R
1SiB3B A R % 800,000,000 tE 5 * Bl T
ERBEXNERENLE

The box office receipts of films he directed
and produced totaled more than RMB3.1
billion, putting him in the league of the
most commercially successful directors
and producers in the PRC today
hHENEMNELRBEEFBARE
3,100,000,0007T * T3+ B B R s A g % B
BENXBERERANEFRER 2 —

Us and Them (& %K &) % {f1) (2018)
produced by Mr. Zhang and directed by
Rene Liu recorded a box office receipts of
more than RMB1.36 billion
REEEEESR I EARENETENE
BEEROEMI(ZZE—NF)  BFE
F5 1838 A R ¥ 1,360,000,000 7T

During the six-year cooperation period, the
Group has priority right over others to invest
in at least two of Mr. Zhang's productions,
in the amount of no less than 55% of the
total investment amount of each of the
productions

EREEERRN  REEZHELENMEA
KEZVDMEREEEmERN  REH
NOREGERELEEMIRE LT Z55%

The Group has priority right to purchase
exclusive global distribution licenses to
new media of at least two of Mr. Zhang's
productions
AEBEZEEBEBEEZIMBRAEEED
Z BB B EITI A 2 A

The Group has exclusive right to invest
in two seasons of internet drama series
directed (or co-directed) by Mr. Zhang
AEBEZEHREENE (IBEHE) K
MERGE RV RE 2 BRI E #

The Group has been granted exclusive
global distribution rights of two seasons of
the internet drama series directed (or co-
directed) by Mr. Zhang to new media
REFERKREERNE (SEBEHE) M
SRR RN TERB 2 2B A 88 31T
73

The Group has participation rights to other
productions of Mr. Zhang
REEERRTCAEEMER 2IRE S MR

The internet drama series Run For Young
(AL F 8 K=Z) directed Mr. Zhang is
expected to be released in 2019
HEHEWBEICmA D FHRE) B HR
—E-NFEEREE

#  Shareholder director
OREEE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

TRHES

Sciences (AMPAS), he has long been hailed
as “the master cinematographer in Asia”
and subsequently became a director
BRERIVEEARTREZEE BA(:
ME—BAED 2 REEREEY

He directed a number of iconic movies
including Love for Life (& &), Peacock (L
#), and was the cinematographer of Red
Sorghum (4L = %) and Farewell To My
Concubine (% £ B4 ), winning accolades
at many international film festivals

BEZHANELEY - BEEE)  FL#E)
&?H*ﬂ%<<ﬂmé@>&<<$£%ﬂﬁﬁ>> CEER

R B BAS h EER R

Director Background Cooperation Details

%/: /,\FkJI %'T’EW@

Gu Changwei* As one of the few Chinese members of | e During the six-year cooperation period, the
BRE the Academy of Motion Picture Arts and Group has exclusive right to invest in two

seasons of internet drama series directed (or
co-directed) by Mr. Gu

ERFEERRN  ASE=ZBREEHNE
(KEEHE) MERBRIEZEE 2B
RIKE

The Group has exclusive global new media
distribution rights for these internet drama
series
K%l##@ﬁi%%gﬂ
BRI RS ITHE

B2 2R

The Group has priority right to invest in
Mr. Gu's productions. The exact amount of
investment in each of Mr. Gu's productions
is to be agreed between the Company and
Mr. Gu
AEBEREEEREBEESHIEFRIE
e F—MPREALEEHIEMABIRESR
% B AN B ER A ST A 17 E

The Group has the right to purchase
exclusive global distribution licenses to
new media for at least two of Mr. Gu’s
productions and has participation right to
invest in his other productions
$%l¥ﬁﬁ§ﬁf\/l MEBEEEEBZIEm
IR RINE BT R 2 AR M

%x,éfﬁﬁwﬁuuz/ iy

#  Shareholder director
fORREE

HEEREEARAA |

—B-N\EER
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TRHES

Raise the Red Lantern (KX 4115 €€ & a £1),
70 Live (JEZ), Not One Less (— B & T 4E
), The Road Home (&I X&), Hero
(B 1), House of Flying Daggers (+ T 32
{X), Curse of the Golden Flower (=&
=4 ), The Flowers of War (£ &+ =4),
Coming Home (§ k) and The Great Wall
(&), etc.

BIIRAEEE AANENEYREA
SR (RABESSE) CEE) (—
EEBTEE D)  CBAIREREI ) « CRHEED -
CEBER) CRRBRETESHR) (2K
F=8) (B (REHE

His works received awards at international
film festivals, including Golden Bear at the
Berlin International Film Festival, Golden
Lion at Venice International Film Festival,
and also the Golden Horse Awards in
Taiwan

RAEENENELZ RESRRETLE K
2 BIERMBIRERE S RE - BEH
TEREMENGESFR

Mr. Zhang was the chief director of the
opening ceremony of the 2008 Beijing
Olympics, and was awarded an honorary
doctorate degree by Boston University and
Yale University in the US
RAEERZZEZN\FIRREGHENLR
BE - XBIRTEAZREERNZ2EEE
+

Director Background Cooperation Details

B BEREN SERR

Zhang Yimou* o As an internationally famed movie director, | e During the six-year cooperation period, the
REAGRS his works included Red Sorghum (41 & 3R), Group has exclusive right to invest in three

internet drama series directed by Mr. Zhang,
with topics to be agreed between the Group
and Mr. Zhang

ERFEERA AEEHERBRIRE
REENER = FAKRINTZEE - EM
1 BB 72N &% (] B oR St AR 1h TE

The exclusive investment right of one
internet drama series directed by Mr. Zhang
can be converted into priority investment
right of a film directed by him (with no
existing third-party contract restriction),
and the investment amount within the
cooperation period shall not be less than
60% of the total investment of the film
H—HREENGOARE R REINTE
EIRERAERABYHREENE L AZE
BHEE=ZFEHRINEL 2EBLIEERE -
REEHAZIRBEEIN P REZEXIRE L
FE ) 60%

The Group shall own all the tangible and
intangible assets of his internet drama
series, as well as the rights derived from or
related to them

NEB BERR T ERR R RE 2P
EERREREENREITAERETN K AEEH
TR

The film One Second (— ¥ 4&), produced
by the Group and directed by Mr. Zhang, is
expected to hit the screen in 2019
AEBHG REERENEZ(—ME)
BEER-_ZE-NFEHEREE

#  Shareholder director
OREEE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

TRHES

Achievement Awards from several
international film organisations
BRERBMELE R BEZEBEKSE
AR AREE (4R B A Bh 8%

Directed 12 feature films, all nominated for
awards at the Berlin, Cannes and Venice
International Film Festivals. In 2013, A
Touch of Sin (X 7€) won the award for
Best Screenplay at the 66th Cannes Film
Festival

H@+ R - 2FABAMK - B
RBRHEZE c —FT—=F  (KETE)
EEOERBBEREY S xERE 2

In 2015, he received the Carrosse d’ Or at
the Cannes Film Festival

—E-hF ERREBREXSHEEER
BIREK & FE %]

In 2018, Ash is Purest White (JI # 5 %)
was a shortlisted contender of the top
honor at the 71st Cannes Film Festival
ZE-)N\F HEENCLARZOAESR
7NERMEX S EREEIT

Director Background Cooperation Details

55 BERBEN EERAR

Chen Daming ° Mr. Chen studied screenwriting, directing | During the six-year cooperation period, the

PR A B and acting in the US in the 1990s and Group has priority right to invest in at least
starred in a number of Hollywood movies. three of Mr. Chen’s productions
Many of the films he directed won ERFEERA  AEEZEFELENMEA
international awards REZE D =HEREEVEm 2R
RPNATFERBEEHZEBRE - SEFNRE
BRRZ UM EEEY  HE 2 ZEE | o The Group has exclusive rights to invest
YR SN ER in two seasons of internet drama series

directed (or co-directed) by Mr. Chen
e He is currently a visiting professor at the REEEGSERE (HEEHE) HMEH

Beijing Film Academy (Jt = & & £ Fr), HwEINZAABB 2 BRITE
Vice President of the Shanghai International
School of the Beijing Film Academy (b5 | o Payments (such as development fund, film
B2 EBBEER) and has been director fees and creative member fees) will
appointed by Shanghai Vancouver Film be agreed separately for each of Mr. Chen'’s
School as its Art Director films and internet drama series productions
tEILRELERTEHRE LI RELS BREEGHERY RAKRINTHRERIEZ
bt R EREIR R - WXE A AR NRBRBEES EXEEENRTE
HESBSTERAMAEE ABER) B2 AHE

Jia Zhangke ° A distinguished international art-house | o The Group has exclusive or priority right to

EEA director, he has received Lifetime invest in at least three new films directed by

Mr. Jia in the six-year cooperation period
ERFEERA AEEESHELEEH
B &L= ELERNBRIE LK
B

The Group has priority distribution right and
exclusive new media right to the above new
films

AEBES FMERLIEMAEBLET
TR B R

HEEREEARAR

—B-N\EER
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

TRHES

Director
BH

<3 />R

Background
BEEN

Cooperation Details
BERE

Wang Xiaoshuai
F /R

A pioneer independent film director in the
PRC and recipient of the Ordre des Arts
et des Lettres from the French Minister of
Culture

FEBEETE  WEERERLE
TS T EM =T

Directed 11 feature films that were
nominated eight times in the top three
international film festivals
HPEB+—HMEFRR - NKAB=K
REFERESIT

In 2005, Shanghai Dreams (7 4I) won the
Jury Prize at the 58th Cannes Film Festival
“TTERF HABN(HELA) EES8E
BB B AT =B AR

The Group has priority right to invest
in two productions (including films and
internet drama series) Mr. Wang directed or
produced during the six-year cooperation
period

ERFEERRN  REEESHAERE
ERCMBERER (BEEY MER
SR B) HELIRE R

The Group has priority right to invest in and
distribute globally his new productions
AEBER=ZFHIERNELKREENEIR
BT

The Group has exclusive right to distribute
and re-sell his new productions to new
media platforms worldwide
AEBEREZEHIEREEREFERTA
BRETRERESER
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TRHES

Director Background Cooperation Details

8" BEEN aERE

Manfred Wong ° A veteran filmmaker in Hong Kong who | e The Group has priority right over others to
F & (XREBXE) has directed, produced, and acted in films invest in at least four of Mr. Wong's new

and is also a screenwriter for films and TV
dramas

BREEREXAN TEAEFEE BER -
EEB A RE S AL

° Ventured into the film industry in the early
1990s and co-founded BoB & Partners
Company Limited (& E#1EHBR 2 7)) in
the mid-90s, he has under his belt more
than 30 films including 7he Storm Riders (&
) and the Young and Dangerous (& 24¥)
series
RATERVAREZEE - RATFER
PHSAIREREIER AR SRYER
BIHER BREAE) (HRMF) R

e

o The film Roots and Branches (¥ #) 7 28
% ) he produced broke the box office
receipt record of domestic movies in the
PRC in 2001 and won awards at more than
10 film festivals
REER (B RHHRI R _TT —
FIRE2BEEEEFELH - WERE
BT EFZEMNERIERIEA

o Hong Kong's first producer to venture into
production of internet drama series. His
works included Feel 100% (& 5 B & &)
and 20/30 Dictionary (3 % &7 #2), among
others
BEREMFAEREBBESREA  2ERRE
(B BRE)R(BrFHR)EMEKEIE

productions
REEBEZHEEENMAKREZLMIE T 5%
A Ean 2 FER

e Wizards in the Royal Palace (& 0 #& 1%
Z FE® R T), a comedy directed by Mr.
Wong, tells the story of four princesses
encountering some sprites from outer space
and will be released in 2019
HRENEZCHOBB ZBERT B
MR EE RS EIN 2B ES FEH —
RIEBHE  BR T AF LK

HEEREEARAR

—B-N\EER
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Director

B®

Background
BEEN

Cooperation Details
BERE

Li Yang
15

Li Yang is a film director in Mainland China,
outstanding in making documentaries
on social phenomena and movies that
portray real life stories. His work Blind Shaft
(& #F) has won more than 30 awards,
including the Silver Bear for Outstanding
Artistic Achievement at the 53rd Berlin
International Film Festival
ERMNABPEESHER It &M B0
FEREREEXHEAREELEE R
#BC(EH) ZTEEREBTBEEESEEMR
MEIR B SR EEMN ERIRAREEAR
= TR E B BR K 52

During the six-year cooperation period, the
Group has exclusive right to invest in at
least three films directed by Mr. Li
ERFESERAN  NEBSERAMNE
RO =ZHMEL RN BRIREHE

The Group shall have exclusive right
to broadcast and re-sell to new media
platforms worldwide Mr. Li's productions it
invested in
AEEREZFEERENIEREDREFE
BITaBRENERESHE

Liu Xingang
210l

He has years of experience in making
movies and TV drama series, and was
the Art Director of The Sorrow of Brook
Steppe (#5181 & 3) and Cell Phone (F
#) nominated respectively for the “Best
Art Direction” Award at the Golden Rooster
Awards in two years. He won the “Best
Director” award at the public TV Double Ten
(RBEREF1E) for I'm Looking Forward
to Being Loved (4F 78 4F 78 # & &) and his
Five Star Hotel (2 % X8Rk J& ) was named
“TV Drama of the Year” by Sina

BEZFHEZ LERBIHELR 1D
EEEMEENCGEEMB ) MCFH)
DRIKEMERRET ¢ HERIEENR
RS Bt RECT BB HKEE)FCH
ERRBE)D R EAZRERE &
FEBERANIFNRFESHEBIE

During the six-year cooperation period, the
Group has exclusive right to invest in at
least three films directed by Mr. Liu
ERFEERA NEBERAFMRE S
L=HEREmABRITE

The Group has exclusive right to broadcast
on and re-sell to new media platforms
worldwide Mr. Liu's productions it invested
in
REEZEFEEARENEREDIREHERE
TeERERERESRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

Huanxi Media has strived to provide film and TV productions high
in both commercial and artistic value, giving the audience excellent
audio and visual experiences. In 2018, a number of films the Group
invested in were released and earned both great word-of-mouth and
box office receipts. The films and internet drama series in production
are expected to be released one by one in the coming one to two
years, which will assure steady growth of the Group's film and TV
business. During the year, the world-renowned film director Zhang
Yimou joined the Group as a shareholder director and promised to
direct a number of film and TV productions for the Group, something
to look forward to by the audience. Moreover, Huanxi Media and
Maoyan Weying commenced a strategic cooperation, which is
believed to enable both parties to achieve business synergy in various
aspects, and help drive the rapid growth of “huanxi.com”, the Group'’s
new media online video platform. After working hard on perfecting all
aspects of its operation from film and TV content creation to viewing
channels for the audience in the last few years, Huanxi Media has
started to reap harvests from its investment.

INVESTMENT IN FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES
RIGHTS BUSINESS

Based on the Group’s revenue and film investment income
breakdown by segment, revenue and film investment income
reached HK$174,346,000 (2017: HK$ 52,772,000) for the year ended
31 December 2018, mainly due to the revenue and film investment
income from box office receipts of Us and Them {14 3 &) 3 f3) and
the blockbuster Dying to Survive 1~ & %1% in 2018. Gross profit
of this segment amounted to HK$89,111,000 (2017: gross loss of
HK$6,119,000), obviously higher than that of last year. Major cost of
revenue included amortisation of intangible assets of HK$4,758,000
(2017: HK$2,251,000) and amortisation of film and TV programmes
rights of HK$80,477,000 (2017: HK$56,640,000). The segmental loss
amounted to HK$244,921,000 for the period (2017: HK$18,825,000).
The increase in segmental loss was mainly due to the recognition
of share-based payment expense of approximately HK$270,000,000
(non-cash in nature) for the allotment and issuance of 150,000,000
new shares during the year in respect of the cooperation with a film
director.

BEEREEERAA | =F-N\EEH

BEEER DN

KB REEDE

BEAATERERELRBMUEREBRIRIER
RBERHEREENRBRAE - R-_T—/\FE - %
MAEE2EKENEXEE LY OB - FF<
ARE - RFRIFANEZMEBRIEEFEARK—
MEEBEL  SHESAKRENTERGERERE
BE-FA - BERAZNRERGRMBERABRR
BR WAHR/RAKREEZELHMERER SAH
om0 BEERAERBYCRABBEIE
MERRETRZ I EELHRRBE - Li5HB#E
PAKENFREBEREA T [BREER] AR
BR - LERBRATEE TEBRKBENRE
RPBEBRFARHAER  BEEARBLEABALR
BURH -

EXNRERBRERERSE

ERAEHIZRDHBE D 2 W REFIEZE W AR
M BE_T-N\E+-_A=+—BIFEZKH
RERAGE WA BB 174,346,0007T (ZFE—+H4F
V& #652,772,0007T) + £ Z T A BRI FE A A K
FR-ZZ-NFEEEE-(RTE2EENEEK
mEAWEREFZERERA - WA EENBBE
89,111,000 7T (ZZT— 4 : E18E%6,119,0007T) -
RAFZENEBEZELM - T2 W A BRTEE
FFEEZ#HEABEA75800T (ZE—+HF 1 8
#2,251,0007T) R E ¥ R ERBI R E 2 8 R 5
80,477,0007t (=& — 4 : B #556,640,0007T) °
BN 5 SR BT 18 5 78 B8 244,921,000 T (2 —+4F ¢
V5 #518,825,0007T) ° D EBET B AIZIR EE AN F
M Bt B1 B 2 38 R & 1 1 B 2% & 317 /Y 150,000,000
AR % AR 10 T 7 3R FE IR & M 49 7% ¥ 270,000,000 7T
2R AEBNRFEL -
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EEEWwE DN

As for films, Ash /s Purest White <)L # 5 2), a romance movie
directed by Jia Zhangke, was shortlisted for the top honor at the
71st Cannes Film Festival, evidencing the recognition it enjoys in the
international movie community. It also received wide acclaims after
it was released in Mainland China. Us and Them {i& R #) % 9, a
directorial debut of the renowned Taiwanese singer Rene Liu, achieved
impressive box office receipts of more than RMB1.36 billion after
hitting the cinema screen in April 2018. Then, the film Dying to Survive
(2 % 48) , with the Group as the main investor and producer,
and Ning Hao and Xu Zheng as co-producers, scored 9.7 points on the
Maoyan movie platform, a new record among domestic movies. It also
bagged three major awards at the 55th Golden Horse Awards, namely
Best Leading Actor, Best New Director and Best Original Screenplay,
as well as Best Screenplay at the 42nd Montreal World Film Festival
and Best Film at the 14th Changchun Film Festival, and prided itself
on box office receipts of more than RMB3.1 billion with high audience
acclaims, contributing satisfactory revenue to the Group.

During the year, the Group signed a distribution agreement in relation
to the film Crazy Alien CRIEHISNE A ) which is directed by Ning Hao
and exclusive invested by the Group with guaranteed minimum box
office receipts of RMB2,800,000,000. The Group is entitled to receive
a guaranteed minimum distribution income of RMB700,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$796,903,000), while the guarantor has
the exclusive right to distribute the film to cinemas in mainland cities,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. Up to the date of this report, the
Group has fully received RMB700,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$796,903,000). The income will be recognised in the interim results
of the Group for the six months ending 30 June 2019.

As for the internet drama business, the 12-episode Paradise
Guesthouse X & Jix §8 ) which is the first internet drama series
produced and co-directed by Wong Kar Wai is expected to go into
production this year.

22

BYH HEEARENEBEEZCIAZZOA
EE7ERREXHEIREE L HIXEBEY
RS EAMMBRETFTNE MR =T —N\F
ALK BHAEZERLRFRAERRNE 2B
CERNBFDEGEBBARKI134ETINEEEZSRE -
SN AARBEEAREZEREARDAA
RIFETHSERN(RTREW) THESHE
@E%$AW m%&&% ol R b B 2 &
SO BREFSESCERGESEA &&=
ﬁ%@&?&ﬁ%§$*ﬁﬁﬁuﬁ%ﬂf§ﬁ
MRERENS 2 EEEAERFUEPRERS
BYMIRENRERE EFRBAREIIET
U &F AU R - A7 &2 B B A PR A8 A U & o

T/I:l

FR - AEEBRRE EHEREHCREDH I
E)O}MJ/\E’%ZSOOOOOOOOEZf%r?‘TTTm
REE 7 Al R AE R B A OB R B MR T
ﬁxﬁ% IR RTREY MAKRERINRZEY
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As for the development of online video platform, the Group announced
during the year its partnership with the leading internet and pan-
entertainment platform Maoyan to develop new media business.
Maoyan will be granted investment right and exclusive promotion and
distribution rights of the Group's films and TV/internet drama series
and it will provide the Group’s online video platform “huanxi.com”
an access gateway on the Maoyan website and App plus relevant
internet technology support. Although “huanxi.com” is still in trial
operation, it has had a steadily growing population of registered users
and the number of registered users is now over a million. The Group
is optimising and updating the content offerings, and its hope is that,
via the partnership, it will be able to tap the tremendous user traffic of
Maoyan to promote the “huanxi.com” video platform and attract more
users to it, giving the Group the fuel to push ahead with operating and
expanding its new media video platform.

In addition, the Group continued to explore opportunities to cooperate
with famous international directors during the year. It succeeded in
forging partnership with the world-renowned director Zhang Yimou,
bringing him in as a shareholder director, thereby fortifying its director
team. According to the relevant cooperation agreement, Huanxi
Media has exclusive rights to invest in three internet drama series
directed by Zhang Yimou in the coming six years. Zhang Yimou's
international award-winning works enjoy high acclaims and boast box
office guarantee. Therefore, the Group believes this cooperation will
enhance the clout of “Huanxi Media” as a brand in films and internet
drama series production.

OTHER BUSINESSES

The Group's other businesses include property agency business and
securities trading and investments business. For the year ended 31
December 2018, the Group’s other businesses recorded revenue of
HK$286,000 (2017 HK$437,000) and segmental loss of HK$521,000
(2017: segmental profit of HK$4,039,000). This segment shrank mainly
because the management has allocated more resources to media and
entertainment related businesses, which are the Group’s major future
growth drivers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Review of Results

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded revenue
and film investment income of HK$174,632,000 (2017: HK$53,209,000),
representing 2.28 times increase in revenue and film investment
income compared with corresponding period of last year, the revenue
and film investment income were mainly derived from the films Us
and Them {1& K& 113) and Dying to Survive {F 7T =& E&+#) in which
the Group made investment. The gross profit was HK$89,315,000
(2017: gross loss of HK$5,863,000), representing a sharp increase in
gross profit compared with corresponding period of last year. The
loss attributable to the owners of the Company of HK$444,693,000
(2017: HK$95,159,000). The increase in loss was mainly due to (i)
the recognition of share-based payment expense of approximately
HK$85,368,000 (non-cash in nature) for granting 130,700,000 share
options during the year; and (ii) the recognition of share-based
payment expense of approximately HK$270,000,000 (non-cash in
nature) for the allotment and issuance of 150,000,000 new shares
during the year in respect of the cooperation with a film director.

Excluding the recognition of share-based payments of HK$355,368,000
(2017: nil), the loss attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately
HK$89,325,000 (2017: HK$95,159,000), representing an decrease in
loss of approximately 6.13% comparing with corresponding period of
last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, loss per share of the Group
amounted to HK$0.16 (2017: HK$0.03) and net asset value per share
attributable to owners of the Company was HK$0.23 (2017: HK$0.29).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s capital expenditure, daily operations and investments
are mainly funded by cash generated from its operations and
borrowings. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net current
assets of HK$244,714,000 (2017: HK$329,083,000), with cash and
cash equivalents of HK$158,528,000 (2017: HK$39,169,000). As at
31 December 2018, the total equity of the Company amounted to
HK$658,668,000 (2017: HK$792,167,000) with total borrowings of
HK$387,774,000 (2017: HK$197,500,000). The Group’s gearing ratio,
expressed as the percentage of total borrowings over total capital,
was 0.37 (2017: 0.20) as at 31 December 2018. Total capital is
calculated as total equity plus total borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had 2,918,055,408 ordinary
shares (2017: 2,768,055,408) of HK$0.01 each in issue (the “Share” or
“Shares”).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the movement in the
issued Shares of the Company are as follows:

o On 14 September 2018, the Company allotted and issued
150,000,000 Shares to Unique Swift Limited pursuant to the
agreement and amended and restated agreement dated 24
May 2018 and 11 September 2018 respectively. These Shares
represent approximately 5.14% of the issued Shares of the
Company as enlarged by such issuance.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s secured borrowings of
HK$220,364,000 were secured by other receivables amounting to
approximately HK$223,133,000 (2017: nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group's cash flow from operations, cash on hand and assets are
denominated mainly in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars and Renminbi.
Although most of the production costs and management fees are
denominated in Renminbi, foreign currencies are needed for many
investment opportunities and cooperation plans with mainland China
and overseas film companies. The Group will continue to monitor its
capital needs closely and take appropriate measures to minimise any
adverse impact of exchange rate fluctuation on its overall financial
status and lower the Group's financial risks.

RISK MANAGEMENT

During the year under review, the Group regularly reviewed the risk
and credit control systems of its profit centers to improve those
systems overall and mitigate credit risk. There have been no significant
changes in the Group's risk management policy since the year-end
date last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEWwE DN

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, save as disclosed in note 31(b) “Pending
Litigation” to consolidated financial statements, the Group had no
significant contingent liabilities (2017: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group firmly believes high-caliber people are the most valuable
asset of a corporation. The Group thus places great attention on
attracting and nurturing talent. It has kept optimising its staff structure
to match its development strategy and business needs. As at 31
December 2018, the Group had 84 employees (2017: 74). It hired more
employees during the year under review to support the expanding
of its media and entertainment related businesses. The Group has
in place well-designed remuneration management and incentive
mechanisms, with employees remunerated based on their positions
and work performance, along with industry trends.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

Saved as the film and TV programmes rights set out in note 21 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no material
investments during the year under review.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group is seeking for investment opportunities, including but not
limited to, in the media and entertainment related businesses in order
to expand the source of income and prospects of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Set out below are the biographical details of the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) as at the date of this annual report:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Dong Ping (“Mr. Dong")

Mr. Dong, aged 57, was appointed as an executive Director on 2
September 2015, redesignated as the chairman (the “Chairman”) of
the board of Directors (the “Board”) on 15 January 2016 and is also a
member of remuneration committee and a member of nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Dong is also director of a number
of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Dong has extensive experience,
knowledge and connection in investment and operation of Chinese
media, advertisement, satellite TV, film productions and media fields
and was the former chairman of ChinaVision Media Group Limited
(now known as Alibaba Pictures Group Limited), a company listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 1060). Mr. Dong has been the
principal investor, producer and co-producer of various internationally
renowned films, including Crouching Tiger Hidden Dragon B\ FR i 82 )
(directed by Mr. Ang Lee (%)), Devils on the Doorstep {RF K T )
(directed by Mr. Jiang Wen (2 X)), Peacock {FL#) (directed by Mr.
Gu Changwei (& & 1)), Let the Bullets Fly ;& F 58 ) (directed by
Mr. Jiang Wen (2 X)), Journey to the West: Conquering the Demons
(Pa i o [ BE /%) (directed by Mr. Stephen Chow (/& £ &t)), Dearest
GBE #) (directed by Mr. Chan Ho Sun Peter (B8 @] %)) and Breakup
Buddies {0 FE ¥ 1) (directed by Mr. Ning Hao). Some of these films
have won numerous major awards in both domestic and overseas
film festival. From August 2003 to April 2005, Mr. Dong was the
president of Asian Union Film and Media. Between 31 May 2005 and
11 January 2008, Mr. Dong was appointed as an executive director of
Asian Union New Media (Group) Limited (now known as Huayi Tencent
Entertainment Co. Ltd.), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 419), and was the chairman of the board
of directors from 12 May 2006 to 11 January 2008.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESRERE

As at the date of this report, Mr. Dong was deemed to be interested
in 1,451,114,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood
Investments Limited (“Newwood”), 92,342,216 Shares held by
Numerous Joy Limited (“Numerous Joy”), 500,000 Shares held by
Highrise Castle Limited, 16,610,000 Shares held by Mr. Dong, 2,700,000
underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528 Shares held by
Pacific Wits Limited (“Pacific Wits") and 438,625,528 Shares held by
Tairong Holdings Limited (“Tairong")) within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ”). Please refer to the section “Directors’
Interests in Securities” in the Directors’ Report of this annual report for
details.

Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (“Mr. Xiang")

Mr. Xiang, aged 56, was appointed as an executive Director on 2
September 2015 and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group on 18
September 2015. Mr. Xiang is also director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Group. Mr. Xiang was a partner of Weil, Gotshal & Manges
LLP, an international law firm, where he has led its China practice
since 2004. Previously, Mr. Xiang was a partner in the Shanghai
office of Clifford Chance, an international law firm from 2002 to
2004. A specialist in mergers and acquisitions, Mr. Xiang has acted
as the principal counsel in many significant transactions including
representing Lenovo Group Limited in its acquisition of IBM’s global
personal computer business. He holds a degree of juris doctor from
Vanderbilt University School of Law, U.S.A. and a Bachelor of Arts
from Beijing University of International Relations. Mr. Xiang is licensed
to practice law in New York and in Hong Kong. Mr. Xiang has been
consistently ranked as one of the top mergers and acquisitions
lawyers by Chambers.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Xiang was interested in 27,000,000
underlying Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please
refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’
Report of this annual report for details.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ning Hao (“Mr. Ning”)

Mr. Ning, aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 2
September 2015. Mr. Ning majored in photography and obtained a
bachelor degree from Beijing Film Academy (1t R E % £6%), PRC, in
2003. Mr. Ning is a film director and screenwriter who has directed
seven films between 2003 and 2014, which were engraved with his
unigue personal style and won international acclaim. All of Mr. Ning's
films have achieved strong investment returns. His directorial debut
Incense {Z& 'X.) (2003) and his second film Mongolian Ping Pong{ 4% &
#b) (2004) were nominated in more than 50 international film festivals,
including the Berlin International Film Festival, Locarno Festival and
the Hong Kong International Film Festival. Among these, /ncense won
the Grand Prize at the Fourth Tokyo FILMeX Festival in 2003 and the
Golden Prize (Asian Digital Films) at the 28th Hong Kong International
Film Festival in 2004. In 2006, Mr. Ning directed his small budget film
Crazy Stone {J& J£ #) /A %8), which won the Taiwan Golden Horse
Awards (& /& & 55 82) for the Best Original Screenplay. Crazy Racer
AR EE) (2009), which was wrote and directed by Mr. Ning, was
produced for an investment of only RMB10 million and achieved over
RMB100 million at the box office. In 2013, Mr. Ning directed No Man’s
Land{#& A& ), which won the Annual Tribute Movie by One Hundred
Media (B K {8 # 4 /£ B E 52) at the 14th Chinese Film Media
Awards (2 58 & & (£ % K #2). Mr. Ning also directed the huge box
office hit Breakup Buddies {UMERE B (2014) which grossed RMB1,169
million at the PRC box office and became the highest grossing-
domestic Chinese film of the year.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Ning was deemed to be interested in
1,451,114,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood,
92,342,216 Shares held by Numerous Joy, 500,000 Shares held by
Highrise Castle Limited, 16,610,000 Shares held by Mr. Dong, 2,700,000
underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528 Shares held by
Pacific Wits and 438,625,528 Shares held by Tairong) within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please refer to the section “Directors’
Interests in Securities” in the Directors’ Report of this annual report for
details.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESRERE

Mr. Xu Zheng (“Mr. Xu")

Mr. Xu, aged 46, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 2
September 2015. Mr. Xu graduated with a bachelor degree from
Shanghai Theatre Academy ( =78 Bt Bl 2 F3), PRC, in 1994. Mr. Xu is
an actor, director, screenwriter and producer. He started his career
as an actor in the 1990s. Mr. Xu rose to national stardom in 2000
with the TV series Sunny Piggy{F& Y & 1855 \#), followed by other
successful TV dramas such as Li Wej the Magistrate {21 & ) (2002).
Mr. Xu then focused more on films, starring in comedies Call for Love
(EIBMW U EE RS ) (2007) and Call for Love JI {E EM AL EEF52 ) (2008),
Lost on Journey { A\ £ B &) (2010), No Man’s Land {4 A &) (2013)
(for which he was awarded the best lead actor by the China Film
Directors’ Guild (F I E & & ) in 2014) and the huge box office
hit Breakup Buddies {:NTERE HR) (2014) and Lost in Hong Kong {7 1)
(2015). In 2012, his directorial debut Lost in Thailand { A\ B B & 7 %
&) (a road trip comedy) which he also wrote, produced and starred
in, earned over USD200 million and became the highest-grossing
domestic Chinese film ever. In 2014, he produced and starred in The
Great Hypnotist { f& B& A & ) (a suspense thriller film), which achieved
groundbreaking box-office success and a great reputation in the
Chinese suspense thriller film market. In 2018, Mr. Xu was awarded
the best leading actor by Taiwan Golden Horse Awards (& j& & 5 4%)
for his performance in Dying to Survive {1~ =& &34 ).

As at the date of this report, Mr. Xu was deemed to be interested in
1,451,114,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood,
92,342,216 Shares held by Numerous Joy, 500,000 Shares held by
Highrise Castle Limited, 16,610,000 Shares held by Mr. Dong, 2,700,000
underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528 Shares held by
Pacific Wits and 438,625,528 Shares held by Tairong) within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please refer to the section “Directors’
Interests in Securities” in the Directors’ Report of this annual report for
details.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen (“Mr. Wong")

Mr. Wong, aged 54, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 10 April 2014. Mr. Wong is the chairman of
the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Wong is a fellow member
of both Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom,
as well as a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. He has over 20 years of experience in auditing,
financial management, mergers and acquisitions gained from certain
senior finance related positions in an international accounting firm
in Hong Kong, companies listed in Hong Kong and a company listed
in the United States of America. He is currently the chief financial
officer of a public company in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is currently an
independent non-executive director of (i) Eternity Investment Limited
(stock code: 764, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) since 7 November 2011; and (i) China Healthwise Holdings
Limited (stock code: 348, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange) since 11 October 2016. Mr. Wong was an
independent non-executive director of Man Sang International Limited
(stock code: 938, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) from 12 July 2016 to 5 November 2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESRERE

Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David (“Mr. Su”)

Mr. Su, aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 2 September 2015. Mr. Su is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee, the chairman of the nomination committee
and a member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Su is a
founding managing partner at Matrix Partners China, focused primarily
on mobile internet, software and medical technology investments. Mr.
Su has been investing in China since early 2000 and his investments
include Baidu (NSDQ:BIDU), Bona Film (NSDQ:BONA), Focus Media
(NSDQ:FMCN), Kanghui Medical (NYSE:KH), AAC Technologies (2018.
HK), Heptagon (SIX:AMS), Kingnet Games (SZ:002517), Kingfriend
Biochemical (SS:603707), Didi Chuxing, Youzan Mobile, Reach Surgical.

Before Matrix, Mr. Su was a founding general partner of TDF Capital
and KPCB China. Prior to joining the venture capital industry, Mr. Su
worked at Lotus Development, IBM Software Group for more than
seven years and was last responsible for Lotus’ software and services
business in Greater China region. Mr. Su graduated with a Bachelor of
Applied Science in Computer Engineering from Nanyang Technological
University, Singapore.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xiaolong (“Mr. Li")

Mr. Li, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 2 September 2015. Mr. Li is a member of each of the
remuneration committee, nomination committee and audit committee
of the Company. Mr. Li has more than 20 years of experience in the
industry of information technology and telecommunications. He is
the founder and chairman of Net 263 Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange
Code: 002467), a company based in Beijing which provides integrated
communication services for medium-and small-sized enterprises and
professionals. Since September 2004, Mr. Li was the chairman of the
board of Net 263 Ltd., and since August 2006, the director of Net 263
Ltd. He was an independent director at E-Commerce China Dangdang
Inc. from December 2010 to October 2016, and an independent
director at Kongzhong Corp. from 2012 to May 2017. Mr. Li studied
Computer Science at Beijing Industry University. Mr. Li attended the
undergraduate program in software engineering in Beijing University
of Technology. In January 2013, Mr. Li was appointed as a committee
member of the telecommunications and economic experts of the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Li was deemed to be interested in
15,060,000 Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please
refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’
Report of this annual report for details.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
ESHE

The Directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in media and
entertainment related businesses and other businesses.

Details of the activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note
13 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of revenue
and film investment income and results by principal activities of the
Group are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of this annual report on page 107.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five years is set out on page 228 of the annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

Details of the ordinary shares issued by the Company in 2018 and
details of movement in the share capital of the Company in 2018 are
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements and section
headed “Company’s Contracts Involving Issue of New Shares” of this
Directors’ Report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme has been adopted and approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting held on
17 June 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The 10% limit of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) has been refreshed on
16 December 2015 and 29 June 2018. As at the date of this annual
report, the Scheme Mandate Limit refreshed on 29 June 2018 has not
yet been utilised and the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 276,805,540 shares.

On 27 April 2018, 130,700,000 options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme and no share options were exercised, cancelled or
lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2018. As at 31 December
2018, the Company has 130,700,000 options outstanding which
represented approximately 4.48% of the total number of issued shares
of the Company as at that date.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
options during the year ended 31 December 2018:
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Notes:
1. The share options are exercisable as follows:

Number of share options
Exercise criteria can be exercised
(Commencing from the date of the
grantee’s commencement of employment

with the Group)

(i) On completion of the continuous
employment of the grantee with the
Group for 1 year

Up to one-third of the share
options granted

(i) On completion of the continuous
employment of the grantee with the
Group for 2 years

Up to two-thirds of the share
options granted

Up to all of the share options
granted

(i) On completion of the continuous
employment of the grantee with the
Group for 3 years

2. The validity period of the share options is from 27 April 2018 to 17 June 2024
(both days inclusive) subject to the provisions for early termination contained
in the Share Option Scheme and certain vesting conditions applicable to the
relevant grantee(s).

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during 2018 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debenture of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During 2018, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 109 and note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

Details of the distributable reserve of the Company as at 31 December
2018 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company did not have distributable
profit to shareholders (2017: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business performance of the Group during 2018 using
financial key performance indicators and discussion on the important
events affecting the Group since the end of 2018 and the Group's
future business development that the Group may be facing are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis of this annual report, the discussions thereof form part of
this Directors’ Report.

Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies, relationships
with its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have significant impact on the Group are set out
below in the Directors’ Report of this annual report. Please also refer
to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the Group's
policies in this regard.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in addition to the
matters referred to in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

1. Operational Risk

In respect of the risk factor relating to the Group’s media and
entertainment businesses, given that the Company will invest
in a limited number of films, the success or failure of these
films could have a significant impact on the Company's results
of operations in both the year of release and in the future.
Besides, the film industry is fragmented and highly competitive,
the number of films invested by competitors may create an
oversupply of films in the market. Further, unauthorised copying
and piracy are prevalent in the PRC and other countries in Asia,
whose legal systems may make it difficult for the Company to
enforce its intellectual property rights.

In 2015, the Group signed several agreements to invest in films,
including two exclusive service agreements with renowned
directors, Mr. Ning Hao (“Mr. Ning”) and Mr. Xu Zheng (“Mr. Xu"),
who became the Company’s shareholders and non-executive
Directors. Under the terms of the service agreements, they are
required to produce one to two films every three years by 31
December 2020, which can considerably enhance the Group’s
capabilities in film content creation and development. Mr.
Dong Ping (“Mr. Dong"), Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu have extensive
experience, strong expertise and a wide business network in
the media and entertainment industry. Mr. Dong, the Company’s
substantial shareholder and the Chairman of the Board, has
extensive experience, knowledge and connection in investment
and operation of Chinese media, advertisement, satellite TV, film
productions and media fields, whilst Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu are
prestigious and successful directors and actors in the PRC movie
industry. Please refer to “Biographical Details of Directors” in this
annual report for the biographical details of Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning
and Mr. Xu.
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On 1 June 2016, the Group entered into cooperation agreement
with Mr. Chan Ho Sun Peter and Master China Films Limited
(a company indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Wong Kar Wai)
respectively, pursuant to which each of Mr. Chan Ho Sun Peter
and Master China Films Limited has conditionally agreed to
provide to the Group with certain services, and investment
and other rights, relating to film and media productions as set
forth in the relevant agreements. Further, on 6 December 2016,
the Group entered into cooperation agreement with Mr. Gu
Changwei and Mr. Zhang Xiaoling (also known as Zhang Yibai)
respectively, pursuant to which each of Mr. Gu Changwei and
Mr. Zhang Xiaoling has conditionally agreed to provide to the
Group with certain services, and investment and other rights,
relating to film and internet drama series productions as set
forth in the relevant agreements.

The Company entered into a cooperation agreement on 24 May
2018 with Unique Swift Limited ("Unique Swift"), a company
having an exclusive investment right of certain internet drama
series productions or films of Mr. Zhang Yimou (“Mr. Zhang"),
and the amended and restated cooperation agreement
(collectively “Cooperation Agreement”) on 11 September 2018
with Unique Swift and Mr. Zhang, pursuant to which Unique
Swift has conditionally agreed to procure Mr. Zhang to provide
the Group with certain services, investment and other rights,
relating to certain internet drama series productions or films as
set forth in the Cooperation Agreement.

Given the above, the Directors are of the view that the
participation of Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning, Mr. Xu, Mr. Chan Ho Sun
Peter, Mr. Wong Kar Wai, Mr. Gu Changwei, Mr. Zhang Xiaoling
and Mr. Zhang Yimou in the Group and through cooperation with
them would be instrumental in the Company’s development in
the media and entertainment industry and could migrate the
risk.

Financial Risks

Details of the Group’s financial risks relating to the operations
of the Group include market risk (including foreign currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk are set out in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors during 2018 and up to the date of the annual report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman)
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ning Hao

Mr. Xu Zheng

Mr. Gao Zhikai (resigned on 15 August 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen

Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David

Mr. Li Xiaolong

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Dong Ping, Mr.
Xiang Shaokun, Steven and Mr. Ning Hao shall retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. Each of them, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Brief biographical particulars of the existing Directors are set out in
the “Biographical Details of Directors” of this annual report. Directors’
other particulars are contained in this report and elsewhere in this
annual report.
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RESIGNATION OF DIRECTOR

On 15 August 2018, Mr. Gao Zhikai has resigned as a non-executive
Director and ceased to be a member of the audit committee of the
Company to pursue his other personal engagements. Mr. Gao has
confirmed that there is no disagreement with the Board and he is
not aware of any matters relating to his resignation that need to be
brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company or the
Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The existing Directors including the executive Directors, the non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
are for a term of 2 years (except Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven, an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group,
there is no specific term or proposed length of services for Mr.
Xiang's appointment). All of the existing Directors shall be subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Bye-
laws and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.
The permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the
Directors as required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) when the Directors’ Report
prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with section
391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) under
the Listing Rules, or known to the Company, were as follows:

Long Positions in the Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01
Each of the Company and the Underlying Shares

EECESER

R-IB-NF+-_A=+—H0 REFRITRER
RARBSEEMBEEEE (E&REFLBAE K
PIEXVED) ZBetn - 1B RIEREES - HA N
RERENRIBEES R RIIFEGEF2E
O 2 s MR B - REBRE 5 R BB R A E XV
MEETRAZ EMBETAEFTETESFRXIN
BRESTA (RESTAD ARTHEARA RER
FARARBE B2 EESLRBWT -

AARBREEBH0ITZEBERK
MERGZFE

Number of
underlying  Approximate
Number of Ordinary Shares Shares percentage
EERHA held under of the
Corporate Personal  share options issued Shares
interests interests BRET fhE2RTRA
Name of Directors IR ARER BAER HBEROHE BREA L
Mr. Dong Ping (Note 1) ELEE (M) 1,431,804,354 16,610,000 2,700,000 49.73%
Mr. Ning Hao (Note 2) B (F152) 1,431,804,354 16,610,000 2,700,000 49.73%
Mr. Xu Zheng (Note 3) RIS A (F3E3) 1,431,804,354 16,610,000 2,700,000 49.73%
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Note 4) BREEE () = = 27,000,000 0.93%
Mr. Li Xiaolong (Note 5) /B (FI3E5) 15,060,000 = = 0.52%
Notes: 5 -
1. These Shares include Shares held by Newwood Investments Limited 1. % % & 1D 8 #E B Newwood Investments Limited

(“Newwood") as to 461,711,082 Shares, Numerous Joy Limited (“Numerous
Joy") as to 92,342,216 Shares and Highrise Castle Limited as to 500,000
Shares, all of which are companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability and ultimately wholly owned by Mr. Dong Ping. Mr.
Dong Ping also personally holds 16,610,000 Shares and 2,700,000 share
options of the Company granted on 27 April 2018 pursuant to the Company’s
share option scheme adopted on 17 June 2014. On 14 April 2015, Mr. Dong
Ping, Newwood, Pacific Wits Limited (“Pacific Wits”), Mr. Ning Hao, Tairong
Holdings Limited (“Tairong”) and Mr. Xu Zheng entered into a shareholders
agreement (the “Shareholders Agreement”), which sets forth certain rights
and obligations of each of the parties in respect of the governance of the
Company following completion of the subscription for new shares in the
Company pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 14 April 2015, details
of which are set out in the Company’s circular dated 5 August 2015. As Mr.
Dong Ping and Newwood are parties to the Shareholders Agreement, Mr.
Dong Ping is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which
Newwood, Pacific Wits and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317 of
the SFO and Newwood is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares
in which Mr. Dong Ping, Pacific Wits and Tairong are interested by virtue of
section 317 of the SFO.
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2. These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares held by Pacific Wits, which is a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
ultimately wholly owned by Mr. Ning Hao. Mr. Ning Hao and Pacific Wits are
parties to the Shareholders Agreement, and are therefore deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Dong Ping, Newwood and Tairong
are interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO.

3. These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares held by Tairong, which is a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
ultimately wholly owned by Mr. Xu Zheng. Mr. Xu Zheng and Tairong are
parties to the Shareholders Agreement, and are therefore deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Dong Ping, Newwood and Pacific
Wits are interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO.

4. These underlying Shares are 27,000,000 share options of the Company
granted to Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven on 27 April 2018 pursuant to the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 17 June 2014.

5, These Shares are held by Panfaith Investments Limited, which is a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and ultimately
wholly owned by Mr. Li Xiaolong.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company or any of their associates
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements headed
“Related Party Disclosures”, the sections headed “Directors’ Interests
in Competing Business” and “Company Contract of Significance/
Connected Transaction/Continuing Connected Transaction” of the
Directors’ Report and elsewhere in this annual report, no Director
nor any entity connected with the Directors had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Ccompany, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during 2018.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements headed
"Related Party Disclosures”, the sections headed “Directors’ Interests
in Competing Business” and “Company Contract of Significance/
Connected Transaction/Continuing Connected Transaction” of the
Directors’ Report and elsewhere in this annual report, at no time
during 2018 had the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and the
controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any of
its subsidiaries entered into any contracts of significance or any
contract of significance for the provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

COMPANY'’S CONTRACTS INVOLVING ISSUE OF
NEW SHARES

Agreement with Unique Swift Limited

The Company entered into the cooperation agreement on 24 May
2018 with Unigue Swift Limited (“Unique Swift”), a company having an
exclusive investment right of certain internet drama series productions
or films of Mr. Zhang Yimou (“Mr. Zhang”), and the amended and
restated cooperation agreement on 11 September 2018 with Unique
Swift and Mr. Zhang (collectively “Cooperation Agreement”), pursuant
to which Unigue Swift has conditionally agreed to procure Mr. Zhang
to provide the Group with certain services, investment and other
rights, relating to certain internet drama series productions or films
as set forth in the Cooperation Agreement and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue 150,000,000 Shares to Unique
Swift (or its designated company) and to pay RMB100,000,000 to the
team/organisation designated by Mr. Zhang as its operating fund
for operating the projects to be cooperated during the cooperation
period.

Under the terms of the Cooperation Agreement, Unique Swift will
procure Mr. Zhang to provide to the Group certain services, and
investment and other rights, relating to certain film and internet drama
series productions as follows:

(@) the Company will have the exclusive right to invest in three of
internet drama series directed by Mr. Zhang (the “Zhang Internet
Series”). The theme is to be agreed between the Company and
Mr. Zhang;
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(b)  the exclusive right to invest in one of the Zhang Internet Series
can be replaced by priority rights to invest in a film directed by
Mr. Zhang (“Zhang Film”), which is not restricted by any contract
with third party, during the cooperation period for no less than
60% of the total investment amount in the Zhang Film;

(c) the Company will be granted rights of all tangible and intangible
assets and their derivative rights and related rights of Zhang
Internet Series under the Cooperation Agreement, except the
right of authorship for Unique Swift, the team/organisation
designated by Unique Swift, the production house and Mr.
Zhang; and

(d)  Mr. Zhang will be appointed to the Company’s Artistic Advisory
Committee and will also provide consultancy services to the
Company in respect of films and programmes.

On 14 September 2018 (the “Date of Issuance”), the Company allotted
and issued 150,000,000 Shares to Unigue Swift (“Issuance” and the
Shares issued pursuant to the Issuance, the “New Shares”) that the
New Shares have been vested. The New Shares were allotted and
issued under the general mandate granted to the Board at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 29 June 2018, representing
approximately 4.75% of the existing issued shares of the Company
as at the date of this annual report. The Issuance was recognised as
share-based payment expense and charged to the Group's statement
of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018. Based on
the closing price of the Shares on the Date of Issuance of HK$1.80
per Share, the fair value of the issue of New Shares pursuant to the
Issuance is approximately HK$270,000,000.

The share-based payment expense is of a non-cash nature.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 24 May

2018, 14 June 2018, 15 August 2018, 11 September 2018 and 14
September 2018 for details.
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COMPANY CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE/
CONNECTED TRANSACTION/CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

A. The Service Agreements - continuing
connected transactions

On 14 April 2015 (after trading hours), the Company entered into
the service agreements (the “Service Agreements”) with each of
Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng (the “Shareholder Directors” and
each a non-executive Director and a substantial shareholder of
the Company). Pursuant to the Service Agreements:

(@ the Company shall have exclusive investment and
production rights to any films and programmes developed
and directed by Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng (the
“Shareholder Directors’ Productions”), i.e. the Company
shall be the sole investor to such productions;

(b) the Company shall have priority distribution rights
(including cinema screenings, audio-visual products,
television broadcasting and network dissemination etc.) to
the Shareholder Directors’ Productions in the PRC, Hong
Kong, Taiwan and Macau Special Administrative Region of
the PRC;

(c) each of the Shareholder Directors shall direct one to two
films (being films that shall be publicly released) every
three years in respect of which the Company shall have
the exclusive investment and production rights, and the
priority distribution rights set out in paragraphs (a) and (b)
above. For the avoidance of doubt, the Company shall not
have such rights in any Shareholder Directors’ Productions
in which the Company decides not to invest;

(d) the Shareholder Directors shall use their best endeavours
to provide the Company with the priority investment,
production and distribution rights for films and
programmes (including films, television drama series,
online drama series and other television programmes)
which are not developed and directed by any of the
Shareholder Directors and the Shareholder Directors are
either producer, screenwriter, lead actor or other creative
member (the “Non-Shareholder Directors’ Productions”),
and
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(e) the Shareholder Directors shall actively participate in the
promotional activities of other films and programmes
invested or produced by the Company according to the
requirements of the Company.

Shareholder Directors’ Proposal

During a term of six years from the date of completion of
the subscription agreement entered into between Newwood
Investments Limited, Numerous Joy Limited, Pacific Wits
Limited, Tairong Holdings Limited, Wise Dragon International
Limited, Gold Shine Investment Company Limited, Dayunmony
Investment Corporation, Concept Best Limited and Reorient
Global Limited (“Subscription Agreement) (i.e. 2 September 2015)
(the “Service Period”), each Shareholder Director shall, with
respect to each proposed Shareholder Directors” Production,
submit to the Company a written proposal, which contents shall
include such production’s (i) plot or storyline, (i) total budget
and the basis for determining the same, (iii) production and
distribution budget, (iv) production plan and timeline, and (v) the
proposed screenwriter, producer and casting.

The Board or a designated board committee shall, within 30
business days of receiving the foregoing written proposal,
consider and discuss such proposal with respect to its
investment, production and distribution, and shall also make a
determination as to whether the Company will invest in such
proposed Shareholder Directors’ Production.

Service fees

No service fee shall be payable by the Company to the
Shareholder Directors in consideration of entering into
the Service Agreements or the transactions contemplated
thereunder, subject to the Shareholder Directors’ rights to the
following benefits and rewards:

(@ each of the Shareholder Directors shall be entitled to
receive film director fees or creative member fees in
respect of the Shareholder Directors’ Productions and the
Non-Shareholder Directors’ Productions that the Company
invests in with reference to the prevailing market rates
for similar productions, subject to a maximum amount of
HK$30,000,000 per annum; and
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(b) the Shareholder Directors shall be entitled to receive
dividends in respect of any Shares held by them, if any, to
be declared by the Company.

Proposed annual caps

Annual caps for the film director fees or creative member
fees payable to the Shareholder Directors under the Service
Agreements of HK$30,000,000 for each Shareholder Director for
each of the years ending 31 December 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018,
2019 and 2020. The annual caps were determined with reference
to the prevailing market rates payable to independent third party
film directors who are of similar calibre, status, standing and
reputation and who have similar track records of successful and
profitable movies and other media productions.

As set out in the circular of the Company dated 5 August 2015,
Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng are prestigious and successful
directors and actors in the PRC movie industry. The Directors
are of the view that the participation of Mr. Ning Hao and Mr.
Xu Zheng in the Company and through the services they would
provide under the Service Agreements would be instrumental
in the Company’s development in the media and entertainment
industry.

After completion of the Subscription Agreement, each of Pacific
Wits Limited (a company incorporated in the British Virgins
Islands with limited liabilities and wholly owned by Mr. Ning Hao)
and Tairong Holdings Limited (a company incorporated in the
British Virgins Islands with limited liabilities and wholly owned
by Mr. Xu Zheng) have become a substantial shareholder of
the Company. Besides, each of Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng
is a non-executive Director and thus a connected person of
the Company. Accordingly, the Service Agreements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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The Service Agreements and the transactions contemplated
thereunder are non-exempt continuing connected transactions
and are subject to the requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Service Agreements and annual caps for each
of the six financial years ending 31 December 2020 in relation to
the transactions contemplated under the Service Agreements
were approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company at the special general meeting of the Company held
on 28 August 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the actual fee paid by the
Group under the Service Agreements to each of Mr. Ning Hao
and Mr. Xu Zheng are approximately RMB4,965,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$5,862,000) (2017: RMB16,123,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$18,639,000)) and Nil (2017:
RMB10,518,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$12,612,000))
respectively.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the transactions have been entered into:

o in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group’s
business;

° on normal commercial terms or better; and

° according to the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company's Auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Auditor has issued
an unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
by the Group in this Annual Report in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The Company has provided a signed
copy of the said letter to the Stock Exchange. The Company
confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Movie Investment Agreement - connected
transaction

Huan Huan Xi Xi (Tianjin) Culture Investment Company Limited*
(BB EE (K2E)XEEZEEABRZRAF) ("Huan Huan Xi Xi"),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into the movie investment agreement (the “Movie Investment
Agreement") with Tibet Jindouyun Film Company Limited* (7& ¥
S EE AR A A]) (“Tibet Jindouyun”) on 24 December 2018,
pursuant to WhICh Huan Huan Xi Xi has agreed to invest a sum
of RMB12,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$13,661,000)
in the production of Tropical Memories (% 1E =) (“Target
Film”), subject to upward adjustment of up to RMB14,400,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$16,393,000). In addition,
Huan Huan Xi Xi agrees to pay RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$5,692,000) (subject to upward adjustment of
up to RMB8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,107,000))
for the promotion and distribution expenses of the Target Film.

Huan Huan Xi Xi shall have a right to the income which
represents 10% of the profit of the Target Film (being Net
Income (as defined below) of the Target Film after deduction
of the major production team bonus (as explained below)),
provided that such profit shall not include the income from the
production and development of the film derivative product, the
income of the Target Film (global income, business development
and product implantation income, participating bonus) that
Tibet Jindouyun has obtained before the signing of the Movie
Investment Agreement.

The Net Income shall mean the total income including cinema
distribution income, copyright income, overseas distribution
income and other income of the Target Film after deduction of
special fund contribution required by the PRC, various taxes,
box office receipts shared by cinemas and cinema circuits,
promotion and distribution agent fee, promotion and distribution
expense of the Target Film and production cost. The major
production team members (including the producers, director(s),
executive producer(s), lead actor(s), etc.) shall be entitled to
a bonus, being 35% of the Net Income and entitled to have
preferential income distribution right.
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As set out in the announcement of the Company dated
24 December 2018, the Directors are of the view that the
investment in the Target Film is in line with the Group’s principal
business and its development in the media and entertainment
industry. The Directors consider that the investment would be
beneficial to the Group as the investment represents a step
forward in the implementation of the Group’s development plan.

Tibet Jindouyun is ultimately owned as to over 50% by Mr. Ning
Hao, a non-executive Director and the sole ultimate beneficial
owner of Pacific Wits Limited (Z= 7 & BR ‘A &), a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and thus Mr. Ning is a connected
person of the Company. As such, Tibet Jindouyun is an associate
of Mr. Ning Hao and is therefore a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the investment in the Target Film
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is subject to the reporting,
announcement requirements but exempted from circular
(including independent financial advice) and independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24
December 2018 for details of the investment in the Target Film.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING

BUSINESS

EERBFXRB 2R

Interests of the Directors in competing businesses to the Groupasat R-Z—NF+_A=+—H ETRELAEEBEZH
31 December 2018 required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of  F %755 - BiRE FHRAES10EHE 2 #EHH

the Listing Rules were set out as below: FIER
Nature of interest
(including close
Companies which associate’'s
Directors Directors held interests Major nature of business interest, if any)
ERtE (BEER
- EERERRZAT TEERMNG BBRAL2ES NA)
Mr. Ning Hao Tianjin Dirty Monkey Films Company Limited* TV and Movie Production Ultimate Shareholder
BES A REZBRTZERRDA EREE S 2 RISRER
INJO Films Co. Ltd. TV and Movie Production Ultimate Shareholder
R AZRULERERAR EREE S 2 RISRER
TRERFLEEERRER AT TV Production and Distribution Ultimate Shareholder
ERETE BERELT RISRER
ERRNERTIEXLERER AT TV Production and Distribution Ultimate Shareholder
BRETE BEREST RISRER
Rl (B8 ZEERAR TV and Movie Production Ultimate Shareholder
ER e 2 RISRER
REZERETFEEXLERERAF TV and Movie Production Ultimate Shareholder
ER e 2 RISRER
BRF (L8 ULEREERAR TV and Movie Production Ultimate Shareholder
ER e 2 RISRER
Tibet Jindouyun Film Company Limited* TV and Movie Production Ultimate Shareholder
ARSI ELEARAA ER e 2 RISRER
REHIEVLEEBR AR Movie Production Ultimate Shareholder
ERRIE RISRER
EaEBeityEERAA TV and Movie Production and Ultimate Shareholder
Movie Distribution RIERE
BREEMEFEENR
Mr. Xu Zheng Beijing Joy Leader Culture Communication Movie Production and Investments Ultimate Shareholder
RIFLE Co. Ltd. BYREREE RISRER
It RESELEEER AR
52 HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2018
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The Group is principally engaged in the media and entertainment
related businesses and other businesses. The media and
entertainment related businesses include, among others, development
and/or investment in films and television drama series.

Mr. Ning Hao, together with his family, is the ultimate shareholder of
the above companies (together “Mr. Ning's Companies”). Mr. Ning's
companies are principally engaged in the TV and movie production
and distribution in the PRC. Tibet Jindouyun Film Company Limited
and the Group entered into a movie investment agreement on 24
December 2018, as detailed in the announcement of the Company
dated 24 December 2018. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December
2018, none of Mr. Ning Hao or his close associates was interested in
any business in respect of film production, apart from his and/or his
family’s interests in Mr. Ning's Companies.

Mr. Xu Zheng is the ultimate shareholder of Beijing Joy Leader Culture
Communication Co. Ltd. (“BJ Joy Leader”). BJ Joy Leader is principally
engaged in the production of films and movie investments in the PRC.
As at 31 December 2018, none of Mr. Xu Zheng or his close associates
was interested in any business in respect of film production, apart
from his interests in BJ Joy Leader.

The Directors consider that the Group is capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the movie
business of (i) Mr. Ning's Companies and (i) BJ Joy Leader ((i) and (ii)
together, the “Other Companies”) as (i) there is a clear separation
between the Group’s businesses and those of the Other Companies;
(i) the Group is not operationally or financially dependent on any
of the Other Companies, or vice versa; and (iii) the Board operates
independently from the boards of the Other Companies. The Board
consists of seven members, comprising of two executive Directors,
two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. All of the Directors are aware of their fiduciary duties as a
Director of the Company which require, among other things, that they
act for the benefit and in the best interests of the Company and do not
allow any conflict between their duties as a Director and their personal
interest. In the event that there is a potential conflict of interest arising
out of any transaction to be entered into between the Group and the
Directors or their respective associates, the interested Director(s) shall
abstain from voting at the relevant board meetings of the Company in
respect of such transactions and shall not be counted in the quorum.
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From time to time, the Group may consider possible co-investment
opportunities with Mr. Ning's Companies and/or BJ Joy Leader in film
or other projects. Any such investments and the definitive terms
thereof would be subject to further negotiations at arm’s length
between the relevant parties. If any co-investment arrangement
between the Group and Mr. Ning's Companies or BJ Joy Leader were
to materialise, it could constitute a connected transaction of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Further announcement(s) in relation
to any such investments will be made as and when appropriate in
compliance with the Listing Rules.

Huan Huan Xi Xi (Tianjin) Culture Investment Company Limited*, an
indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
movie investment agreement dated 24 December 2018 with Tibet
Jindouyun Film Company Limited*, an associate of Mr. Ning Hao.

Moreover, the Company has entered into the service agreements
dated 14 April 2015 (the “Service Agreements”) with each of Mr. Ning
Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng. The Service Agreements and the relevant
annual caps have been approved by the independent shareholders
of the Company at the special general meeting of the Company held
on 28 August 2015. The details of the Movie Investment Agreement
and Service Agreements are disclosed under the section headed
“Company Contract of Significance/Connected Transaction/Continuing
Connected Transaction” in this Directors’ Report.

To avoid any potential direct or indirect competition with the Group,
during the terms of the Service Agreements, save for the activities and
transactions contemplated under the Service Agreements, unless with
the written consent of the Company, Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng
shall not, directly or indirectly entrust or authorise any third party to
undertake any of the following activities:

(@ directly or indirectly (regardless of whether acting in the capacity
of a shareholder, director, employee, partner, consultant or
agent) undertake or participate or benefit from any business
which is the same as, similar or competes with the business of
the Company, including providing any services that are the same
as or similar to the services to be provided under the Service
Agreements;

(b)  seize any business opportunity of the Company or solicit any
clients or potential clients of the Company, or interfere or
damage any relationship or contracts between the Company
and any clients or potential clients of the Company; or
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(c) assist or support any third person to undertake the activities set
forth in paragraphs (a) and (b) above.

Notwithstanding the above non-compete obligations of Mr. Ning Hao
and Mr. Xu Zheng, Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng shall, through
companies controlled by them, have the right to:

(@ contract to produce the Shareholder Directors’ Productions
which the Company invests in;

(b)  operate the Non-Shareholder Directors’ Productions;

(c) operate the Shareholder Directors’ Productions that the
Company does not invest in;

(d) operate projects that have already commenced operations by
the companies controlled by Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng as
at the date of the Service Agreements,

in each case, subject to compliance with any applicable connected
transaction requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Board will consider allowing Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng
to engage in the activities mentioned in this section if, (@) Mr. Ning
Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng have completed their obligations under their
respective Service Agreements, and/or (b) in the view of the Board,
the productions which Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng wish to
undertake would not be profitable or would otherwise not be suitable
for the Company to undertake in light of the strategic direction of the
Company, taking into account the factors such as (i) the projected cost
of the relevant production; (i) the lead actors or actresses who will
participate in the relevant production; (iii) the projected length of film
shooting of the relevant production; (iv) the estimated box office and
popularity of the relevant production; (v) the genre of the film; (vi) the
plot of the film; (vii) whether undertaking such a production could lead
to other investment opportunities for the Company, such as exposure
to and contact with other reputable and renowned players in the
industry (including actors, actresses, screenwriters, directors, costume
designers, film editors, makeup artists, visual effect and sound editors
and other relevant personnel of the production team); and (viii) any
other fair and reasonable considerations which the Board may take
into account at the time of consideration of the relevant production.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2018, save as disclosed under the section
“Directors’ Interests in Securities” in this Director’s Report of the
annual report, the Company had been notified of the following

substantial shareholders’ interests, being 5% or more of the

Company'’s issued share capital under Section 336 of the SFO.

3B EARF B BEITIRAD 5% A £ 2 5 -

Number of
Ordinary
Shares/ Approximate
underlying percentage of
Name of shareholders Capacity Shares held shareholding
BEZELER/ REHA
RREH/E EL) HERGEE BAl
Newwood Investments Limited ("Newwood") Beneficial owner and interests of a party to an 1,451,114,354 49.73%
Newwood Investments Limited ([ Newwood ) agreement required to be disclosed under section (Notes 1t0 3)
317 of the SFO (HE1Z3)
ERRAARBEITOAREE S RARKHE
NTHETREMER
Numerous Joy Limited (“Numerous Joy”) Beneficial owner 92,342,216 3.16%
2 21 NTI(EZ ) ExBEBA (Notes 1&3)
(&1 %3)
Highrise Castle Limited Beneficial owner 500,000 0.02%
Highrise Castle Limited ExEBA (Note 3)
(BtEE3)
Dong Ping (“Mr. Dong") Beneficial Owner, Interests of controlled corporation 1,451,114,354 49.73%
EFX(Ex4) and a party to an agreement required to be (Notes 1t0 3)
disclosed under section 317 of the SFO (M#F123)
ERBEBA XEHEEEZRBETOARE
BEHERHERAEINTHRETRENES
Pacific Wits Limited (“Pacific Wits") Beneficial owner and interests of a party to an 1,451,114,354 49.73%
ZAERAR([%E]) agreement required to be disclosed under section (Notes 1,2 & 4)
317 of the SFO (HizE1 2 124)
ERBEBARBEITNAREES KBRS
NVBRATRENER
Ning Hao (“Mr. Ning") Interests of controlled corporation and a party to an 1,451,114,354 49.73%

EE(ELE] agreement required to be disclosed under section (Notes 1,2 &4)
317 of the SFO (FE1 2 124)
SRHNZERERIBETOFBEESF ALK
BIEN7HRAETRERNER
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Number of
Ordinary
Shares/ Approximate
underlying percentage of
Name of shareholders Capacity Shares held shareholding
BRE2LER/ RAERD
RRBE R 5% HERAHE BAl
Tairong Holdings Limited (“Tairong") Beneficial owner and interests of a party to an 1,451,114,354 49.73%
REERBRAR ([FRE)) agreement required to be disclosed under section (Notes 1,2 &5)
317 of the SFO (BT 2]%5)
ERREARBRITOAREES AR KIS
NTEATRENE R
Xu Zheng ("Mr. Xu") Interests of controlled corporation and a party to an 1,451,114,354 49.73%
RIE([REE]D agreement required to be disclosed under section (Notes 1,2 &5)
317 of the SFO GEIRVD)
REHEERERRBRITNABEE S RAE K
BIE3N7HRAETRBENER
Unique Swift Limited Beneficial owner 150,000,000 5.14%
EZEBRAR ERBEEA (Note 6)
(Fiz6)
Cheng Shiging Interests of controlled corporation 150,000,000 5.14%
BB REHEEER (Note 6)
(Fiz6)
Notes: B 5E
1. On 14 April 2015, the Company and nine subscribers, namely Newwood, 1. ZE-RAFMA+THMAB ARAREBENERES
Numerous Joy, Pacific Wits, Tairong, Wise Dragon International Limited, Gold (Newwood * % £ - T T BEBBEERA
Shine Investment Company Limited, Dayunmony Investment Corporation, A - & BIEEBR A A - Dayunmony Investment
Concept Best Limited and Reorient Global Limited (collectively, the Corporation + Concept Best Limited X Im B IR KA R A
“Subscribers”) entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Al (#ERB R ) T RE R ([REHRD &t
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to RRAREHRGRZEERET MABSEGRER
allot and issue, and the Subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe for BEREA £1,701,416,556 B fn ([REK D) - B
a total of 1,701,416,556 Shares (the “Subscription Shares”) at a subscription Bz RBEEABEAT((REEE]) - FERES
price of HK$0.4 per Share (the “Subscription”). Details in relation to the EHHFHBHRARRBHA-—TS—AFNAREANB
Subscription were set out in the Company’s circular dated 5 August 2015. Ko REEBERARRIZE—RAFE/N\A=-TN\BE
The Subscription had been approved by the independent shareholders of the ITHRRERAS EEARRRIBY IREA & - MRE
Company at the Company’s special general meeting held on 28 August 2015 BROER=ZZE—RAFNA_ARETRER °
and the Subscription Shares were allotted to the Subscribers on 2 September
2015.
2. On 14 April 2015, Mr. Dong, Newwood, Pacific Wits, Mr. Ning, Tairong and Mr. 2. ZE-RAFWOA+TIMA - %A - Newwood * = -

Xu entered into a shareholders agreement (the “Shareholders Agreement”),
which sets forth certain rights and obligations of each of the parties in respect
of the governance of the Company following completion of the Subscription.
Newwood is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr.
Dong, Pacific Wits and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317 of the
SFO.
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Newwood and Numerous Joy are wholly owned by Mr. Dong. Pursuant to
the Subscription Agreement, Newwood and Numerous Joy subscribed for
461,711,082 and 92,342,216 Shares respectively upon completion of the
Subscription. Highrise Castle Limited which is also wholly owned by Mr. Dong
holds 500,000 Shares. Mr. Dong also holds 16,610,000 Shares and 2,700,000
share options of the Company granted on 27 April 2018 pursuant to the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 17 June 2014. Mr. Dong is also a
party to the Shareholders Agreement, is therefore deemed to be interested in
all the Shares in which Newwood, Pacific Wits and Tairong are interested by
virtue of section 317 of the SFO.

Pacific Wits is wholly owned by Mr. Ning. Pursuant to the Subscription
Agreement, Pacific Wits subscribed for 438,625,528 Shares upon completion
of the Subscription. Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are also the parties to the
Shareholders Agreement, are therefore deemed to be interested in all the
Shares in which Mr. Dong, Newwood and Tairong are interested by virtue of
section 317 of the SFO.

Tairong is wholly owned by Mr. Xu. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement,
Tairong subscribed for 438,625,528 Shares upon completion of the
Subscription. Mr. Xu and Tairong are also the parties to the Shareholder
Agreement, are therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which
Mr. Dong, Newwood and Pacific Wits are interested by virtue of section 317
of the SFO.

Unigue Swift Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Cheng Shiging
was allotted 150,000,000 Shares on 14 September 2018 pursuant to the
cooperation agreement entered into between the Company and Unique
Swift Limited on 24 May 2018 and the amended and restated cooperation
agreement entered into between the Company, Unique Swift Limited and Mr.
Zhang Yimou on 11 September 2018.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, there were no
other persons who had an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the

SFO.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

According to existing PRC laws and regulations, foreign investors
are generally restricted to invest in provision of internet audio-visual
programmes services in the PRC.

In January 2018, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Beijing Huan Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media Company Limited* (dt
REEXE L EER AR A ) (“Beijing Subsidiary”) entered into
certain contractual arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”)
with Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited* (dt & &«
EEBX{EAR A F) (formerly known as Beijing Hua Hua Duo
Duo Culture Company Limited* (1t RIETEZE 2 XL B BR A 7)) (the
“Target”) and its subsidiary Beijing Hangaohua Network Technology
Company Limited* (1t 5% /= 2= 48 L F R A 7)) (the Target and
its subsidiary collectively the “Target Group”), and the Target's equity
holders who are independent third party individuals in the PRC. The
Target Group is principally involved in the film and TV programmes
production and investment and the provision of internet audio-visual
programmes services in the PRC.

Through the Contractual Arrangements, the Group will receive
economic benefits generated by, and obtain effective financial and
operational control and equity holders’ voting rights over the Target
Group in order to indirectly engage in the film and TV programmes
production and investment and provision of internet audio-visual
programmes services in the PRC. The Target Group hold some permits
including the License for Publication of Audio-Visual Programmes
through Information Network ({5 B 48 4% {5 # 2 52 &6 B T 7] 5%) and
Telecommunication and Information Service Business Operation
Permit (E 1= BL15 B PR 75 % 7% 48 & 57 A] 5% ). Based on the advice
of the Company’s PRC legal advisers, the Board consider that the
Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with the relevant PRC
laws and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable.

The financial position and results of operations of the Target Group
has been consolidated into the Group's financial statements with
effect from 19 January 2018 (after the effectiveness of the Contractual
Arrangements) as the Target Group are regarded as indirect
subsidiaries of the Group under HKFRS 10.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances
under which they were adopted, and there was no termination of
the Contractual Arrangements nor failure to terminate when the
restrictions that led to the adoptions of the Contractual Arrangements
are removed.
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Particulars of the Target Group, their registered

BEREEEREBTHERAZCHBERENR

owners and a summary of major terms of the #HzEEEFHEu
Contractual Arrangements
As at 31 December 2018, particulars of the Target Group are as R_-_Z—\FE+_A=+—H BEZEE£EEZ2#HBEW
follows: T ¢
Registered owners/
Company name owners and the shareholding Registered capital Principal activities
NGRS REREABEARRE A& A TEEH
Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Hu Hui (99%) RMB10,000,000 Film and TV programmes production
Company Limited* I 2 (99%) AR % 10,000,000 7T and investment
I RBEEH I LARAR Ni Kelu (1%) EYREREERERKRE
{52 B35 (1%)
Beijing Hangaohua Network Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture RMB10,000,000 Provision of internet audio-visual
Technology Co., Limited* Company Limited* (80%) AR # 10,000,000 7 programmes Services

FRAB SR EARA

EREE B ER 2 7] (80%)
Gu Haibin (20%)
B3 E (20%)

The major terms of the Contractual Arrangements are summarised as
below:

(1)

(2)

60

Exclusive Services Agreement

According to the Exclusive Services Agreement, the Target
agreed to engage the Beijing Subsidiary as its exclusive provider
of technical support and consultancy services requested by the
Target from time to time with a service fee equaled to the net
profit of the Target.

Loan Agreement

According to the Loan Agreement, the Beijing Subsidiary agreed
to provide interest-free loans to the registered owners of the
Target as capital contribution to the Target. The registered
owners of the Target, in return for the provision of loans, agreed
to enter into an Equity Interest Pledge Agreement with the
Beijing Subsidiary to pledge all of their equity interest in the
Target as security.

RUEHESRENE RS

BHRFEZEZGRBAAT

(1

(2)
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(3)

(4)

(5)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Equity Interest Pledge Agreement

According to the Equity Interest Pledge Agreement, each of the
registered owners of the Target Group agreed to pledge all their
respective equity interests in the Target Group to the Beijing
Subsidiary, as a security interest to guarantee the performance
of contractual obligations and the payment of outstanding loans
of the registered owner of the Target Group.

Powers of Attorney

According to the Powers of Attorney, each of the registered
owners of the Target irrevocably appointed designee of the
Beijing Subsidiary to act as their attorney on their behalf to
exercise all rights in connection with matters concerning their
rights as shareholders of the Target.

Exclusive Option Contract

According to the Exclusive Option Contract, each of the
registered owners of the Target agreed to irrevocably,
unconditionally and exclusively grant an exclusive option to the
Beijing Subsidiary to purchase the equity interests in the Target
from the registered owners of the Target, when it is permitted
by the then applicable PRC laws.

Risks associated with Contractual Arrangements
and the actions taken to mitigate the risks

The Group believes the following risks are associated with the
Contractual Arrangements:

HEEREEARAA |

If the PRC government finds that the Contractual Arrangements
that establish the structure for film and TV programmes
production and investment as well as provision of internet audio-
visual programmes series businesses in the PRC do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, we could be subject
to penalties and our business may be materially and adversely
affected;

Certain terms of our Contractual Arrangements may not be
enforceable under PRC laws;

—B-N\EER

(3)

(4)

(5)
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o Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing control over our Target as equity ownership;

o Any failure by the Target or their respective ultimate
shareholders to perform their obligations under our Contractual
Arrangements would potentially lead to our having to incur
additional costs and expend material resources to enforce such
arrangements, temporary or permanent loss of control over our
provision of internet audio-visual programmes series businesses
or loss of access to the revenue from these businesses;

o The ultimate owners of the Target may have potential conflicts
of interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect
our business and financial condition;

o If any of the Target or its subsidiaries becomes the subject of a
bankruptcy or liquidation proceeding, we may lose the ability to
use and enjoy certain important assets, which could materially
and adversely affect our business; and

o Our exercise of the option to acquire the equity interests of the
Target may be subject to certain limitations and the ownership
transfer may incur substantial costs.

The Group realised that there are regulatory risks associated with
the Contractual Arrangements. The Group will follow on the latest
developments with regards to the relevant PRC laws, rules and
regulations and seek professional legal advice when necessary.

Revenue and assets involved in the Contractual
Arrangements

Revenue and assets of the Target Group of approximately
HK$16,540,000 and HK$136,693,000 are consolidated into the
consolidated Financial Statements pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements for the year ended 31 December 2018. The above
revenue and assets included transactions and balances with the
Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of business of the Company were
entered into or exist during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the percentage of purchases
of the Group attributable to the largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers combined are 57.95% and 94.41% respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the percentage of turnover
of the Group attributable to the largest customer and the five largest
customers combined are 47.51% and 89.66 % respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, none of the directors, their associates or
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the directors own more than
five percent of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in the
five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the Group.
Hence, the Group has been endeavouring to provide our staff with a
fair and harmonious workplace where individuals with diverse cultural
backgrounds are treated equally. We offer a competitive remuneration
package and great opportunities for career advancement based on
employees’ performance.

In respect of the media and entertainment related businesses of
the Group, the film industry is fragmented and highly competitive.
Following years of rapid development, there is a vast number of
independent service providers providing various film and television
programmes production and distribution services and there is a
number of reputable and reliable independent service providers who
have been engaged by Hong Kong and overseas film companies for
producing and distributing films and television drama series in the
PRC. Mr. Dong Ping, the Chairman of the Board and an executive
Director, Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng, both non-executive
Directors, have extensive experience, expertise and connections in the
media and entertainment industries and each of them has noteworthy
background, experience, social status, personal and/or professional
achievements and connections with business partners in the film
industry, their collective knowledge and experience would enhance
the Group to identify appropriate and reliable third party service
providers and negotiate suitable commercial arrangements with such
providers to provide the necessary services to the Company.

The Group also places effort to maintain good relationships with
financial institutions and professional advisers to maintain its
continuous growth and operation needs.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board paid attention to the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. External
compliance and legal advisers are engaged to ensure transactions
and business performed by the Group are within the applicable law
framework. Besides, the Group always maintains a safe working
environment for staff in accordance with relevant safety policies.
There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Company during 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group encourages staff to save energy, minimise the use of
natural resources and paper products. The existing businesses
of the Group are not expected to create material damages to the
environment. We will continue to take into account the environmental
protection factor in the future when planning business activities
ahead. Please also refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of this annual report for details.

REVIEW OF THE RESULTS

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed internal control and financial reporting matters
including the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules.
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DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations of approximately
HK$88,000 to charitable and non-profit-making organisations.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

@)

On 26 February 2019, (i) Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture
Company Limited* (It REE &5 ¥ XL B R 2 &) (“Shou
Ying"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the film production agreement (“Film Production
Agreement”) with Beijing Joy Leader Culture Communication
Co. Ltd. (At R E 2838 (L EHE B PR A 7)) ("Beijing Joy Leader”),
pursuant to which Beijing Joy Leader has conditionally agreed
to provide the film production services to Shou Ying in relation
to the film, which is tentatively named as </ %5) (subject to
confirmation in the film release permit) (the “Film”); and (i) Huan
Huan Xi Xi (Tianjin) Culture Investment Company Limited* (ExgEx
EE (KE) R EAFR AR (“Huan Huan Xi Xi*), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into (a) the
director agreement (“Director Agreement”) with Mr. Xu Zheng
pursuant to which Mr. Xu Zheng has conditionally agreed to act
as the director of the Film; (b) the producer agreement (“Producer
Agreement”) with Mr. Xu Zheng pursuant to which Mr. Xu Zheng
has conditionally agreed to act as the producer of the Film; (c)
the screenwriter agreement (“Screenwriter Agreement”) with
Mr. Xu Zheng pursuant to which Mr. Xu Zheng has conditionally
agreed to act as the screenwriter of the Film; and (d) the actor
agreement (“Actor Agreement”) with Mr. Xu Zheng pursuant
to which Mr. Xu Zheng has conditionally agreed to act as the
leading actor of the Film.

As at the date of the Film Production Agreement, Director
Agreement, Producer Agreement, Screenwriter Agreement and
Actor Agreement (collectively the “Agreements”), Beijing Joy
Leader is owned as to 51% by Mr. Xu Zheng and 25% by Mr.
Xu Zheng's spouse. Mr. Xu Zheng is a non-executive Director
of the Company and the sole ultimate beneficial owner of
Tairong Holdings Limited, a substantial Shareholder which
holds 438,625,528 Shares, representing approximately 15.03%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
the Agreements. As such, each of Mr. Xu Zheng and Beijing
Joy Leader (being an associate of Mr. Xu Zheng) is a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the
Agreements constitute connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The transactions
contemplated under the Agreements are subject to the
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

A special general meeting of the Company will be convened
for the Shareholders, other than those who are required by the
Listing Rules to abstain from voting on the resolution(s) relating
to the transactions contemplated under the Agreements to
consider, and if thought fit, to approve the Agreements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 26 February
2019 for details.

On 12 March 2019, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement (“Subscription Agreement”) with Maoyan
Entertainment, pursuant to which Maoyan Entertainment has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue to Maoyan Entertainment,
236,600,000 subscription shares (“Subscription Shares”) at the
subscription price of HK$1.6507 per Subscription Share (the
“Subscription”). The Subscription Shares will be allotted and
issued under the general mandate granted to the Board by
resolutions of the Shareholders passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 29 June 2018 to allot, issue and
deal with the shares of the Company.

The gross proceeds and net proceeds to be raised from
the Subscription will be HK$390,555,620 and approximately
HK$390,000,000 respectively. The net proceeds from the
Subscription will be applied by the Company as to approximately
HK$100,000,000 for the development of its online video platform,
approximately HK$190,000,000 for the investment in, production
of and purchase of film and TV contents and approximately
HK$100,000,000 for general working capital.

The Subscription was completed on 19 March 2019. Please refer
to the Company’s announcements dated 12 March 2019, 13
March 2019 and 19 March 2019 for details of the Subscription
Agreement.

At - ZEWmHE T HETZRHERBEK
RRARRETRAUNEVATIE T CER S ©
ZEBZE NRET IR ERBRBTLED
RAUAFUVATEE T ZH®R RERBIBRR
HERTE °

ARBBBRBIRERIAE » AR EHR
AR EARZFHEER MUETR P 2RE
ERERRZALTUINZBREBREBER
ERERER BB N RET X HFIA -

FHEEL2EARRBHA-_ZT—NFE_A
THRNBZDAE -

R-ZE—AE=F+-H AATEMEIR
v REmE (REBZED Bt BR
IREBEHBKRHRERE  MAQRAE B EH
& 2 7 58 AR 4R 22 4% 5 AR 3R B R 10 7 5 1.6507
TL 2 3R 8 (8 it 3 F 8% 17 236,600,000 % 33 B A%
m ([RERGH]D) (REEE] - RERHGH
REBRER-_Z—NFNAZ+TNHEETZ
RAAFIRFRBFRELBRAREZRETES
S BITREBRARRRG 2 —RIEE
T AR B R 31T o

RBEEMBREALBRFEIIREY
390,555,620 7T & #) 78 # 390,000,000 7T © A
AREARKEABEEMBSRBAFEIOEE
100,000,000 T MR ERERRIEF & -« #178
#190,000,000 T AR FRARTIKE - BIENM
B 8 R 4975 % 100,000,000 T AR —REEE

N
S

RESEER-_ZT—NAF=ZAt+LBAZK-
THERBE R FE  BRHUARABHA
—E-hF=ZA+=ZH ZZFT—NLF=A
+=BR=E-NAF=AThBZAE-

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2018



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Save as disclosed above, there are no material event after reporting
period as at the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong,
was appointed as auditor of the Company with effect from 28 August
2018 to fill the causal vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants with effect from 27
August 2018.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018 were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified
Public Accountants, Hong Kong. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong as
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Dong Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers that maintaining corporate governance at high
standard is essential for enhancing accountability and transparency of
a company to the investing public and other stakeholders. Therefore,
the Company is committed to good corporate governance practices
for corporate sustainability and business growth.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has
applied the principles and complied with the code provisions set out
in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
(the “CG Code”) as listed out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”) except for the following deviation:

Pursuant to Code A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent non-executive
Directors and non-executive Directors should attend general meetings
of the Company. Mr. Li Xiaolong (independent non-executive Director),
was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 29 June 2018 due to his other engagement.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the financial year 2018, Mr.
Dong Ping acted as the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven acted as the Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Dong Ping focuses on the leadership role in the Board to ensure
that the Board works effectively in discharging its responsibilities
whilst Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven focuses on day-to-day corporate
management matters of the Group. The Board considers that the
segregation of responsibilities among the Board members meets the
requirements under the CG Code. The roles of the Chairman and chief
executive officer are separate and exercised by different individuals,
Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code has been complied.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is vested with the key roles of formulating the Group's
corporate strategic directions and policies; monitoring the financial
performance and internal control system of the Group and overseeing
the performance of management, which is delegated with the
responsibilities of executing the Board'’s decision and in-charging day-
to-day operation.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company. The statement made by the
auditor of the Company regarding their reporting responsibilities on
the financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
of the annual report.

Code Provision A.4.1 requires non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The existing
Directors including the executive Directors, the non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are for a term
of 2 years (except Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven, an executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, there is no specific term
or proposed length of services for Mr. Xiang's appointment). All of
the existing Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
complied with rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, at least one independent non-executive Director
with appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise, and a sufficient number of
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third
of the board, respectively.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, two non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors,
whose biographies are set out in the Biographical Details of Directors
of the annual report. All the Directors are high calibre executives with
diversified industry expertise and bring a wide range of skills and
experience to the Group.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.
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The composition of the Board and their respective attendance inthe #HZEZZE—N\F+-A=+—HItFE EFe2
general meetings, Board meetings and other committee meetings iﬁﬁﬁ%&*ﬁ%ﬁéﬂx%ﬁ? CEEEGRNEMESR
during the year ended 31 December 2018 are as follows: YR MAEHFEEDT ¢

No. of meetings attended/eligible to attend

HE/HEEREESEAY
Regular Audit Remuneration Nomination
General full board Committee Committee Committee
Meeting meetings meetings meetings meetings
Ezg X E4) RE
BRAE 2BREME ZEEER ZEEER ZEEER
Number of meetings SHNY 1 4 2 1 1
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman) EVYRE(ZE) 1”1 474 NATER 11 11
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven BRBLE
(Chief Executive Officer) (fTE423) 11 4/4 N/ATREF N/AREF N/ATREF
Non-Executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Ning Hao B 11 4/4 N/ATNEFA N/ATNE A N/ATNiE A
Mr. Xu Zheng RIELE 11 2/4 N/ATE N/ATE N/ATE
Mr. Gao Zhikai R EE
(resigned on 15 August 2018) (R=Z-N\F
NATHEBEMR) 11 2/3 11 N/AZ A N/AZ R
Independent Non-Executive ~ BUHHTEE
Directors
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen "ERLAE 171 4/4 2/2 N/ATNER N/ATNEF
Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David HRERLE 11 1/4 2/2 0/1 0/1
Mr. Li Xiaolong FNEEE 0/1 4/4 1N 1N 1N
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

With effect from 15 August 2018, Mr. Gao Zhikai has resigned as a
non-executive director of the Company and ceased to be a member of
the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Li Xiaolong, an independent
non-executive director of the Company, has been appointed as a
member of the audit committee of the Company on 15 August 2018.

With effect from 5 November 2018, Mr. Wong Tak Chuen has ceased
to act as an independent non-executive director of Man Sang
International Limited (Stock code: 938, a company listed on Main
Board of Stock Exchange).

Save for above, there is no change in Directors’ information for the
year ended 31 December 2018, which is required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken to perform corporate governance duties
and adopted the terms of reference on corporate governance
functions on 27 March 2012 for better management of the business
and affairs of the Group.

The duties of the Board in respect of corporate governance functions
shall be:

() to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(i) to review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(v)  to review the Company’s compliance with the code provisions
set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules on the Stock Exchange and its disclosure requirements in
the Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee
to oversee particular aspect of the Group's affair. Each of the
committees had defined terms of reference setting out its duty,
power and functions. The committees report to the Board and, where
appropriate, make recommendations on matters discussed.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 1 January 2018, the audit committee was composed of three
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Tak Chuen (committee
chairman and independent non-executive Director), Mr. Su Tuong
Sing, David (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Gao Zhikai
(non-executive Director). On 15 August 2018, Mr. Gao Zhikai resigned
as a non-executive Director and ceased to be a member of the
audit committee of the Company. Mr. Li Xiaolong (independent non-
executive Director) has been appointed as a member of the audit
committee of the Company since 15 August 2018. During 2018, the
main role and functions of the audit committee are to review the
financial information of the Company, to oversee the Company’s
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
procedures and maintain relations with the auditors of the Company.

Under the terms of reference of the audit committee, the audit
committee shall, among others, to monitor the integrity of the
Company’s financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-
year report and to discuss the risk management and internal control
system with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective risk management and internal control
systems. The revised written terms of reference are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on 7 January 2019.

In 2018, the audit committee had held two meetings. During one
of the meetings, annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017 was reviewed with the auditor of the Company. The
audit committee also reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and financial
reporting matters with the management team of the Company.
Another meeting was also held during 2018 that interim results of
the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2018 was discussed.
The audit committee also reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and financial reporting matters with
the management team of the Company.
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Besides, the audit committee, with the assistance of the management
and an external internal control and risk management consultant (the
“Consultant”), has conducted annual review on the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems of the Group for 2018
and considered the Group has operated an effective and adequate
risk management and internal control systems (based on discussion
between the audit committee and the Consultant and the findings of
the Consultants’ internal control review report). Please refer to the
section “Internal Control and Risk Management” in this Corporate
Governance Report for the details on the review by the audit
committee on the Group's internal control and risk management for
2018.

The audit committee is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the
CG Code for the year 2018. The audit committee reviewed the
Consultant’s report on the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company was set up with key
responsibilities for considering and approving the appointment of
members of the Board and will meet to discuss when nomination
of new director(s) is received or when circumstances require. In
considering the suitability of a candidate for directorship, the Board
will take into account the candidate’s qualification, experience,
expertise and knowledge as well as the prevailing composition,
structure and size of the Board and the requirements under the Listing
Rules.

Under the terms of reference of the nomination committee, the
nomination committee shall, among others, identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; the candidates for directorship will be
selected taken into account a wide range of factors, including but
not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and service term. The
revised written terms of reference are posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange on 7 January 2019.
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During 2018, the nomination committee was composed of Mr. Su
Tuong Sing, David (committee chairman and independent non-
executive Director), Mr. Dong Ping (executive Director and Chairman of
the Board) and Mr. Li Xiaolong (independent non-executive Director).
The committee member met once in the year ended 31 December
2018. The meeting was held to discuss the re-election of Directors at
the annual general meeting held on 29 June 2018.

A policy for board on diversity had been adopted in May 2013 and
a policy for nomination of directors which sets out the nomination
procedures and the process and criteria to select and recommend
candidates for directorship had been adopted. Please refer to the
“Corporate Governance” section on the Company website for the
Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy.

Board Diversity Policy

The board diversity policy is adopted in 2013 which is to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Company’s Board. In designing
the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will
be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board. The nomination committee will review the policy and monitor
the implementation of the policy.

Nomination Policy

The nomination policy is adopted in 2019 which sets out the selection
criteria and nomination procedures for appointment of Directors.
Factors assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate for
directorship include but are not limited to reputation, qualifications,
accomplishment and experience, commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest and potential contribution that can bring
to the Company. Independence requirements as set out in the
Listing Rules will also be considered in case of appointment or re-
appointment of independent non-executive director. The nomination
committee will make recommendation to the Board for consideration.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was set up with key
responsibilities of recommending to the Board (i) the policy and
structure for remuneration of Directors and senior management;
and (ii) the remuneration package of executive directors and senior
management. The Board retains the final authority to approve the
remuneration packages.

Under the terms of reference of the remuneration committee, the
remuneration committee shall, among others, make recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.
The remuneration committee also make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management. This should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment. The
written terms of reference are posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

During 2018, the remuneration committee was composed of Mr.
Su Tuong Sing, David (committee chairman and independent non-
executive Director), Mr. Dong Ping (executive Director and Chairman
of the Board) and Mr. Li Xiaolong (independent non-executive
Director). The committee members met once in the year ended 31
December 2018. The meeting was held to review the emoluments of
the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2017 and to review
the remuneration packages of the Directors retired in the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 29 June 2018.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

On 31 January 2018, Mr. Choi Wing Koon was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company in place of Mr. Tai Kwok Hung.
Mr. Choi Wing Koon has undertaken no less than the required hours
of relevant professional training respectively for the year ended 31
December 2018.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2018, remuneration in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the auditor of the Company
to the Group are approximately HK$2,670,000 (2017: HK$3,664,000)
and HK$30,000 (2017: HK$702,000) respectively.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management and internal control are essential parts of
corporate governance. The Directors have the overall responsibility
for internal control and risk management systems, and review their
effectiveness. The Group has established policies and procedures for
risk management and internal control to ensure the proper monitoring
and control of major risks arising from the Group’s activities. The
Group has engaged an external internal control and risk management
consultant (i.e. the Consultant) to perform the Group's internal audit
function, to review and improve the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Company has put in
place risk management and internal control systems which enable the
Group to respond appropriately to significant business, operational,
financial, compliance and other risks. Furthermore, they help ensure
the quality of internal and external reporting within the Group and the
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and also internal
policies with respect to the conduct of businesses of the Group.
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The Board, through the audit committee and with the assistance of
the Consultant, have conducted reviews on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems of the Group for 2018 and
considered the Group has operated an effective, appropriate, and
adequate risk management and internal control systems (based on
the findings of the Consultants’ internal control review reports and
discussion with the Consultant). In respect of the Group’s internal
control systems, it aims at safeguarding assets from inappropriate
use, maintaining proper accounts and ensuring compliance with
regulations. The management is primarily responsible for the design,
implementation and maintenance of the internal control system.
The internal control and risk management systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or 10ss, and to manage, rather than eliminate, risks of
failure to achieve business objectives.

Along with the internal control review, the Consultant has prepared
annual review report on overall effectiveness of the Group’s system of
internal control over various aspect including financial, operational and
compliance issues, in particular, the processes of (i) cash and treasury
management, (i) intellectual property and (iii) corporate governance
were reviewed for the year ended 31 December 2018. Along with the
risk management review, the Board, through the audit committee and
with the assistance of the Consultant, have, among others, identified,
evaluated and assessed the key risk factors affecting the Group's
business and operation in the Group’s media and entertainment
related business and other businesses. During the risk assessment
process, the management of the Company has reviewed aspects
including operation, compliance and strategic areas. High-priority
risks identified included strategic risk of investing in entertainment
industry, operation risks such as uncertainties in production quality of
media projects, credit risk in relation to distributors and risks involved
in compliance with various censorship regulations, listing rules
compliance, and financial data reporting standards.

Management would from time to time review the key risks identified
and determine their responses to high-priority risks and where
necessary, report on significant changes and effectiveness of the
systems of risk management.

The Board had adopted a whistle blowing policy including procedures
for employees to report any irregularities on the affairs of the
Company.
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code contained in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry,
all Directors confirmed that they fully complied with the Model Code
throughout 2018.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

The Company has from time to time provided Directors with
materials relating to the business and operations of the Group, latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and their responsibilities
under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, all existing Directors have
received the following trainings:
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Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development and other

relevant topics
FRLEER EE

BRI HEMAEE
R 2

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman) BETEE(EE) 4
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Chief Executive Officer) BHRIR St 4+ (7TEAE#E) 4
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Ning Hao EEEE v
Mr. Xu Zheng RIF S A& v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHITES
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen =HESRLE v
Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David wERLE v
Mr. Li Xiaolong TNEESLAE v
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for liabilities
in respect of legal actions against Directors and officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries arising out of corporate activities of the
Group under Code A.1.8 of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determined
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

Pursuant to the statutory regime for disclosure of inside information
sets out in Part XIVA of the SFO with effect from 1 January 2013,
the Board has adopted an inside information policy in 27 August
2013 which sets out the guidelines to the Directors, officers and all
relevant employees of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations,
which includes, among others, all inside information must be treated
strictly confidential and disclosure of inside information must be
made in a manner that provides the public with an equal, timely and
effective access to the information, such as through the electronic
publication system operated by the Stock Exchange. Generally, no
employee or Director may disclose, discuss or share with outside
parties (except for communication with the Group’s advisers who
owe a duty of confidentiality, e.g. lawyers, and other categories of
persons as allowed under the Part XIVA of the SFO) the information
of price-sensitive nature about the Company that has not been
released to the public. Please refer to the website of the Company
www.huanximedia.com under the section “Corporate Governance” for
the Company’s inside information policy.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders’ communication policy was adopted by the Board on 27
March 2012. Shareholders’ communication policy and shareholder’s
rights are published on the designated website of the Company.

RIGHT TO PUT ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
Enquiries other than shareholdings may be directed to the head
office and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
as set out in the Corporation Information of this annual report for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

RIGHT TO CONVENE SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING

Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the bye-
law 62 of the Bye-Laws, the shareholder(s) of the Company holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company may request
the Board to convene a special general meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered
office of the Company at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM12, Bermuda for the attention of the Company Secretary and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting,
but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the said date.
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RIGHT TO PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
GENERAL MEETINGS

On the requisition in writing of either (i) any number of shareholder
of the Company representing not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date of the
requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition
relates; or (i) not less than 100 shareholders, the Company shall, at
the expense of the requisitionists:

(@  togive to shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice
of the next annual general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting; and

(b)  to circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

RIGHT TO PROPOSE A PERSON FOR ELECTION
AS A DIRECTOR

According to the Bye-laws, no person other than a retiring Director
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless
a notice in writing signed by a shareholder (other than the person
to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person
for election as a director and also a notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected (including that person’s biographical
details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules) shall be
lodged with the Company Secretary at the Company'’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong or the Hong Kong branch share registrar
provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such
notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven days and that (if the notices
are submitted after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election) the period for lodgement of such notice(s)
shall commence on the day after the dispatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.
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If such notice(s) are received less than ten business days prior to the
date of such general meeting, the Company will need to consider
the adjournment of such general meeting in order to allow the
Shareholders fourteen clear days’ notice of the proposal.

DIVIDEND POLICY

A policy on payment of dividend had been adopted in March 2019.
The policy specifies that the Board may pay interim dividends as
appear to the Board to be justified by the position of the Company and
declare and pay special dividends on such dates as they think fit. The
Company may declare dividends in general meetings of the Company,
but the declared dividend shall not exceed the amount recommended
by the Board.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of the
Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except where
the chairman of the general meeting, in good faith, decides to allow
a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative
matter to be voted by a show of hands.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company maintains websites at www.huanximedia.com and
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/huanximedia where information and
updates on the list of directors and their roles and functions, terms
of reference of the Board committees, procedures for nomination of
directors for election, announcements, circulars and reports released
to the Stock Exchange and other information are posted.

The Company’s constitutional documents are available on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. There were no
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during 2018.
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The Company is pleased to present the environmental, social and
governance report (“ESG Report”) to our stakeholders for providing an
overview of the Group's efforts in eliminating the environmental, social
and governance (“ESG") impacts arising from our daily operations.

The content of this ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules to make
relevant disclosure of sustainability performance in material aspects
of the guide, covering the whole range of our business, including
investment in film and TV programmes rights business and other
businesses. The reporting period of this report shall cover the period
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We view stakeholder engagement as a critical part of the sustainable
development of the Group. The concerns and opinions of our
stakeholders are valued highly by the Group, and we strive to meet
their expectation and to communicate with them regularly through
different channels, as detailed below:
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Stakeholders Requirements and expectations Communications and actions
=g ERRHE BERITE
Government/Regulatory e compliance with laws and regulations e compliance management
Authorities [EAS 7N Drrgs) EHER
BT, BB S e support for economic development e submission of reports and payment of
IR R taxes
ERWME RN
Shareholders e financial results e reports and announcements
e B i RERRE
e business developments e general meetings
¥BER REXE
e corporate governance . company website, email and hotline
TEER NE) B - BEREGES
e channels of communications
BIREB
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Stakeholders Requirements and expectations Communications and actions
=g ERRHE BERITE
Customers e high quality products and services e creative and quality products
=P BEERNRE BlFEBEER
e meeting customers’ needs e protection of customer information and
WEREPHFER privacy
o feedback channels REREPER RILE
[REERE ¢ dedicated customer service
BEEEFPIR®
e email and hotline
Employees e employees’ compensation and benefits e provision of good remuneration and
(3= & B 1Y% B 4@ 51 welfare

Suppliers and Business
Partners
HEE REBBLHT

Community and Environment
@ FIIR IR

84

e career development
BEERE

e protection of occupational health
3R P BB 3¢ £ R

e work and life balance
FETIEAETE

e compliance with contracts
BFEH

e communication channels
EIBRE

e business ethics
EESEE

e support for charity
IRAREEEE

e eco-friendly business practices
RIERIFBLEB TR

R R 57 A R A

e regular performance reviews and feedback
EHETRIE S MRE

e employee training
==b=Ell

e performance of contracts according to law
KERITE R

e attending film festivals
2 INERE

e dedicated internal control and risk
management
HIF A EPES 1 K B e B 1R

e donation
BN

e increasing the efficiency of the use of
resources and energy
A E IR KR AR E
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In line with the Corporate Governance Code, the Board is responsible
for evaluating and determining the Group’s ESG-related risks, and
ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management and
internal control systems are in place. Management is also responsible
for ensuring the effectiveness of these systems to the Board.

With reference to the requirements of the ESG Guide of the
Stock Exchange, the Group determines the scope of content for
ESG disclosures. Material issues are identified and evaluated by
management, taking into account the Group’s business operations and
the standards of our peers. The impact of these material issues are
rated according to their importance to the sustainable development
of the Group and its stakeholders. Such ratings pertain to the current
developmental stage of the Group and may change in the future. The
Group identified product quality as issues of high importance to both
the Group and its stakeholders.

ENVIRONMENTAL

Emissions

The Group has made efforts to integrate environmental protection
into our daily business operation. It is reflected by our promotion of
pollution prevention, waste reduction and recycling. For all of our
investment decision-making process, as one of the key assessment
criteria, we perform comprehensive assessments and give due
consideration to minimise the potential impact on the environment.

Throughout the reporting period, the Group complied with laws and

regulations related to air pollution and waste handling including
relevant regulations in the PRC.
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For air and greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions performance, please
refer to the table below.

BRERMAEREHMNERE  F2HTX-

Environmental Key Performance Indicators Unit 2018 2017
RIBAERRER B —E-N\E —E—tF
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) emitted from vehicles g 9,892 11,452
HEHER A R AL %) (NOX) 7
Sulphur oxides (SOx) emitted from vehicles g 358 351
B PERE IR AL (SOX) =
Particulate matter emitted from vehicles g 728 843
BB R 7
GHG emissions (Note 1)
BERBETE (HEE1)
—Scope 1 (Note 2) tonnes 66 65
— & E 1 (fF5E2) 198
—Scope 2 (Note 3) tonnes 103 107
- & E 2 (fsE3) Uz
— Scope 3 (Note 4) tonnes 59 56
- E3(KizE4) A
Total tonnes 228 228
me 148
Notes: 5 -
1. GHG emissions included emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous 1+ BREREFHRBE AL - Frr kKA DROVPRE -

oxide, where methane and nitrous oxide emissions were converted to carbon
dioxide emissions based on global warming potential (GWP). Therefore,
the total amount of GHG emissions is the total amount of carbon dioxide
emissions equivalent.

2. Scope 1 calculated direct GHG emissions from combustion of fuels in mobile
sources (e.g. vehicles) controlled by the Group.

3. Scope 2 calculated indirect GHG emissions of electricity purchased from
power companies.

4. Scope 3 calculated the indirect GHG emissions of disposal of paper waste at
landfill and business travel by employees.

For non-hazardous waste, the Group discharged 538 kg of wasted
paper in 2018 (2017: 524 kg). The Group adopts double-sided printing
for internal documents and reuses used paper to minimise wasted

paper.
The Group has not identified any hazardous waste that were produced

in the core business and there are no reducing initiatives at the
moment.
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The Group promotes green operations and encourages employees to
turn off unnecessary lighting and air-conditioning. The Group takes
advantage of teleconferencing to eliminate unnecessary business trips
for Directors and employees.

Use of Resources

Considering the nature of our businesses with the amounts of waste
produced in the course of operations, the efforts that we can make
should not be taken lightly. We from time to time convey the concept
of green office to our employees. For instance, we remind our staff the
advantages of double-sided printing and energy saving by switching
off idle lighting.

During 2018, the direct and indirect energy consumption by electricity
and petrol are 111,033 kWh (2017: 115,698 kWh) and 24,343 L (2017:
23,854 L) respectively.

Payment for water usage has been included in the management fee
to the landlord, thus related consumption data cannot be obtained.
Meanwhile, the Group did not have problems on shortage of water
supply and use of packaging material is not applicable to our core
business.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The existing business operations of the Group are not expected
to pose a material impact on the environment. However, the
management had nonetheless incorporated the factor of the potential
impact on the environment and natural resources in business
operations planning. The Group hopes that continuous improvement
will make a contribution to the global ecological environment.

Although the Group's impacts on environment are insignificant and
the Group seldom use natural resources directly, we still encourage
our employees to reduce the use of natural resources and recycle as
much as possible.
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SOCIAL - EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR
PRACTICES

Recruitment

It is the objective of the Group to provide employees with a respectful
and fair working environment. We have established a sound system of
human resources management covering the various aspects such as
recruitment and remuneration.

We hire employees based on consideration of experience,
qualifications and knowledge. An employment contract is required to
be signed by the employee prior to employment to ensure job title, job
duties, working hours, holidays, remuneration, termination process,
and benefits are agreed.

Promotion, compensation, and dismissal

The Group motivates employees by promotion and salary increment
based on results of annual performance appraisal. We will keep
optimising the remuneration and promotion mechanism that enables
the employees to share the fruitful achievement with us. Dismissal is
based on the Employment Ordinance, relevant regulations in the PRC
including Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China and Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and the requirements
as stipulated in the employment contract.

Working hours, rest periods and benefits

Five-day workweek arrangement is adopted to facilitate work-life
balance. In additional to all public holidays (including Sundays) as
specified in the General Holidays Ordinance, employees are entitled
to annual leaves, and other paid leaves such as maternity leave,
paternity leave, compensation leave, wedding leave and examination
leave.

Employees enjoy medical benefits, provident fund scheme (if
applicable) and other benefits subject to the Group’s policies.
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Equal opportunity and anti-discrimination

The Group strove to optimise the system of human resources
management to promote fairness and equality within the workplace,
human resources policy has been established to ensure there is
no discrimination on the grounds of age, gender, marital status,
family status, sexual orientation, disability, ethnic group, nationality
or religion. In accordance with our human resource policy, the
above factors are not considered in the decision-making process of
employment, remuneration, and promotion.

The Group would ensure strict compliance with all relevant regulatory
standards, particularly the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance and the relevant regulations
in the PRC including Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China, Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
Implementation Regulations for the Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China.

Details of remuneration policy of the Group are also set out in the
“Employees and Remuneration Policies” section in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on page 26.

Health and safety

We believe that safe working does not only uphold the adherence to
people-oriented principles but also preserve our talents from exposure
to occupational diseases or injuries, no matter severe or minor.

Safety guides in respect of reducing occupational hazards in the
office working environment were circulated to employee to advise
employees to address more attention to health and safety issues.

The Group adopts a five-day workweek and motivates our staff to
keep a practical and reasonable work-life balance.

In the meantime, we support our contractors and business partners

placing high emphasis on health and safety issues, in terms of
occupational hazards.
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There is a full compliance towards Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance and relevant regulations that protected employees from
occupation hazards. The Group also complied with Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China and Law of People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention & Control of Occupational Diseases. The Group did not
experience any lost days due to injury or work-related fatalities during
the reporting period.

Development and training

Apart from providing training materials for Directors as stated in the
Corporate Governance Report, in the face of the dynamic business
environment, employees are strongly recommended to equip
themselves with different branches of knowledge. Subsidies of
HK$6,890 (2017: HK$4,800) were given to employees for participation
in training courses of 37.5 hours (2017: 32.5 hours) in 2018 which aim
at enhancing their job skills. The training covered the management
skill and leadership improvement, company’s organisation strategy
and corporate culture, employee’s business knowledge, orientation
and other specific training.

In addition to the professional training courses, we do not neglect the
opportunities of providing our employees with learning experience
gained through work assignments so as to build up their on-going job
skills which benefit career development of our staff.

Labour standards

Child labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within the Group.
In accordance with our Human Resources Policy, background check
and reference check are conducted by Human Resources Department
based on the information provided by applicants before hiring, among
other sources. Applicants who do not meet the legal requirements
would not be hired.

There is full compliance towards relevant national and local
regulations that prohibits child or forced labour. During the reporting
period, we did not receive any complaints or reporting of child labour
or forced labour.
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SOCIAL - OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply chain management

Business contract management is of fundamental concern to us.
We do encourage and expect our contractors and business partners
(i.e. film production companies, film directors and producers, etc)
to uphold a high standard of morality that is similar to our own. To
facilitate the cooperation, thorough assessment based on a variety of
criteria, including but not limited to attitude towards environmental
and social issues, is conducted to evaluate the quality as well as its
moral standards of our business partners and contractors prior to
stepping into contracting stage.

Product responsibility

The Group engages in the media and entertainment related
businesses. It recognises that proper advertising of services and
products (e.g. films and internet drama series) provided as well as
a timely response is of great importance to the long-term business
development. The Group makes every endeavor to comply with the
relevant legislation.

Being an investor in the media and entertainment field, the Group has
always placed utmost importance to the safeguard and protection
of intellectual property rights, encompassing the management of
the confidentiality and information sharing. Clauses are included in
the media investment agreements and other related cooperation
agreements to protect the Group's interests in the films and/or
internet drama series which it invested in, such as the Group's income
rights, distribution rights and copyrights in the productions.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to preventing bribes, extortion, fraud
and money laundering. A whistle-blowing reporting channel has
been established for employees to report any suspected fraud,
malpractice, corruption, or any other unethical actions. The whistle-
blowing policy has been uploaded on the website of the Company
www.huanximedia.com. We aim to maintain high moral standards in
the conduct of our business.
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The Group has strictly adhered to relevant laws and regulations,
including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and the relevant
regulations in the PRC. During the year 2018, there was no legal case
or dispute in respect of bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering
against our employees and the Group.

SOCIAL - COMMUNITY
Community investment

The Group facilitates opportunities for employees to be a part of
our communities. We encourage assistance in and participation in
conventions, conferences, exhibitions and events held by business
communities relevant to our business, with a particular focus on
organisations promoting the development of media industries and
community partnership. During the year, the Group made donations
of approximately HK$88,000 to charitable and non-profit-making
organisations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

_B

pwec

To the Shareholders of Huanxi Media Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuaa with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Huanxi Media Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
107 to 227, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018;

o the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Valuation and measurement of film and TV programmes rights
and intangible assets

o Impairment of prepayment of film and TV programmes rights

o Going concern
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Valuation and measurement of film and TV programmes rights

and intangible assets

Refer to Note 4(c), Note 18 and
Note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018,
film and TV programmes
rights and intangible assets
of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$762,619,000
and HK$16,285,000 and they
collectively represented
approximately 46% of the Group's
total assets.

As described in the accounting
policies in Note 2.10 to the
consolidated financial statements,
the Group has classified (i) film and
TV programmes rights completed,
(i) film and TV programmes rights
under production and (i) licensed
film and TV programmes rights
as intangible assets. All these
rights are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and
impairment.

Our procedures in relation to the
valuation and measurement of
film and TV programmes rights
and intangible assets included:

Film and TV programmes rights
completed and unaer production

o Assessed the reasonableness of
the sources of information used
by management in identifying
impairment indicators, including
management’s assessment
on current market condition,
political environment and latest
regulatory changes.

e Examined the relevant
correspondences with joint
investors and/or film production
house engaged by the Group
on sample basis to evaluate
the progress of the production
of the film and TV programmes
rights and the distribution plan
for the completed titles.

e Discussed with management
and compared with available
market information to assess
the expected performance and
distribution plan.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continuead)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed

the Key Audit Matter

Valuation and measurement of film and TV programmes rights

and intangible assets (Continued)

Film and TV programmes rights  Film and TV programmes rights

completed

In determining whether there
is any impairment indicator
on respective film and TV
programmes rights completed, the
Group considered factors such as
current market condition, political
environment, latest regulatory
changes, and whether there is any
adverse change on the expected
performance and distribution
plan. Based on management'’s
assessment, no impairment
indicator has been identified for
the film and TV programmes rights
completed during the year.
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under proauction

e Compared the contractual
commitments of respective
film and TV programmes
rights with, and discussed
with management in relation
to, the financing plan on the
commitments in order to
complete the production and
marketing plan.

e Assessed the fair value less
cost of disposal determined by
management with reference to
the estimated value of disposal,
budgeted costs and actual costs
incurred.

e Performed specific inquiries
with management about the
major crew members and their
background, experience and
profile, and performed relevant
search through external sources
on media coverage on the
related popularity of the crew
members to corroborate with
management’s production
plans.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed

the Key Audit Matter

Valuation and measurement of film and TV programmes rights

and intangible assets (Continued)

Film and TV programmes rights  Licensed film and TV programmes

under proauction

In addition to the factors
considered in the impairment
assessment performed for the
film and TV programmes rights
completed, for those rights
that are under production,
management also considered
whether the Group has sufficient
financial ability and internal
resources to complete the
production of the film and TV
programmes rights and to market
them effectively and whether
there are any adverse changes
identified on the budgeted costs.
Besides, management determined
the recoverable amount of film
and TV programmes rights under
production through fair value less
cost of disposal approach. Based
on management’s assessment, no
impairment has been identified for
the film and TV programmes rights
under production during the year.
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e We evaluated management’s
impairment assessment by
assessing the DCF used in
calculation as set out below:

— Assessed the competency,
capabilities and objectivity
of the independent external
valuer by considering its
qualifications, relevant
experience and relationship
with the Group.

— Assessed the methodology
adopted and checked the
mathematical accuracy of the
underlying DCF calculation.

— Assessed the reasonableness
of the management key
assumptions adopted and
judgement exercised in its
DCF, including the cash flow
estimations by comparing
with the approved budget.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continuead)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Valuation and measurement of film and TV programmes rights

and intangible assets (Continuead)

Licensed film and TV programmes
rights and intangible assets

In determining whether there is
any impairment indicator on the
licensed film and TV programmes
rights, management considered
them together with the intangible
assets (being license and software
development costs) related to
the Group's internet broadcasting
platform. The Group’s licensed
film and TV programmes rights
are available for subscription on
its internet broadcasting platform
which is considered as a cash-
generating unit (the “Platform
CGU"). Based on management’s
assessment, impairment indicator
existed at the year end as the
commercial commencement of the
internet broadcasting platform has
been delayed from the original plan.

In carrying out the impairment
assessment, the Group engaged
an external valuer to support the
determination of the recoverable
amount based on the income
approach using the discounted
cash flow forecast (“DCF") which
involves significant estimates and
judgements including discount
rate and terminal growth rate
applied in the DCF of the Platform
CGU. Based on management’s
assessment, no impairment
provision is required for the
licensed film and TV programmes
rights and intangible assets
associated with the Platform CGU
as at year end.
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— Involved our internal valuation
specialists to assess the
model and assumptions used
in the valuation, including the
discount rate and terminal
growth rate.

We found the judgements
and assumptions made by
management in relation to the
valuation and measurement
of film and TV programmes
rights and intangible assets to
be supportable by the available
evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Valuation and measurement of film and TV programmes rights

and intangible assets (Continuea)

We focused on this area due to
the significance of the carrying
amounts of the film and TV
programmes rights and intangible
assets to the consolidated financial
statements and significant
management judgements involved
in the valuation and measurement
of these assets.

Impairment of prepayment for film and TV programmes rights

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, the
Group had prepayment for film
and TV programmes rights of
approximately HK$370,222,000,
which represented approximately
22% of the Group's total assets.
The prepayments were made
under the agreements with
film directors in relation to the
acquisition of future films and TV
programmes rights.

In evaluation of the management’s
assessment on the identification
of impairment indicators for the
Group's prepayment for film
and TV programmes rights, we
have performed the following
procedures:

e Obtained an understanding
on and evaluated and tested
the Group's key control over
initiation and authorisation of
cooperate agreements with film
directors.

¢ Inquired with the management
on the status of film and TV
programmes rights investment
plans with film directors.

e Inspected the correspondences
between the film directors and
management related to the
progress of utilisation of the
prepayment on sample basis.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continuead)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of prepayment for film and TV programmes rights

(Continued)

The Group has performed
an assessment on whether
impairment indicator exists for
the prepayment for film and TV
programmes rights. Management
considered the status of film and
TV programmes rights investment
plans and the progress of
utilisation of the prepayments.
Based on the management’s
assessment, no impairment
indicator has been identified for
the prepayment for film and TV
programmes rights.

We focused on this area due to
the significance of the Group’s
prepayment for film and TV
programmes rights to the
consolidated financial statements
and the significant management
judgements involved in
assessing the impairment of the
prepayment.
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e Interviewed certain film
directors for confirming the
understanding of the terms of
the agreements and compared
the plans of utilisation
of prepayment against
management’s investment
plans.

e Obtained confirmations from
counterparties as to the
balances of prepayment as at
31 December 2018.

We found the judgements made
by management in relation to
the impairment assessment
of prepayment for film and
TV programmes rights to be
supportable by the available
evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continueq)

Key Audit Matter

Going concern

Refer to Note 2.1(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31
December 2018, the Group had net
cash used in operating activities
of approximately HK$61,880,000
and loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$444,693,000.
At 31 December 2018, the Group
had bank balances and cash of
HK$158,528,000, amounts due to
related parties of HK$92,467,000
and short-term borrowing of
HK$295,307,000 with maturity
within 12 months from 31
December 2018. The Group
also had capital commitments
amounted to HK$250,633,000
as at 31 December 2018. These
conditions may impact the Group'’s
ability to continue as a going
concern.

HEEREEARAA |

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

In evaluation of the management’s
assessment in relation to the going
concern basis, we have performed
the following procedures:

e Obtained the cash flow forecast
prepared by management
and inquired management to
understand their development
plan during the forecast period.

e Evaluated the reasonableness
of the assumptions used in the
cash flow forecast based on
their development plan and
expected operational needs in
an ordinary course of business.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

8 M % BRD ¥R S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continuead)

Key Audit Matter

Going concern (Continued)

In preparing the going concern
assessment, management has
prepared a cash flow forecast for
a period of not less than twelve
months from 31 December
2018. In the cash flow forecast,
management estimated the
amount and timing of cash flows
from its operations and took into
account subsequent cash receipts
from the share subscription
and the minimum guarantee
agreement as detailed in Note
2.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements. The Group concluded
that it will have sufficient financial
resources to meet in full its
financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the twelve
months from 31 December 2018.
Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern
basis.

We focused on this area due
to significant management
judgements and assumptions
involved in preparing the cash flow
forecast, including cash inflow
from operations and projected
capital expenditures and operating
expenses during the forecast
period.

102

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

e Evaluated management
estimation in preparing cash
flow forecasts against historical
performance.

e Compared key assumptions
adopted, including estimated
cash flows from operation and
projected capital expenditures
and operating expenses, with
film investment contracts,
contracts of capital expenditures
and approved budgets during
the forecast period.

e Inspected the subsequent
cash receipts under the share
subscription and the minimum
guarantee agreement as
disclosed in Note 2.1(a) to
the consolidated financial
statements and checked to
bank statements.

We found the judgements
and assumptions made by
management in relation to cash
flow forecast to be supportable by
the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

8 M % BRD ¥R S

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continuead)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

BEEREEERAA | =F-N\EEH

8 M % BRD ¥R =

RBMREA RSN BRRAENE
E(&)

s HEZERARKBELLSTEMNBREMEEN
o REMEDNNESERE BESERF
HEEBRXBERABANERNEEML - LM
AREYH SERENBELERIELE
REEE - MREMBRBFEERNTEEME
AEVEEZEMBSPIRECAETIER
Aﬁﬂﬁ#ﬁzﬁqﬂﬂ’ﬂfﬁfa?&ﬁﬁ BREBRMIEKE

CRAIRPEERRFEERERR - M
E’J%.ﬁ%%ﬁ”’?%ﬁﬁi#&iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂi M EET
BiE o AM - RRFEKBRAAIELER &

S B TR AT -

s HERGMBHERNEBINETN BB
W/\”T%TBZER'M&Q? BBHRRER
BERRBERZXHMER -

e 3 ERERNEBAXBKEINUKERE
MAR BENENER UHES MR
RBERBER -BMAR EXREZFEHLMR
EBMANT - RAIABABRRAEZHLEE -

BREMEERIN  RPEEEZZESBRTEANE
AHEE - BRZH  EXEAERS ’T%ﬁ‘dﬁﬁ
BT AP R B! H P B R R A AR (] RS ©

BATREZZESRIEHA  HARMETEE
MBS RBEER  YEAMBERER
SN SETERMBILIENABEM
HA =R - ARAEEROERT - 8RN & EE -

105



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

8 M % BRD ¥R S

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continuead)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Benson Wai Bong Wong.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEmRAEtEERE X

For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

=i A=+ HIEEE

2018 2017
—E-)N\F —tF
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E BT T BT T
Revenue and film investment income Wak kB RE WA 5 174,632 53,209
Cost of revenue Wz 2 AR 9 (85,317) (59,072)
Gross profit/(loss) EF,(F8) 89,315 (5,863)
Other income H g A 7 42 6,081
Other (losses)/gains Hih(BE) S 8 (346) 3,088
Selling and distribution costs THE R AR 9 (25,958) (549)
Administrative expenses TEAX 9 (203,521) (97,914)
Share-based payment for cooperation H—ZEFEREIEZ
with a film director LARRD B R 2 3K 32 (270,000) -
Operating loss KEBE (410,468) (95,157)
Finance income IR N 11 701 152
Finance costs M EH 11 (16,497) (154)
Finance costs, net WBER - F58 11 (15,796) )
Loss before tax R AT B 18 (426,264) (95,159)
Income tax expense Frisfif = 12 (18,429) =
Loss for the year REEEIE (444,693) (95,159)
Loss for the year attributable to owners ARBHEE ANEBEAREEEE
of the Company (444,693) (95,159)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hith2E (FEB) =
Item that will not be reclassified to BT EEN LB o HE -
profit or 10ss:.
Exchange differences arising on translation — #INat EHaE A2 R E
of functional currency to presentation EECERERE
currency 5,028 23,468
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: AJfE B E# H M2 18as o HE -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign & GINETE 2 [E H =58
operations (49,202) 36,947
(44,174) 60,415
Total comprehensive loss for the year HXEEZEESELE (488,867) (34,744)
Total comprehensive loss for the year RARIHE NEIEREE
attributable to owners of the Company > HEHEEEE (488,867) (34,744)
Loss per share attributable to EATREEAELERER
owners of the Company
Basic and diluted (HK dollar) BEARREE (BH) 16 (0.16) (0.03)
The notes on pages 111 to 227 are integral part of these consolidated 111 = 07 B AR Z LA BB HRE A%
financial statements. 2L o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

jﬁ%ﬂj{/ﬂx#ﬁ%‘%

n‘lT\
At 31 December 2018 A —ZE—N\F+-_A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\E —+tF
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - B KRB 17 3,762 5,917
Intangible assets mILAE 18 16,285 21,017
Rental deposits HERe 22 5,608 5,490
Prepayment for film and TV programmes B RERBIRETERN R
rights 20 370,222 407,917
Film and TV programmes rights B REHEIRE 21 18,077 22,743
413,954 463,084
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Film and TV programmes rights B LEGREIRE 21 744,542 506,362
Trade and other receivables, deposits and FE U BR % &E@fﬂ&
prepayments B RIETR 22 371,305 37,912
Contract assets BHEE 6 5,220 -
Cash and cash equivalents RekREeFE 23 158,528 39,169
1,279,595 583,443
Total assets EEHARE 1,693,549 1,046,527
EQUITY e
Share capital A& A 27 29,181 27,681
Reserves 1 28 629,487 764,486
Total equity B 658,668 792,167
CURRENT LIABILITIES =R
Trade and other payables J?EHEE/TA&/H\TWEH KT8 24 98,025 54,084
Contract liabilities BHEE 6 528,652 -
Amounts due to related parties Fi“ 1‘1‘ BB AL 34 92,467 120,000
Borrowings BN 25 295,307 77,500
Tax payable JERT R IR 20,430 2,776
Total liabilities BEHAE 1,034,881 254,360
Total equity and liabilities EERAEAE 1,693,549 1,046,527
The consolidated financial statements on pages 107 to 227 were H107BHE227/ B Z BB HBHRRER T —LF

approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2019 and were

signed on its behalf:

Dong Ping
B¥
DIRECTOR
EF

The notes on pages 111 to 227 are integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GEEEBDE

At 31 December 2018 R=ZE—-AFE+=-A=+—H

Attributable to owners of the Company

AATEEAEML
Share
capital Reserves
(Note 27) (Note 28) Total
[N R
(Mt&E27) (Fff 5% 28) k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BET T BT T
At 1 January 2017 R-ZE—tHF—H—H 27,681 799,230 826,911
Loss for the year NFEEE - (95,159) (95,159)
Other comprehensive income H b2 E W= - 60,415 60,415
Total comprehensive loss for ZAEEZ2HEEEEE
the year = (34,744) (34,744)
At 31 December 2017 R=Z—+tF
+=—HA=+—H 27,681 764,486 792,167
Loss for the year KEEEIE - (444,693) (444,693)
Other comprehensive loss Hib2mEEE - (44,174) (44,174)
Total comprehensive loss rEELHEERARE
for the year - (488,867) (488,867)
Transactions with owners: HEFANRS :
Issue of ordinary shares for H-ZEFEEEGE
cooperation with a7 2 LR
a film director 1,500 268,500 270,000
Issue of share options under RIR B R R AT B35 1T
share option scheme HE A - 85,368 85,368
1,500 353,868 355,368
At 31 December 2018 RZZB-NF
+=—H=+—Hd 29,181 629,487 658,668

The notes on pages 111 to 227 are integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

= NEr=H=4—HIEERE

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —tF
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E BT T BT T
cash flows from operating activities RETHEEZ2HERE
Cash used in operations KEXGFERRS 29 (61,880) (465,638)
Income taxes paid BFREH - (6,913)
Net cash used in operating activities RETEHMERAZESTE (61,880) (472,551)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHFEEZHESRE
Inflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, WEB AR ZBEERA -
net of cash acquired MBRFIBAZES 33 494 =
Interest received A E 701 152
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and LEME - BE&&E
equipment SIECE/ O 29 18 5
Payment of software development costs B B B K AN {5 3R (334) (8,515)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB - = LR E (332) (3,040)
Proceeds from disposal of artwork B BT AT 15 508 - 7,000
Dividend income received B Uk A - 588
Net cash generated from/(used in) REFEEL (FER) 2
investing activities ReFHE 547 (3,810)
Cash flows from financing activities METHELEZRERE
Advances from related parties REBEALT 2R 175,156 120,000
Proceeds from borrowings 1 ETIESS /G2 368,313 77,500
Repayments of advance from related parties EiEREBEA L 28R (197,024) =
Repayments of borrowings EEBN (156,810) -
Interest paid =EREESS (2,307) =
Net cash generated from financing METHFELE 2R FE
activities 187,328 197,500
Net increase/(decrease) in cash HeRBSEE2EM (BD)
and cash equivalents BE 125,995 (278,861)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUzHeRELEE
beginning of the year 39,169 309,062
Effects of exchange rate changes on EXSHURER
cash and cash equivalents ReEEz® (6,636) 8,968
cash and cash equivalents at the FR2EEREESEE
end of the year 158,528 39,169
The notes on pages 111 to 227 are integral part of these consolidated 1112227 HEWKi st BZ S5 A B B 3RER 2 K
financial statements. o o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B R AR I R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

GENERAL

Huanxi Media Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office of the Company is Canon’s Count, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda and its principal place of
business in Hong Kong is 11th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in media
and entertainment related businesses, and provision of property
agency related services. The activities of its principal subsidiaries
are set out in Note 13.

These consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E BT AR AR Y AR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—T—N\F+_A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

112

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a) Going concern basis

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$158,528,000, amounts
due to related parties of approximately HK$92,467,000 and
short term borrowings of approximately HK$295,307,000,
and the Group had net cash used in operating activities
for the year ended 31 December 2018 of approximately
HK$61,880,000 and loss for the year attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$444,693,000. The
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group's cash
flows forecast which cover a period of not less than twelve
months from the date of this report and are of the opinion
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet
its financial obligations that will be due in the coming
twelve months from the date of this report on the basis
that:

In July 2018, the Group has signed a cooperation
agreement with Tianjin Maoyan Weying Cultural Media Co.,
Ltd. in relation to the proposed subscription of ordinary
shares of the Company. On 12 March 2019, the Group
has signed a shares subscription agreement with Maoyan
Entertainment in relation to subscription of 7.5% enlarged
ordinary share of the Company with consideration of
approximately HK$390,556,000. The proceeds from the
issuance of ordinary shares have been received in March
2019; and

2 FESHHEBMEE

2.1

mREE

(a) BEKEEE

R—ZE—NF+=_A=Z+—8"
AEERERSRBESEENBE
158,528,000 7t * fiE 1+ BE 3 A LR IA LY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Going concern basis (Continued)

(if)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
signed a minimum guarantee contract with an independent
third party pursuant to which the total minimum guarantee
amount is RMB700,000,000. As at 31 December 2018,
the Group has received RMB464,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$528,233,000) and it has been accounted
for as contract liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The related film has been publicly
released in February 2019 and the Group has recognised
the contract liabilities as revenue during the year ending
31 December 2019. The remaining minimum guarantee
amounted to RMB236,000,000 has been received in
February 2019.

Based on the aforesaid factors, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet in full its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.

(b) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO

HEEREEARAA |

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS") and requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“HKCO") Cap. 622.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

21

(c)

(d)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial
assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments)
measured at fair value.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for their annual reporting

period commencing 1 January 2018:

Annual Improvement Annual improvements 2014-

projects 2016 cycle (Amendments)

HKAS 40 (Amendments)  Transfers of investment
property

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)  Classification and
measurement of share-
based payment transactions

HKFRS 4 (Amendments)  Applying HKFRS 9 financial
instruments with HKFRS 4
insurance contracts

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with

customers

HKFRS 15 (Amendments)  Clarifications to HKFRS 15

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign currency transactions

and advance consideration

The impact of these standards and new accounting
policies are disclosed in Note 2.2. The other standard did
not have any material impact on the Group's accounting
policies and did not require retrospective adjustment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(e) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations
have been published that are not mandatory for 31

December 2018 reporting periods and have not been early
adopted by the Group. The Group's assessment of the

ir e B R AR MY R
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impact of these new standards and interpretations is set

out below.
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Effective for

annual periods
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Annual Improvements Project
FENHEEE
HKAS 19 (Amendments)
BEGFERIZE 195 (BFTA)
HKAS 28 (Amendments)
BEGETERIZE 285 (BRI A)
HKFRS 9 (Amendments)
BERMBREERFE W (BETA)
HKFRS 16
BEREMBRERFE 165
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23
&5 (B S
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HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 (Amendments)
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HKFRS 3 (Amendments)
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Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018
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—hEE_T—+FRHZ FELCE (BIIAR)

Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement
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Prepayment features with negative compensation
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Leases
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Uncertainty over income tax treatments
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Definition of material
EANERE

Definition of business
EBHNTEE
Revised conceptual framewaork for financial reporting
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Insurance contract
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Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

116

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(e) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16
will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by
a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance
leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced
by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees,
except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of
cash flows, the Group currently presents operating lease
payments as operating cash flows. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will
be allocated into a principal and an interest portion which
will be presented as financing cash flows by the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFESxBEHE(£)
POLICIES (Continueq)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 RHEE(E)

(e) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted () MARRMzHFTEARRE(E)

(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of approximately
HK$35,577,000 as disclosed in Note 30. Management
assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet
the definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS
16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless
they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory
adoption date of 1 January 2019. The Group intends to
apply the simplified transition approach and will not restate
comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption.
Right-of-use assets for property leases will be measured
on transition as if the new rules had always been applied.
All other right-of-use assets will be measured at the
amount of the lease liability on adoption (adjusted for any
prepaid or accrued lease expenses).

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may
result in changes in measurement, presentation and
disclosure as indicated above.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective
and that would be expected to have a material impact on
the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)
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2.2

(@

Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9
Financial instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and HKFRS 15 Revenue
from contracts with customers (“HKFRS 15") on the Group's
consolidated financial statements and also discloses the
new accounting policies that have been applied from 1
January 2018, where they are different to those applied
in prior periods. The other standards did not have any
material impact on the Group's accounting policies and did
not require retrospective adjustments.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with Customers

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
SOUrces:

o Content production
o Property agency

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 January
2018. Any difference at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening accumulated losses and
comparative information has not been restated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(@) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

(i)  Key changes in accounting policies resulting from
application of HKFRS 15

HKFRS 15 introduces a 5-step approach when recognising
revenue:

Step 1. Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2. Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

Step 4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

Step 5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group
satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or

a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z— N\F+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(@) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

(i) Key changes in accounting policies resulting from
application of HKFRS15 (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when

the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or
Services.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(@) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

@

HEEREEARAA |

(Continued)

Key changes in accounting policies resulting from
application of HKFRS15 (Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration from
investment in film and TV programmes rights, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will
be entitled using either (a) the expected value method or
(b) the most likely amount, depending on which method
better predicts the amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.2

(@

(ii)

(iif)

122

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

Presentation of contract assets and liabilities

Under HKFRS 15, a receivable is recognised only if the
Group has an unconditional right to consideration. If
the Group recognises the related revenue before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration for the
promised goods and services in the contract, then the
entitlement to consideration is classified as a contract
asset.

Similarly, a contract liability, rather than a payable, is
recognised when a customer pays consideration, or
is contractually required to pay consideration and the
amount is already due, before the Group recognises the
related revenue. For a single contract with the customer,
either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets and
contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented
on a net basis.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 15

The application of HKFRS 15 does not have significant
impact on the amounts reported in the consolidated
financial statements. The new accounting policies on
revenue recognition are set out in Note 2.24 below.

2 FEEHHEBMEGE)

2.2

(a)

(i)

(iif)

B REREH (EF)

ERUBREENEISHIFFERK
| (&)

BHEERERIYZS

REEZEWHREEINFE 1SS EEAR
SEAEEGFRERRERE - H e
REWHIR - EAKEEESE G R

BHRAENE m ARG 2R ERZ
A AT RS ARRE st - RIRKERI DB R
BREE -

R fis & B 10 2N 5 [ e 5 4 B Wi s A
XN REREBERA DREAER
BEz2Ee I8 AeRRanaiEm
FEMNKE - HRBR-FFZ2E—4A
o EINMFENEESFANARE
HRZMAK  BEGHNANEER
EHRBETAFEELENR -

WG E BN BEREERFE 1552
TEB

FE R B S 35 5 2E A 55 15 58 W0 A 4R
B BBERANERESEELEETATE

B AR TER Z N T BURE R T Xt
FE2.24

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

@

HEEREEARAA |

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that relate
to the recognition, classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of
financial instruments, impairment of financial assets and
hedge accounting.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments from 1
January 2018 resulted in changes in accounting policies
and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The new accounting
policies are set out in Note 2.12 below.

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS
9, comparative figures have not been restated with the
exception of certain aspects of hedge accounting.

Classification and measurement

On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial application of HKFRS
9), the Group’s management has assessed which business
models apply to the financial assets held by the Group and
has classified its financial instruments into the appropriate
HKFRS 9 categories. The adoption of HKFRS 9 did not have
material impact on the classification and measurement of
the Group's financial assets and liabilities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three types of assets that are subject to
HKFRS 9's new expected credit loss model:

° trade receivables;
o contract assets; and

o other financial assets measured at amortised costs
(including cash and cash equivalents and other
receivables)

The Group was required to revise its impairment
methodology under HKFRS 9 for each of these classes
of assets. The impact of the change in impairment
methodology is as follows:

(@  Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables and contract assets have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

@)

HEEREEARAA |

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The Group has assessed the expected credit loss
model applied to the trade receivables and contract
assets as at 1 January 2018 and the change in
impairment methodologies did not have any material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and the opening loss allowance is not
restated in this respect.

The adoption of expected credit loss model under
HKFRS 9 did not have material impact on allowance
for impairment of trade receivables calculated under
HKAS 39.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include other
receivables. The Group has applied the expected
credit loss model to other receivables as at 1 January
2018 and the change in impairment methodologies
did not have any material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements and the opening
loss allowance is not restated in this respect.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject

to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

—B-N\EER

n\/-_r\

R E A

=i A=+ HIEEE

2 FEEHEHEMEE)

22 S BREH (&)

(b) HEEBMBRE
(#)

ERFIRIEMTA]

(i) £EHEEZHE (E)

@)

EMER AR ENEE (&)

AEBEFEERAR-T—/\F
—HA-BZRUREFRERANEE
ZEHMEEERER A ER
BHEZEHEAEB ZHREE
BHRRTETAEAZE WXL
ESLILE S I E IR

RIBE BB RE R E SRR
BHMEEERELHRESTES
&t 28 B 55 39 5% 5 & Y I U BR OB
BERELEEATE -

Hp B R A G EN SR EE

HMZBHK AT ENSREE
BREEMERFE - AKEE
BHEEFRRAERANR_-F
—N\F—A—BzEmREFIEA
MBE A Z BB H A KB 2 4R
BV BBRRIBEMNEATE
B EL UL B VB IR A

BEREMREFEANIELEY

BHELERNE IR R EZ KA
R BRI BB ENBEX -

125



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘lT\

For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

R A

= NEr=H=4—HIEERE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.3

(i)

(ii)

126

Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the Group (refer to Note 2.4).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations
or joint ventures. The classification depends on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather
than the legal structure of the joint arrangement. The
Group has joint operations.

Joint operations

The Group recognises its direct right to the assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations and
its share of any jointly held or incurred assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses. These have been incorporated
in the consolidated financial statements under the
appropriate headings.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFESxBEHE(£)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Business combinations 2.4 ¥BE0
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account AEBRBBBEERIIBE XSS O
for all business combinations, regardless of whether AR MAREEEWEER TANE
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The tEE - WE—HHBAREEIRE
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary BIE
comprises the:
e fair values of the assets transferred, e FERERAEMNANTE-
. liabilities incurred to the former owners of the o  WINEEBRIHEAAFBHCBE -

acquired business,

e equity interests issued by the Group, s AEEDEITRE-

e fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a s HAREBRUEENEMEES
contingent consideration arrangement, and BEZATFE &

e fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the o RZKIB R A & {E 1R 5T B A% 4E
subsidiary. ZNFE

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent EEBEHTMBENT]#REENR

liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with FrEENEERKAB BT F AR

limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values BRHZATERSEZ (DEOIINMERER

at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non- GN) o AN B AR IE E B Uk B E B R A

controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition- BdEEREREE R KEETRB &5

by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non- BEFENOELOIERAE K EEE

controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired R eI IR b 25 o

entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. W BB AR R AR E LRSS 8 o
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.4 Business combinations (Continued)

2.5

128

The excess of the
o consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified
as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.5

2.6

2.7

@i)

HEEREEARAA |

Separate financial statements (Continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwiill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM").

The executive directors of the Company has appointed a
strategic steering committee which assesses the financial
performance and position of the Group, and makes
strategic decisions. The steering committee, which has
been identified as being the chief operating decision
maker, consists of the executive directors.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (‘the functional currency’). The functional
currency of the Company is Renminbi (“"RMB") while the
consolidated financial statements of the Company are
presented in HK$, which the management of the Group
considers that it is more convenient to the shareholders as
the Company is a listed company in Hong Kong.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEE:HREHE(£)
POLICIES (Continueq)
2.7 Foreign currency translation (Continuea) 2.7 HNERE(E)

(i) Transactions and balances (i) XRERAEH

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow
hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are
attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or
loss, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss
on a net basis within other (losses)/gains.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-
monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFESxBEHE(£)
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.7 Foreign currency translation (Continuea) 2.7 HNERE (F)

(ili) Group companies (i) EEET AR

HEEREEARAA |

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that balance sheet;

o income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions); and

o all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold
or any borrowings forming part of the net investment
are repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFES:HFEME (&)
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.8 Property, plant and equipment 2.8 M¥ - - BERRKE
All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical FRBEME - BB KRR E £ K AR
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure WEIR BLRABFRIEZFIEE
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. EERMLNRAX - A AT A BIER
Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or BnEBENIINEEEYE  BERXE
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency EERBRESMEBEPR A=A

purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 1 T 825278 B MR A R R B R &= R Al
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, EmAAREE B %IE B AR AREESA] 52
only when it is probable that future economic benefits iﬂfriﬁ’ﬂ ME - BREKATEFAER
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the E2REESERAE L EE (WEA)
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying EABYEEARNERID 2REE
amount of any component accounted for as a separate REBEK R - TEHMESRE
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs AR ERT ABE -

and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method FEDRMEFAEAFH (GHnEEE
to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their MERBERETHERERZRE  BIZ
residual values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the REHEFH) MESEHEKAL
case of leasehold improvements and certain leased plant EhESEBREB GFENT :

and equipment, the shorter lease term as follows:

e Leasehold improvements 33% or over o THEWMEZRE 33% sk FA HA (A
the lease term, BEEBYE)

whichever

is shorter
e Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% t0 33% e KE -HBRXME 20% %= 33%
. Motor vehicles 20% o RE 20%
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.8

2.9

HEEREEARAA |

Property, plant and equipment (Continuead)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.11).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in
profit or 10sS.

Intangible assets

License

Separately acquired licences are shown at historical
cost. Licenses acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have
a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Software

Costs associated with maintaining software programmes
are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development
costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing
of identifiable and unique software products controlled by
the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the
following criteria are met:

o it is technically feasible to complete the software so
that it will be available for use;

o management intends to complete the software and
use or sell it;

o there is an ability to use or sell the software;
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z— N\F+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFES:HFEME (&)
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.9 Intangible assets (Continued) 29 BELEE (&)

Software (Continued) B4 (E)

e it can be demonstrated how the software will . Al B R EARA B
generate probable future economic benefits; IR AR RES B 8

e adequate technical, financial and other resources s WHHERAMEMN MEEREME
to complete the development and to use or sell the TR T K A B0 5P R ol i R R
software are available; and X

e the expenditure attributable to the software during D ZHHRHAERARGER N
its development can be reliably measured. Al SEHDET £ ©

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of A& MU BB D B AN B 5 (R

the software include employee costs and an appropriate RABEREERAREBEESRNE

portion of relevant overheads. B o

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible EERNMEHRBERAARY AR EE

assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is WEZEERMHER 2R R -

ready for use.

Amortisation methods and periods BELERE
The Group amortises software and license with a useful AEBEFREGEESFEHABAEA
life using the straight-line method over five years. FHZ G R EEITE -
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFES:HREHE (&)
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.10 Film and TV programmes rights 210 EX R ERBIRAE

Film and TV programmes rights under production

Film and TV programmes rights under production are
carried at cost, less accumulated impairment loss. Cost
includes all direct costs associated with the production of
films and TV programmes rights.

Film and TV programmes rights under production are
transferred to “Film and TV programmes rights completed”
upon completion of production.

Film and TV programmes rights completed

Film and TV programmes rights are carried at cost, less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Amortisation for these film and TV
programmes rights is charged to profit or loss over the
period of the first release of the films and programmes
through various distribution channels, such as theatrical
release, television release or internet release, and other
licensing arrangement.

Film rights investments

Film right investments are the Group's investments in
film production project which entitles the Group to share
certain percentage of income to be generated from the
related film based on the Group's investment portion as
specified in respective film right investment agreements
but the Group has no control nor joint control over the
investments. Film rights investments are carried at fair
value.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFES:HFEME (&)
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.10 Film and TV programmes rights (Continuead) 210 EXRERBINRE (&)

Licensed film and TV programmes rights

Licensed film and TV programmes rights represent the
Group’s investments in film and TV programmes right
licenses. The Group acquired or licensed rights from
outsiders for broadcasting of films or TV programmes
series on its online video platform or sublicensing the
license rights to other parties. Licensed film and TV
programmes rights are carried at cost, less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Licensed film and TV programmes rights are amortised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of one
to two years. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimation being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Derecognition

Film and TV programmes rights are derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic benefits are
expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising
from derecognition of film and TV programmes rights,
measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible
assets that are not available for use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Assets are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

2.12 Investments and other financial assets

(i) Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial
assets in the following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income (“OCI")
or through profit or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity’s business model

for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets

)

(i)

138

(Continued)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFES:HREHE (&)

POLICIES (Continueq)
2.12 Investments and other financial assets 2N RERHEMBERMEE (B)
(Continued)
(iii) Measurement (iii) 3T &

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirety when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group's business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies
its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/
(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in the statement of profit or loss.
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POLICIES (Continueq)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and
foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/
(losses). Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and
impairment expenses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within other gains/
(losses) in the period in which it arises.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFES:HREHE (£)
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets 2N RERHEMBERMEE (B)
(Continueq)

(ili) Measurement (Continued) (iii) & (&)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such

EXTH

REEBERBEANTEASMERERE -
EAREEEEREENREREZR
FEKRE RERREMEEKETES)
a'J%ZJJ:EE RIRE®R  MEBRESHOR
RN ERERERERZE - AKEIR
R AR - BRRE I E#

investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as BRIERT R AR MUE -
other income when the Group's right to receive payments
is established.
Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are BEATFEFABEZEHEELFESE
recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit B RBmETEMKE (BER) Bk
or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of R(ER)  BAFEFAEMEAEK
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at HETECREREREEBE (RBES
FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in BB TR EMAFEESDH
fair value. o

(iv) Impairment (iv) BE

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated with
its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.
The impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
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from initial recognition of the trade receivables and EHEAERERABHEHEE 515
contract assets, see Note 3.1(b) for further details. R FE3.1(D)
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (Continueq)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

(v) Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but has
elected not to restate comparative information. As a
result, the comparative information provided continues to
be accounted for in accordance with the Group’s previous
accounting policy.

Until 31 December 2017 the Group classifies its financial
assets in the following categories:

. loans and receivables and

o available-for-sale financial assets.

The classification determined on the purpose for which
the investments were acquired. Management determined
the classification of its investments at initial recognition
and, in the case of assets classified as held-to-maturity,
re-evaluated this designation at the end of each reporting
period. See Note 19 for details about each type of financial
asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFES:HREHE (£)
POLICIES (Continueq)
2.12 Investments and other financial assets 2N RERHEMBERMEE (B)
(Continueq)

(vi) Reclassification applied until 31 December 2017 (i) ERHZ=-ZF—+tH&E+=-HA=+—HWE

The Group could choose to reclassify a non-derivative
trading financial asset out of the held for trading category
if the financial asset was no longer held for the purpose of
selling it in the near term. Financial assets other than loans
and receivables were permitted to be reclassified out of
the held for trading category only in rare circumstances
arising from a single event that was unusual and highly
unlikely to recur in the near term. In addition, the Group
could choose to reclassify financial assets that would meet
the definition of loans and receivables out of the held for
trading or available-for-sale categories if the Group had
the intention and ability to hold these financial assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the date of
reclassification.

Reclassifications were made at fair value as of the
reclassification date. Fair value became the new cost or
amortised cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair value
gains or losses recorded before reclassification date were
subsequently made. Effective interest rates for financial
assets reclassified to loans and receivables and held-to-
maturity categories were determined at the reclassification
date. Further increases in estimates of cash flows adjusted
effective interest rates prospectively.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFES:HREHE (&)
POLICIES (Continueq)
2.12 Investments and other financial assets 2N RERHMEBEE (&)
(Continued)

(vii) Subsequent measurement applied until 31 (VilVERZ-Z—tHF+-A=+—HH#E

December 2017

The measurement at initial recognition did not change an
adoption of HKFRS 9, see description above.

Subsequent to the initial recognition, loans and receivables
and held-to-maturity investments were subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest

AR

ﬁJ:XT %ﬂl{:ﬁgu E’]H+EIT‘$-
%%W%/%Eﬂ%#&mﬁﬂﬂ%%}ﬂﬂ& £ o

RO GHERIL - ERMEBRRELFFE
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method.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at AHHES Fgﬂﬁ&&%ﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁ)\%@/\

FVPL were subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or MNeEMEEREUNATEYER - 2 FE

losses arising from changes in the fair value are recognised BEERERAT

as follows:

e for ‘financial assets at FVPL' — in profit or loss within e HR[EZEAFEFABZNEHE
other gains/(loss) El-itAEMkzE (BB A8

Bz
e for available-for-sale financial assets that are e HRIHLESHMEERIAIING

uﬂEE’J B MES  HEHEKA
""""" 85| R INE T E B AR
@ BREENEMES AR

monetary securities denominated in a foreign
currency — translation differences related to changes
in the amortised cost of the security were recognised

in profit or loss and other changes in the carrying 2 E W=
amount were recognised in other comprehensive
income
] HRoHBERA# Hj%ﬂ’\]ﬁ{miéﬁ%
e  for other monetary and non-monetary securities MRIEFEEEEFES-FTAEMLE
classified as available-for-sale — in other HE iz -

comprehensive income.

Details on how the fair value of financial instruments is
determined are disclosed in Note 3.3().

When securities classified as available-for-sale were sold,
the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in
other comprehensive income were reclassified to profit or
loss as other gains and losses from investment securities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFES:HREHE (£)
POLICIES (Continueq)
2.12 Investments and other financial assets 2N RERHEMBERMEE (B)
(Continueq)

(viii) Impairment applied until 31 December 2017 (il ERZ-Z—tF+=-A=+—HHHE

The Group assessed at the end of each reporting period AEBESNSREPRTH—BEL—

whether there was objective evidence that a financial CTRHEESSTERBRERE - f
asset or group of financial assets was impaired. A BEREZE “EHB’\%]J*FEEWQF{%?*E
financial asset or a group of financial assets was impaired — R EREFEEURE ([FEEMHF]) -

and impairment losses were incurred only if there was
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events)
had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that could
be reliably estimated. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost was
considered an indicator that the assets are impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

For loans and receivables, the amount of the loss was
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that had not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset
was reduced and the amount of the loss was recognised in
profit or loss. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment had
a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring
any impairment loss was the current effective interest rate
determined under the contract. As a practical expedient,
the Group could measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFES:HREHE (&)
POLICIES (Continueq)
2.12 Investments and other financial assets 2N RERHEMBERMEE (B)
(Continueqd)

(viii) Impairment applied until 31 December 2017 (Vi) EHZ=ZF—tFE+=-A=+—HHRE

(Continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreased and the decrease could be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s

B (&)

BHER A SR EE ()

R R ERRREBRSERL - R
EEM RN ERERERREE 2 FHAM
(PlanEBAGEFRRE) @ RIBER
REVREE1E 2 B X B e P FERR

credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised
impairment loss was recognised in profit or 10ss.
Impairment testing of trade receivables is described in B BRSO R E R A SR KR 3.1(0) ©
Note 3.1(b).

Assets classified as available-for-sale TEBURLENEE

If there was objective evidence of impairment for WAt EemEERFETMBERE
available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss — MEBFEE R EE (GRS A E
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost RERAFTENERE  RZemEENTE
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that RERABROEMRESETE) 2

financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss — was BiEmR NG - WEEEAER
removed from equity and recognised in profit or l0ss.

Impairment losses on equity instruments that were ERBEEARR s LERERBER
recognised in profit or loss were not reversed through Hiz M~ gRERFEE -

profit or loss in a subsequent period.

If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available- {hEA/Hié HE - 2B AAHEENES
for-sale increased in a subsequent period and the increase B o R EE M - B RN a] = E
could be objectively related to an event occurring after iﬂz ifE B R EBEREENS
the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the HEE - BN ERP R EREESE -

impairment loss was reversed through profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHBEHE42)
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.13 Offsetting financial instruments 213 SR T A

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business.
They are generally due for settlement within one year and
therefore are all classified as current.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See Note 22 for further information about the Group's
accounting for trade receivables and Note 3.1(b) for a
description of the Group’s impairment policies.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand and deposits held at call with
financial institutions.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 27).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESiHFEME &)
POLICIES (Continueq)
2.17 EFERF

2.17 Trade and other payables % & H i FE K

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are
usually paid within the credit term. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting

ZEFRRIEAEER Y RFEERA
ERHENERERBAINNEE -
AREREBEERICAREEERAXN -
ENRA R EMENRIBEZI SR A
& BRIEN A IR B E R 12EA R
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period. They are recognised initially at their fair value NEEER  BEEABERF XA ZEE
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the PRARETE o
effective interest method.

2.18 Borrowings 2.18 f&
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of BROTERAFERR  HREENR
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently PN o EREBILE K AGTE - F7

measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss as finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated
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and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to ﬁ{f%}\?ﬁﬂ%ﬁélﬂ C DUOBRBR 2 &0k
extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity swap), MoBE(ERHEERES) - AIBRIE
a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, which is EPTJE.: WS E  WIZSRAED

measured as the difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity
instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFESxBEHE(£)
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.19 Borrowing costs 2.19 EE KA

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the company
and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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POLICIES (Continueq)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

(Continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

(Continued)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.21 Employee benefits

)

(i)

HEEREEARAA |

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services
up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

The full-time employees of the Group are covered by
various government-sponsored pension plans in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") under which the
employees are entitled to a monthly pension based
on certain formulas. Contributions to these plans are
expensed as incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continueq)

2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

152

(iii) Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses and profit-sharing based on a formula that
takes into consideration the profit attributable to the
company's shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged
or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

(iv) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(@) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and
involves the payment of terminations benefits. In the case
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number
of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling
due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period are discounted to present value.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFESxBEHE(£)
POLICIES (Continueq)
2.22 Share-based payments 22 BB RER ZNAR

(i) Employee options (i) EEBERE

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Group’s employee option scheme,
the executive short-term incentive scheme and share
appreciation. Information relating to these schemes is set
out in Note 32.

The fair value of options granted under the employee
option scheme is recognised as an employee benefits
expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the

AEEZEBEEBRESS  TTHRAR
hﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ(@]ﬁiﬂ&kmi*@ﬁﬁéﬁfﬁu

DRERZFHMEN - ZFFENE
M%@E@Bﬁa}&o

EEBREZETRHBRENQT
EFER S IEBRANF S - WARE M FEE
- BIERXMBESEN2RER
HERENAFEERE

fair value of the options granted:

e including any market performance conditions (e.g. e BREEMMBRBEBRI(WEER
the entity’s share price); RMDER)

e excluding the impact of any service and non-market e NBEEEMKRELIEMSERER
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, B (AR -  HEERE
sales growth targets and remaining an employee of ERZEREENETHBREMT)
the entity over a specified time period), and MEE: &

e including the impact of any non-vesting conditions s BEEMEEEKE(WMBETREE
(e.g. the requirement for employees to save or S A RD —BIEFEHBAEE)
holdings shares for a specific period of time). L o

MXBEENEERE CGERMARER

]

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period,

which is the period over which all of the specified vesting BRENHE R RNEHER &
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, BeRBEIFMSEE RRBEEERE
the entity revises its estimates of the number of options HEEHA TEENERENEE - &
that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting HRBEFTET (WA T ERNERE
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the TR - WHERIERERE -

revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Share-based payments (Continued)

(ii) Share-based payment for cooperation with film

directors

Equity-settled share-based payments for cooperation
with film directors are measured at the fair value of the
goods or services received or the fair value of the equity
instrument granted if the fair value of goods or services
cannot be estimated reliably. The share-based payment
is recognised as expenses in accordance with “"HKFRS2 —
Share-based payment” unless the goods or services qualify
for recognition as assets.

2.23 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make
good obligations are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount can be
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFESxBEHE(£)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition 2.24 W TR
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration Wam TR AN B — R 75382 ok 85
received or receivable for the sales of goods or services in EEmIRBE R EWRE 2 ATE
the ordinary course of the Group's activities. = o
Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the goods WanEmal RBNIEHEEE TEP
or services is transferred to the customer. Depending BBER RTANBTRERRENN
on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to AR B o o AR TS B 1R I A ] AR R 3k
the contract, control of the goods or services may be ER—RRER -

transferred over time or at a point in time.

Control of the goods or services is transferred over time if WASEMNRAOFEATERE  BIEM

the Group'’s performance: o AR 765 HY 12 I R B B R 88 RS

e provides all of the benefits received and consumed e RHEZAMBENZ=BAREFREFIE
simultaneously by the customer, WHER

e creates or enhances an asset that the customer e BIENENEFLRASEELNR
controls as the Group performs; or ZHIMEE 5

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to s WARELAHASEBBERAZH
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to BE BASEBRBIMITEIN
payment for performance completed to date. WE2 5 B BAIRIFRIE ©

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, i E m sk R IE R = Hl R R E S - Al

revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by Wam T2 RTKHB RN T EAEER

reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction BHERER - TR WENEFER

of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is Eﬁiﬁﬁ“ﬁ’ﬁ iR R I — e B R o

recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains MR M aR Y A BB R AR A0 SRt o

control of the goods or services. Specific criteria where
revenue is recognised are described below.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continuead)

)

156

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated statement of
financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability,
depending on the relationship between the entity’s
performance and the customer’s payment.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right
to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before
the Group transfers a good or service to the customer,
the Group presents the contract as a contract liability
when the payment is made or a receivable is recorded
(whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or service to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time
is requited before payment of that consideration is due.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been
met for the Group’s activity as described below:

Content production

The Group invests in and produce entertainment content
such as film and TV programmes series.

Revenue is recognised at point in time when the control of
the entertainment content is transferred to the customers
so that the customers can direct the use and obtain
associated benefit.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continuead)

(ii) Agency commission and service income

Agency commission and service income from property
agency is recognised at point in time when a formal
agreement among the transacted parties is established.

2.25 Film investment income

Film investment income are recognised in profit or loss
when the right to receive payment is established.

2.26 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at FVPL and at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) (2017 - from financial assets at FVPL
and available-for-sale financial assets). Dividends are
recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right
to receive payment is established. This applies even if they
are paid out of pre-acquisition profits, unless the dividend
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of an
investment. In this case, the dividend is recognised in OCI
if it relates to an investment measured at FVOCI. However,
the investment may need to be tested for impairment as a
consequence.

2.27 Interest income

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see Note 11 below. Any other
interest income is included in other income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.27 Interest income (Continueq)

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

2.28 Earnings per share

)

(ii)

158

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

o the profit attributable to equity owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity
other than ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and
excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account:

o the after income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

o the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

2 FEEHHEBMEGE)

2.27 FMEB WA (&)

MEBWARHERMNZRASBEER
HABAERL  EREBRLEEERE
MEREERI - REERENERE
EmE  EFNSKRAZRERN R
TREBEEREFR (KB ERE®R) F
H o

2.28 ZIREF

() BREXRR

BRERBNZAETER

FERAREEREA AN ZEN
N EIEE B ASN 2 A ] S 4
a8 K AN BR A

R BEEAD ETEBRZ NEFH
B ERABTZEBRZANTEE
HAA AR Y T BIEEFRD -

SRHERF
BREERNARBESRELS RN
P A 2 B PAGT I

e HEEBELTARBBEZIMNER
HBEKRRNZBRAEHRETE

Pl

e BRIEMBEBCEHBTEBRBE
Al RE BT ZBINE BB INIE
FHE -

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e W R AR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFESxBEHE(£)
POLICIES (Continueq)

2.29 Leases 229 HE

PrBEREANE D Bk & BRI SR
EREEWERABAN)NEEDHD R
RIEHE (HFE30) - REBEKEHEE
B9 3R (FRBR B H A U B (E /]2
BIREHARAEREEBREAE -

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group
as lessee are classified as operating leases (Note 30).
Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.30 Dividend distribution 2.30 R E 2K
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend PR RS HIR S 2 AIE EIR1E R )& H

declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer KEMADENEERTMAS (B#E

at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of ERERTHBAETEENBERE) HFIE

the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the YE B -

reporting period.

2.31 Government grants 2.31 BUF /B

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks
and how these risks could affect the Group’s future financial
performance. Current year profit or loss information has been
included where relevant to add further context.

The Group’s management monitors and manages the financial
risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk
reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of
risks. These risks include market risk (including foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

There has been no change to the types of the Group's exposure
in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.

3.1 Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk
(i)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC with most
of the transactions denominated and settled in RMB, the
functional currency of relevant group entities.

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of HK$ and
United States Dollars (“USD"), arising from foreign currency
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other payables, amounts due to related parties
and borrowings.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BREBEBERE (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continuea) 3.1 MEREBRER (&)
(@) Market risk (Continued) (@) miZEMR(E)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) () SrEREE(E)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency AEBRBREPRAIINESFEZEERE
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at EREEEEZERBENT

the end of reporting period are as follows:

Liabilities Assets
afE BE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\F —Z—+F ZZB-NF —T—+F
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BETT BETT BETT

HK$ s (46,958) (126,727) 4,645 40,251
usD & (182,340) (77,660) 1,060 1,080
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
(2017: 5%) increase and decrease RMB against the above
foreign currencies. 5% (2017: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents the management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. A (negative)/positive number below
indicates an (increase)/decrease in loss where the above
foreign currencies strengthen 5% (2017: 5%) against
RMB. For a 5% (2017: 5%) weakening of the above foreign
currencies against RMB, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the loss for the year.

BEEREEERAA | =F-N\EEH

TRAJAKERARE X L SNEE
REFARTRES% (ZE—1HF:5%) 2
FWE 5% (ZF—+t % :5%) JA=E
B A B pLoNE E e 1F A B R A R
H%Z@S(WfttT RREEEINERE
REHIR BB E B MIEL 2 7F (4
T%EP (B 8/ IE%(?ET’\%‘J:%;M\%”
ARBTES% (ZF— L5 :5%) KE
Bz B/ W e 1&1J:L9\\?H§EJ\E
WRESS (T — 1% :5%)  BleH
AEEBHRERFAFEE < HRYR -

161



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘lT\

R A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z— N\F+_A=+—HILFE

3

162

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

3

MERRER (Z)
1 BEREBREE(Z)
(a) mERAR(E)

() SMEmBE(E)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ook

Increase in loss for the year PG k=l
HKS ok (1,587) (3,243)
usD E% (6,798) (2,872)

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances because these
balances carry interest at prevailing rates but the directors
considers the impact would be immaterial as they are of
short maturity.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate borrowing (Note 25). The directors
consider that the fair value risk in relation to the fixed-rate
borrowing is insignificant as the borrowing has a short
maturity period.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy in relation to fair value and cash flow
interest rate risks. The directors monitor the Group's
exposure on an ongoing basis and will consider hedging
the interest rate risk should the need arise.

(i) 7z Bz

ANEBE AT 8T BIRTTA AR 23R
ﬁ/ﬂu%%”uﬁﬂﬁw\ ’ .ﬁ;%i#ﬁﬁ%l’){iﬁfrj——
MEFFR - BERRZFERTINERR
A ESR/MRBETELIEK-

AREE A REENXREFREH 2L
FEMERRE (ME25) BEFRR &
PAE SRV JE R BATR R 8 - B8R B E A K
EFAEZ A FERRIETNEK -

AREE B A EEMNEIFEMEER
ENEEARABOMNEEIRR -EF
FEEERARERR UHRARER
ZRE MR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIBREBRER (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continuea) 3.1 MEREKBEZ (&)

(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) MHERAR(E)

(if) Interest rate risk (Continuead) (i) FIFEmEE (&)
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
Regarding the cash flow interest rate risk, the sensitivity FREMEMNEZRRMET - TXHRE
analysis below have been determined based on the AT TIRBER B EHRAAR 2 IETE
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments Iﬂﬂfﬂ R METE © BLFBRITER
at the end of the reporting period. For variable-rate MmsE DM HBRERREBREREE
bank deposits, the analysis is prepared assuming the ZHBAEEcERNBEEFTFEARNARE
amount of the relevant asset outstanding at the end of BMAEH o BN R S0 EER (ZF
the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. —t¢ CBOMEEE) REKREEE T
A 50 basis points (2017: 50 basis points) increase or FEAgEER B

decrease represents the management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2017: 50 basis s ) =32 08 > SO A E B (=

points) higher/lower and all other variables were held F50MMER) - ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ“%{%ﬁ%

constant, the Group's loss for the year ended 31 December T AEERBE_ZT-N\F+H

2018 would have decreased/increased by approximately =t+—BLEFEZEBBBRLD, N

HK$594,000 (2017: HK$93,000). HBHES94,000t (ZF—tF: 8%
93,0007T) °
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIBREBRER (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 M¥REBEE (&)

(b) Credit risk (b) EERE

(i)  Risk management () EEEEE
Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The credit risk of EERRIEEBEEETRE - ASEHE
the Group mainly arises from financial assets, cash and fiﬂ I;&KQ iﬁﬂﬁ% ReRkBEe
cash equivalents, trade receivables, deposit and other LME - RUER - e R H AL EYGIA -
receivables. The carrying amounts of these balances EZ%%%%WEEETEEZK’E%QEQEE
represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in FrERzzaEER

relation to financial assets.

In respect of cash deposited at banks, the credit risk is REARTHEESME  FERRES
considered to be low as the counterparties are reputable ARBE ZEARSHFAEERINR
banks. The existing counterparties do not have defaults in T - RERXRGEFUTRBEEBED -
the past. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of cash at At - RITHEESMBHEEEEBL X
bank is assessed to be close to zero and no provision was BRELINRT MR- \F+=AH
made as at 31 December 2018. =+ —BWRFREME -

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the AR EERBBRERK AEETEE
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination EZk—BEBEEEEEERSE 58
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring EH R EMEERE - UEREREURE
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to TEY AU EI B BRE TS o BN - AEE R
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the WEARRNSEREIE 2 ATKE£5E -
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of LARE R BE ARl 2 © FERHR R SR B
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment BE -t ARAREETRAELAEE 2
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, EERRDRARE -

the directors of the Company consider that the Group'’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 92% (2017: ARERAEERE AR 2 AN R
88%) of the total trade receivables was due from the BRAREERN92% (=% *ti 1 88%) -
Group's largest customer. AEEGFEEREER
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIBREBRER (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 1 BERBEZE(Z)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREKZ)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (i) ZmFEERE

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected credit
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The Group has
performed historical analysis and identified the key
economic variables impacting credit risk and expected
credit loss. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information.

As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables and contract
assets that are individually significant have been separately
assessed for impairment. The Group makes periodic
assessments on the recoverability of the receivables
based on the background and reputation of the customers,

AEBERELHBRELERFIFHR
ERABE T AR EEEETRE
o BB REERERE
HEHEEERRE - Z%ﬁg%ﬁiﬂ;ﬁ{%,\
BiE - BUERREEHNEECRER
HEE =R ﬁ!&i&ﬁﬁﬁﬂi%( DA e K’i
BEETELON  IREFEEER
BREMEEBRNEIZLELE T
EZEAMHEMSIE R AR HAATE
B -

R=ZZE—N\F+=—A=+—H BEHE
AERNERERRENEESEBEIT
WETE AEBERBEEFHNBESRE
2 FErEEIHS BALREAIHE
B& 1R B BIRIR S 5 A9 pTRE 14 & R E

historical settlement records, past experience and BRI e
available, reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z— N\F+_A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIREBEBERE(£Z)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 M¥REBEE (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continuead) (b) EERE (&)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continuea) (i) £FZEWRME(E)
The Group classifies its trade receivables and contract AEEEEFPEREFHOMHE S HEEBUIRR
assets by nature of customer accounts. These include &AZ’J BEETHE HPBFEEER
customer from media and entertainment related business; IREEAERAZETS - IR E R IR R
provision of property agency related services and URFELHEEMEENRR

securities trading and investments.

Lifetime
expected Gross Lifetime
credit loss carrying expected Net carrying
rate amount credit loss amount
2HEH 2HEH
EEBRE FHAH EEER RERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT
At 31 December 2018 RZB-NE
+ZA=1-H
Customers from media and BERRAEBERZEF
entertainment related business
Provision on individual basis RENEET RERE 0% 144,391 - 144,391
Customers from provision of property ~ RENERERBERE2EF
agency related services
Provision on collective basis REREEHRRE 73% 349 (257) 92
144,740 (257) 144,483
At 1 January 2018 W=Z-NE-A-H
Customers from media and BERREEEERZER
entertainment related business
Provision on individual basis RENEESREE 0% 1792 = 1,792
Customers from provision of property ~ RENEREREREEF
agency related services
Provision on collective hasis REREEHREE 90% 2,424 2,175) 249
4216 2.175) 2,041
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(if) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets as at 31 December 2018 reconcile to the

R E A

n\/-_r\

g A=t HlEE
3 MEBERERE(E)

3.1 MBEREE (&)

(b) {EERRE (E)

(i) 2BEERE ()

RZZBE-NF+-A=+—8" EBY¥KE
RRBNEENHREBERREREBTN

opening loss allowances as follows: BEREHHERAT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T okt e
1 January - (2017: calculated R—B—B-(=2—tF : R
under HKAS 39; 2018: BRI ERFEI9RAE
calculated under HKFRS 9) ZE-N\F REEBRVBRE
EHFEIETE) 2,175 2,278
Receivables written off during the year 4 P B 7 48 52 Uk [0 T 4l 65 &9
as uncollectible J& W FRIE (1,918) 69)
Receivables recovered during the year 4 Uk [B] &9 f& Uk F0 I8 = (34)
At 31 December BR+=—A=+—8 257 2,175

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The credit quality of the other receivables has been
assessed with reference to historical information about
the counterparties default rates and financial position
of the counterparties. The directors are of the opinion
that the credit risk of other receivables is low due to
the sound collection history of the receivables due
from them. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of the
other receivables is assessed to be close to zero and no
provision was made as at 31 December 2018.

BEEREEERAA | =F-N\EEH

REHERAGTENREMEREE

Hit BN EEERNE2EHMH
RHHFROE RPN E L EF
BE -BEERS HREFRNHZE
USSR IR B9 W R RE 8 R 4F - RS At FE IR
HEMEERBRBIE - Fitt - H i &K

EHFREE BB RFEREANT

MR T N\F+ZA=+—BI R
RBEE -
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= NEr=H=4—HIEERE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HBRKRER (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) MERBEZE(Z)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) REBELRAR
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and cash RZZE—-—NF+=ZA=Z+—8"
equivalents of approximately HK$158,528,000, amounts AEEHEReRRASEEHEY
due to related parties of approximately HK$92,467,000 and 158,528,000 7T * FE{J BEE A T RIEAH
short-term borrowings of approximately HK$295,307,000. B #92,467,000 7T K 52 HA 8 K40 B B
The directors of the Company have taken certain 295,307,000 7T ° #kaAFTEE2.1(a ﬁﬂ)ﬁi&%
measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure as disclosed AARERDHIRE THEERSREE
in Note 2.1(a). Management will also closely monitor the BN -ERERBENERBEHAIER
situation to ensure that appropriate alternative actions are PATEIREREUE 2 B R 15 i
taken.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities TEREREEN SR A BIRRHEER
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining BARRBREEBE A NI E BB F &
period at the consolidated statement of financial position HABR 7o AX AR B RO B ERZR B3 1T D 4T © MR
date to the contractual maturity date. Balances due within REEIRZEWAE K - 1218 A A2 H
12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of B AR E RN HBRE 45
discounting is not significant.
Weighted ~ On demand Total
Contractual maturities of average  orless than 1-3 3months  undiscounted Carrying
financial liabilities interest rate 1 month months to1year  cashflows amount
AEEXY, ARERS
SRARNEHEER nEFHRE  SR-ER  -EZ@R =fAE-% HEHE BEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
BETT BETT BETT i BETT
2018 “2-0\%
Non-derivative financial liabilities 7= $HAE
Trade and other payables EREFRAMENTE 79,487 - - 79,487 79,487
Amounts due to related parties K;Eﬁﬁé@At/ 3 - 46,930 45,537 92,467 92,467
Borrowings &3 3.0% 18,021 - 277,564 295,585 295,307
97,508 46,930 323,101 467,539 467,261
2017 ZE-tf
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ %fi4 ¢REE
Trade and other payables ERESRAENTE 15,816 = = 15,816 15,816
Amount due to a related party ,uﬁ ZEBEALIE - = 120000 120000 120000
Borrowing &R 30% = = 78,663 78,663 71500
45816 - 198,663 204479 23316
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

3.3

HEEREEARAA |

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt which
includes amounts due to related parties, and borrowings
in Notes 34 and 25, respectively and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associates with each class
of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt or reduction in capital.

Fair value estimation
Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made
in determining the fair values of the financial instruments
that are recognised and measured at fair value in the
financial statements. To provide an indication about the
reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the
Group has classified its financial instruments into the three
levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An
explanation of each level follows underneath the table.

As at 31 December 2018, there is no financial instrument
measured at fair value.

—B-N\EER

IQF

R E A

=i A=+ HIEEE

3 MBREBREE(E)

3.2

3.3

(0

EXER

AEFBEREERN  UHRAKEZE
BRENEERELE  RABEEKE
B RS EREL  BERRERZAE
]oAEE BRRBAFETFERER -

AEBEzEARBREER (2R D5
B0 P RE34 R 25 2 e BR8N £ KA
KEFR) RARBERE ARG (B
EBRTRAREEREFRE)

ARRIESTEHEHEARRE - ERIL
BHTIEZ &0 EFEREAKN
REERER ZERARER - NEE KR
BEEROZER BBRBTHROK
BT ERSE MR B EESEIRER
FEHEBBENRERE -

AT B
D ERBRB

REMREERN B RRPERLRA
$@ﬁgm%ﬂlﬂ SRR Y #)
i & fhst - RISHEBEE R TFEMA
WMABBZAISEMER  AEEERS
AEARESEERIAS R=EFR -
BEFERNTRETEM -

R-E-NF+-A=+—8 #ER
NFEFEZERIE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z— N\F+_A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIREBEBERE(£Z)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 DT EME(E)
(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) AFERERBHRAE)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—H £/ E=1 k)
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
M &E BT BET T BT BT
Recurring fair value AR FEE
measurements
At 31 December 2017 R=B—-+t#
+T=ZA=t+-H
Financial assets CREE
Film rights investments EYMERE 21 - - 23,980 23,980
There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for FRN EE—RRBE_R2BELELL
recurring fair value measurements during the year. For BUHATEFESETEE F=4FE
transfers in and out of level 3 measurements see (iii) RO A 288 H 552 B0 T X (i) 18
below.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and AEEBREEBRRBRERRAFE
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of EERRMEARETIER -

the reporting period.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3

)

(ii)

HEEREEARAA |

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and
equity securities) is based on quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation technigues
which maximise the use of observable market data and
rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity
securities.

Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include discounted cash flow.

—B-N\EER

n\/-_r\

R E A

=i A=+ HIEEE

3 MBREBREE(E)

3.3

(i)

(ii)

DR EMEE(E)
DV ERBHER (F)

E-R:-EERMSLLEENSRITA
(MARBEEMETARBRAZESR) A
FEDERBEHROMSRESTE -
AEEMFEREERANTSRES
ERERE ZETAHASE—H-

FoR AEEBRTHE LEENERT
B (BT TE) IR FERBMGE
BEREETE ZEMERERERAT
BRMBEE IR M TEERE
EfbEr o W ETAQAFEMEMNERKR
BWABURHAIEE  ARTAFAEZ
i

B=R M —BAHAZRERGAREL
FUABEMSRELSER  AIZTA
AR =R - HRFELTEAZLZME
B2t -

RAREEAFENGELE

ARFHER T AEENAE
@?ﬁgﬁfﬁiﬁﬁ/mi °©
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continueq)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii) Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3
items for the periods ended 31 December 2018 and 31

3 HXERERE(E)
3.3 AFEME(E)

(iii) FAEXRRABEGARBETATE
FE(E=ZR

TERENWNBE-ZT—N\F+_A=+—
E&_%’*‘tiJF_H:JF*EJJ:,HHFEﬁ

December 2017: E=RIBENES
Unlisted
equity Film rights
securities  investments Total
FEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BETIT BT TT
Opening balance N=—ZT—tHF—H—H
1 January 2017 Y HA 4 45 8 208 72,254 72,462
Addition BB - 23,121 23,121
Derecognition RIEFER - (75,145) (75,145)
Loss recognised in other losses R E M EBHER Z E18 (208) (208)
Exchange differences I N ZE78 - 3,750 3,750
Closing balance R-B—+tHE+=A
31 December 2017 =+— BHEIRERR - 23,980 23,980
Addition AR = 15,036 15,036
Fair value gains N EYEE - 137,973 137,973
Derecognition RIETER - (176,622) (176,622)
Exchange differences IE X ZE78 — (367) (367)

Closing balance
31 December 2018

R-B-NE+ZA
=+ - BENERAE

The key unobservable input is the expected cash inflow
generated from the financial assets.

IZFAEERGARBREREEES
MBHRES R
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom
equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise
judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

(@) Revenue and film investment income
derived from content production

The directors of the Company considered whether it
was appropriate to recognise the revenue from content
production and film investment income of approximately
HK$174,346,000 (2017: HK$52,772,000) in the current
year, which is in line with the Group's general policy of
recognising revenue and film investment income as set
out in Note 2.24 and 2.25.

In making the judgement, the directors of the Company
considered the detailed criteria included satisfying the
performance obligation and the right to receive payment
for the recognition of revenue and film investment
income from content production set out in the applicable
standards. In the event where the aforementioned criteria
are met but the final statement of the relevant film has not
yet been received, judgement is required to estimate the
revenue and related costs from the film investment.

(b) Classification of film investment

The Group has entered into film investment agreements
with counterparties on certain film and TV programmes
right to produce and/or distribute films. Judgement
is required to determine whether the Group has joint
controls on these investments. For investments where
the Group has joint control over these arrangements as
under the contractual agreements, unanimous consent is
required from all parties to the agreements for all relevant
activities. These investments are classified as film and
TV programmes rights under production or film and TV
programmes rights completed. When joint controls cannot
be demonstrated, the investments are classified as film
rights investments. The determination of the relevant
activities under joint arrangements requires management'’s
significant judgement.

BEEREEERAA | =F-N\EEH

4 EERMEETRFAE

RAEGAVBHRRABERG A BEE
& HﬂE’J\%H,\B’?\%% - EIRE IRARM
AEBH ST REETTHIE -

A RAGHFHERAEER R EMEARLE
ﬁuﬂﬁ ERREABATHRES/SSENT
EHZERBELVBEEORREHER -

(@ ARBFEELECREREFRE
L ON

KRREEEZEERNAFEERRRAN
AEEZREZREXZERERALE
¥ 174,346,000 (Z 2 —+EF : B
52,772,00070) R R HEE  WEFE Bﬁ
224 225FTE B A & B R =
BEREWRAZ —RREBUR -

RELHERS - RAREZEEZRER
EAIFME 2 FRFE  BRELERRE
NBEEEZ Wam NEFRERATKE
%EE&%iWWHmZ%ﬂ (ESE=)

AT H R K BIHBEER &R
% A ERREELEM RS RIARH
P75 8 R

(b) EXRENDE

AEECHETEY RERBMREER
SHFIVEZREBRNRER X
BROTEY BTAKERLHZERE
BB AREBIETERHE - HRAE
BIRBESDHBRYZFLEHEA LR
HENKRE  MEHEBESHAEME
BEATNT—BRAE - ZEFRENER
SUER 2 EX NERBIRELD TKLZ
EXLERBIRE - MEEBAEA R
FEHIHE - A BRBIRED B RELRE
BRE - BEREARBEBHALHETL
MRS ELEAHE
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4 EBEMFTRAEE)

(Continued)

(c) Measurement of film and TV programmes () PEREFEEZEEZRERA

rights classified as intangible assets,
and impairment of license and software
development costs

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the
Company assessed the amortisation policy and expected
useful lives of the film and TV programmes rights classified
as intangible asset, license and software development
costs. The determination of amortisation policy and
expected useful lives requires management’s significant
judgement.

Other than the amortisation, the directors also assessed
whether impairment indicator exists on film and TV
programmes rights, license and software development
costs and provide impairment up to its recoverable
amount. For film and TV programmes rights, the
assessment was made on a film-by-film basis. The
recoverable amount of the film and TV programmes
rights was determined based on the present value of
the expected future cash flow generated from the film
and TV programmes rights less future cost of revenue. In
respect of the Group's license and software development
costs, together with the licensed film and TV programmes
rights available for subscription on the Group's internet
broadcasting platform they are the essential elements of
the Group's internet broadcasting platform. Management
identified the Group’s internet broadcasting platform as
a cash-generating unit (the “Platform CGU"), which is
the basis for impairment assessment of Group’s license,
software development costs and film and TV programmes
rights available for subscription. The recoverable amount
of the Platform CGU was determined based on the present
value of the expected future cash flow generated from the
Platform CGU.

IRENGTE - FFAIR RSB
B AR (B

REBEHR  NRAREFHEFNEHD
BRENVAECEY RERBIRE  &F
A 55 B R 1 3 B AN B 8 B RO e TR AT
A fE AR - B2 EATLEE T B S BUR
KI8T I AR R EAVE B R A -

BREEH N ERTAEERXREGRE
fRiE - FFRA R REMHERARS R

WEDR - WEHR T B BEE AT Y6 ¢ 58
R ERE - LEX R ERBEINRENS
SIS MELEAEEIT - BEXRER
BIfR#E 2 AT BB IRBEES R ER
BIRR#E B A 2 TR HA R R ER & = R e
KRR ZIREERE - EASER T
BREHERBRAME - ERAEEE
WM LA ERBENEEEZEY
REEBIME  HRAERBEEBEET
ENEETEZ BEEBLAEENESE
BT RERRSELBAMA([FAIA
SEEBAM])  WAXEEFUE ®
HHRERARAIHABE ZEZRERE
IREREFENER  FRBESELAS
A REEEIRETFRASELS
NESZBRRRESREZREETE
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

HEEREEARAA |

Measurement of film and TV programmes
rights classified as intangible assets,

and impairment of license and software
development costs (Continuead)

In determining the recoverable amount of film and TV
programmes rights, license and software development
costs, the Group takes into consideration both internal
and external market information, for example, the sales
forecasts, the production, sales and distribution costs
budget and the general economic condition of the relevant
markets.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of film
and TV programmes rights classified as intangible asset,
license and software development costs amounted to
approximately HK$762,619,000 (2017: HK$505,125,000),
HK$540,000 (2017: nil) and HK$15,745,000 (2017:
HK$21,017,000), respectively. The directors of the
Company determined that no impairment provision to be
charged to film and TV programmes rights, license and
software development costs during the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: same). Changes in assumptions
used in this assessment, including the forecasted revenue,
may result in additional provision being made in the
consolidated financial statements.

Estimated impairment of prepayments for
film and TV programmes rights

At the end of each reporting period, the management
of the Group assesses whether the impairment of
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights based
on the contract terms on agreements, estimated budget
of the proposed production and the progress on how the
prepayment has been used.

Based on the management’s assessment on the
recoverability of prepayments of film and TV programmes
rights, the directors of the Company determined that no
impairment provision to be charged to prepayments of
film and TV programmes rights during the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: same).

—B-NEEH

nVT\

R E A

=i A=+ HIEEE

4 EERfFRAEE)

(c)

(d)

TRRENEEZERXRERE
Wﬁﬂﬁﬁ:a~%fﬁ§&$ﬂ¢ﬁﬁ%
FARE (&)

BEEXLEREIRE - FFA & RERMAF
FERARZFIROEHEK  AEEZR
WINEE TS E KL flansHE R TEA - &
e SHE RBITHATEE - ARBET
R R EAR ©

R-_ZE—N\F+_A=+—8 54
EBEVEEZEZREREIRE 7
ABERRGRAERAZEEEBED B A
#) 7B ¥ 762,619,000 (ZFE—£F 1 /&
# 505,125,000 78) 78 ¥ 540,000 7T (=
T—tF &) RAB15,745,0007T (=

—+4F : F#21,017,0007C) ° KA
RABEERAE RNEE-Z—N\FE+_A
=t+—HIEFETEREREETAE
TR EBREINRKE - 570 & &W#Eﬂ%*%
K(ZZF—+F : M8RA) - BEZT A
ABE (BEREAKE) - AT B4R
AU BHmEPER %&i&h%&ﬁ °

B R B AR B AR T A R i

e

REBEHR  AEEEEEENHZ
ZEHMGRK  BRERZAAEERE
FRERBIRERMNRZERBR - H
RN R RIEE TS

REEEEBRER RERBIRERMK
A EM G ARREERE R
BE_ZT-N\FT_A=+T—HLHFE
W ERERER T ATR LERERE
AR (ZZE—tF: 8R) -
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R A

= NEr=H=4—HIEERE

REVENUE AND FILM INVESTMENT INCOME

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year, net of sales
related tax, is as follows:

WERkELREWRA

FRAEERKE (NBRESHEBTE) S
W

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T T
Revenue derived from content production R ARVEE 4 Hy Iz
— Sublicensing and sales of film and AEREEEY RERE RE
TV programmes rights 23,612 52,772
— Share of box office income —DEEFKRA 12,761 =
Film rights investment income (Note) B MR A WA (B ) 137,973 =
Property agency commission and REANMERERE R
service income in Hong Kong Rk 75 W A 286 437
174,632 53,209
Note: P &E -
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group is entitled to proceeds REBE_ZE-\F+ZA=+—HILFE FEBE

from certain film rights investment of approximately HK$176,622,000
based on the Group's investment portion as specified in respective film
right investment agreements. The Group has recognised the net gain of
approximately HK$137,973,000 as film rights investment income.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The CODM has been identified as the executive directors
who review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CODM has determined
the operating segments based on these reports.

The CODM assesses the performance based on a measure
of loss before income tax and considers all businesses to be
included in a single operating segment.

The Group's operations are currently organised into one
reportable segment which is investment in film and TV
programmes rights. Other segments do not meet the reportable
segment threshold thus they are not separately included in the
reports provided to the CODM. The results of these operations
are included in the ‘others’ column.

%;ﬁé%%&ﬁ&ﬁé&ém;ﬁm AR EBEELHE
W UEE T B RAEIR & AT15 3R IE 4075 1 176,622,000
TC o AL BB U F 58 4978 %5 137,973,000 JT HE R £

BRI E WA -

7 EBE
PTESCRBHAEEEERRE BE
EHNAEBONBRE - FEFERERS

RER TERERKECREBEZSEREE

B
TERLEDE o

T ERERREENGR SN A ERFE
XA UERTAAE—REDBHRBEL

AEENEEXRTRERA A2
ED%%&E@@I’%JH&%&Q HAt D B AR
AZ2RDHHNFEER RS EARHET
Igﬂéﬂ“**/}& REMMEPEBZY) - ZFX
BREGEHATEMIA -

A

AN
(=)

}
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E A

=i A=+ HIEEE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continueq) 6 DEBER(E)
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and REERKERAEHR D MBME D 2 W Mk E
results by operating and reportable segments: BEOWWT :
Investment in film and
TV programmes rights Others Consolidated
EYREREMERE -4 Ga
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-\f F-+F ZE-\f Z5-tF ZE-Nf CZEt%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BB BETR BETT BETT BETT
(Represented) (Represented) (Represented)
(&@%3)) (7)) (mE5])
Segment revenue Al
- Sblicensing and sales of film and -ARRLEEY REREIRIE
TV programmes rights 23,612 5,172 - - 23,612 5,172
- Share of box office income ~-MEEERA 12,761 - - - 12,761 -
- Property agency commission and -RERNNERERER
service income in Hong Kong TR - - 286 437 286 137
Film rights investment incorne SYMERERA 137,973 - - - 137,973 -
174,346 52772 286 437 174,632 53,209
Timing of revenue recognition YRR
Ata point in time E-RREY 36,373 52,772 286 437 36,659 53,209
Segment (oss)/profit AR (ER) /A (244,921) (18829) (521) 4039 (245,442) (14,786)
Unallocated corporate expenses Az EXAR (165,026) 80371)
Finance costs, net HBER 58 (15,796) 2
Loss hefore tax BEAEE (426,264) 95,159)
Incomne tax expense RS (18,429) =
Loss for the year TERFE (444,693) (95,159)
Other information (included in measure of - E & (3t A28 (58) /
segment (loss)/profit) Al
Share-hased payment for cooperation it~ E—ZEFEEAEZURGA
afim director ER AR (270,000) - - -
Other income HA 32 4,661 10 1415
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment g BRERSEIFE (1,164) (1,056) (1 )
Amortisation of intangible assets BVAECBH (5,027) (2.251) = -
Amortisation of fim and TV programmes rights e ERARE LR (80,477) (56,640) - -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HWENZ  BERAEER
equipment (29) - - -
Gain on change in fair valug of investments B EEREZ ATEEY
held for trading e - - - 3747
Impairment oss on available-for-sale A ESHEE HERR
financial assets NAFER (09  NATER -
BEEREBERAF | —E—N\FER 177
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6
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuead) 6

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 2. Segment
(loss)/profit represents the (loss)/profit from each segment
without allocation of unallocated corporate expenses (which
mainly include certain administrative expenses and exchange
loss) and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

TEER (E)

%‘E‘%ﬁv‘%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁZé‘ﬂﬁﬁlﬁéﬁiﬁﬁﬁzﬁtﬁﬁ
Z BT BEAMR - A (BE) 5 FE
”*BEﬁ(J@ETE)//m?F' 1830 & 75 BL R 7 EBJL
FAX (XTERRETITRAXRERLER)
RFBER WAL ERERKEFEREM

A X REERAREERAGTERT

Segment assets and liabilities PTHMEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities RUEHRsHE s 2 A EBEERBED N
by reportable segments: wmr
Investment in film
and TV programmes rights Others Consolidated
EYREREIMERE it g
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-\f ZE-tf ZB-Nf ZE-t§f ZE-N\F CZTtf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BT BB BT AT
(Represented) (Represented) (Represented)
(m=5) (m=5) (m=35)
ASSETS EE
Segment assets PEHEE 1,685,455 998,411 182 399 1,685,637 998,810
Unallocated assets FOMEE 7912 47717
Total assets EERS 1,693,549 1,046,527
LIABILITIES aff
Segment liabilities PEAE (786,380) (41,650) (3,959) (3654)  (790,339) (45,304)
Unallocated liabilities KAEEE (244,542) (209,056)
Total liabilities BELER (1,034,881) (254,360)
Additions to non-current assets*  EEIFREEE* 28117 219,19 = =
* Other than financial assets and deferred tax & TEESREERELERIE
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6

Segment assets and liabilities (Continuea)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and

allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain property, plant and equipment, certain other
receivables and certain cash and cash equivalents; and

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain other payables, amounts due to related

parties, borrowings and certain tax payable.

Entity-wide disclosures

Geographical information

The Group's current operations are mainly located in the PRC

and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue net of tax is presented
based on the location of the operations of the relevant business

2EER (F)
THEERERE(E)

REEDBRREESHEIEEIR

- Fﬁﬁ%ﬁ&%@ﬂ:ﬁtﬂ W ED - EETY
% BB REE BT HOBKRFIER
HTHRE LR FERIN 0 R

- HMAEREIEENEZ2HOE - ST
fll T SRR - ENRE AL ROR - &
RE TR HBERIN

EREEAKE
ih & & #
AREBRBEONERETSURPRELEE -

AEE 2w (MEHRE) ERRBBEKE
NMeRBHMEHES - HEEMEMEI D 2K

units. Information about the Group’s non-current assets SEERDEE (TRESRIE) ERFIE
(excluding financial instruments) by geographical location of the R
assets are detailed below:
Revenue Non-current assets
Wi RBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZE—+F ZEBE-NF —ZT—tHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT BT T BT
Hong Kong ab 286 437 136,476 127,071
The PRC s 174,346 52,772 277,478 336,013
174,632 53,209 413,954 463,084
BEEREBERAF | —E—N\FER 179
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

TEER (E)

Information about major customers

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, revenue from
customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of
the total revenue and film investment income of the Group are

FEEFEHR

BE_Z-N\FR-_ZT—+tF+_-_A=+—
BULEFE RERFETEFPHASEA WS
REZREWVRANERB10% 2 WM T

as follows:
2018 2017
—2-N\F —T£F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Customer A’ EEA 82,977 =
Customer B ZFEB 47,780 =
Customer C! BEC N/AFEF? 46,243
Customer D' XFED - 5,759

L The revenue was derived from investment in film and TV programmes

! Wamka+EEFZRERBIRERE -

rights in the PRC.
2 The corresponding customer did not contribute over 10% of the total

revenue and film investment income of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with
customers

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities
related to contracts with customers:

TEER (E)
HEFENEBNEERER

AEECHEAUNTEEFPENERNEER
afE:

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
Current contract assets relating to NAREBBERNREENEE
content production 5,220 -
Loss allowance B = -
Total contract assets BREERTE 5,220 -
Current contract liabilities relating AAREEBBANRBIE A
to content production 528,652 -
Significant changes in contract assets and liabilities BHNEEREENERED

Contract assets represented unbilled revenue arisen from the
sub-licensing of film and TV programmes rights in accordance
with the payment term of the underlying contracts.

Contract liabilities mainly represented the receipt of
RMB464,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$528,233,000)
in respect of a guaranteed minimum distribution income total
RMB700,000,000 from distribution of a film during the year ended
31 December 2018. This contract liability has been recognised as
revenue subseqguent to year end. The amount disclosed above
does not include variable consideration which is constrained.

BEEREEERAA | =F-N\EEH

BREERERERBEA N XN GEFREN R
BEXNERBIREELNARFE R -

E>

SHBBEZEEREBEE-_SE—N\F+=A
ST HEFERBET —HBEXZ2RER
KETHASEHE AKREE700,000,000 75T
B 2 A R ¥ 464,000,000 7T (18 & 7 &0 74 &
528,233,0007T) - A KA BENFREAERE
BRRAWE EXERBZ2BITEERXR
By AT B ALAE -
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7 OTHER INCOME 7 HfblgA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T
Sundry income MIEWA 42 2,858
Dividend income SN PN - 588
Government grant (Note) AT R B (BT 3E) = 2,635
42 6,081
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2018, no government grant was Wi REEZZT—/\F+ZA=+—HLFE #
received. (2017: Government grant of RMB2,279,000 (equivalent to EETABERED (CE—tF - FRBEHE
approximately HK$2,635,000) was received from the PRC government. o B 46 B A R 5 2,279,000 7T (B & R 4978 1
There was no condition attached to such government grant.) 2,635,0007T,) ° 5% % BT 74 B R B A5 R (T 46k ) o
8 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS 8 Hih(FE)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Exchange loss, net N EE - FE (505) (2,475)
Gain from bargain purchase (Note 33) REZBERE 2 W (7E33) 188 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - REREZE 2 EE
equipment (29) (10)
Gain on change in fair value of investments #H{EEE&K & 2 A FEE &) 2 W
held for trading - 3,747
Gain on disposal of art work & BT A 2 e - 2,000
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AHEESREE ZREBE
financial assets = (208)
Reversal of impairment loss on trade B e EWERR R EEER
receivables - 34
(346) 3,088

182 HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2018



HEEREEARAA |

n\/-_r\

For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CRE

=i A=+ HIEEE

EXPENSES BY NATURE 9 BEMEITZHAX
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Fff 5 BT T BT T
Employee benefit expenses (excluding EBERAIAX (TEBEESEH
directors’ remuneration and B Kz AR A7 7 BBt 2 S )
share-based compensation) 10 38,045 33,411
Share-based compensation VAR% A B EL 1 2 % B
- Directors —E3 14 28,129 -
- Employees —EE 10 57,239 -
Directors’ remuneration (excluding BEEHM(NRIEURS
share-based compensation) B2 5 M) 14 21,056 19,033
Depreciation of property, plant and Wz - BERZETE
equipment 17 2,361 2,237
Legal and professional expenses FERBEEER 12,692 4,637
Travelling and entertainment expenses 2 fik & FE B 39 =% 10,476 8,878
Advertising and marketing expenses EEREHAT 25,245 549
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE 2B 18 5,027 2,251
Amortisation of film and TV programmes & 5 X & 5 Bl ke 4 = # £
rights 21 80,477 56,640
Commission expense on property agency #ERIBMAE 2 X 82 181
Operating lease payments in respect of ¥ A = ¥ 3 [ 48 EN M 4s &
office premises and photocopying HER
machines 15,481 14,953
Auditors’ remuneration 1% ELRT B &
- Audit services — B AR 2,670 3,664
—Non-audit services —EEZRE 30 702
Other expenses HiAX 15,786 10,399
Total cost of revenue, selling and Was 2 AN SHE KD
distribution costs and administrative P AN DA R AT IR A S 48 5R
expenses 314,796 157,535
—E-NEER 183
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (EXCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)

10 BERFNRAX (FTEEESEFHFM)

2018 2017

—EBE-N\EF —E—+tF

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Wages and salaries IENEHS 32,724 29,479
Pension costs RIRE KA

— defined contribution plans — R KETE 4,677 3,597

Share-based compensation LARS A B 0 2 %5 T 57,239 -

Other employment benefits Hh fE B AR 644 335

Total employee benefit expense EERAMEZ A% 95,284 33,411

(a) Pensions - defined contribution plans

Contributions totalling approximately HK$38,000 (2017:
HK$51,000) were payable at the year-end.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two (2017: two) directors of the Company,
details of whose emoluments are included in Note 14
below. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining three employees (2017: three) with highest paid
are as follows:

(a)

(b)

BRAE-BFEHREE

FRENHFRABRRL RE% 38,0007T (=
T—+ 4 B¥51,0007T) °

EEREME AL

7 AREEE RSN RS BER
%(ZB—L%  MA)ARAEF K
B H R B T 14 - FREH=
2(CE—tF: =) REWLER
FRHELT

2018 2017

—EBE-N\EF —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Salaries and other benefits Fre REHMET 4,697 6,181
Performance related bonus & FRIR 2 TEAL 391 515
Share-based compensation VAR (D A& ELfE 2 3 B 31,612 =
Retirement benefits RIRTE AR 36 27
36,736 6,723
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (EXCLUDING 10 EEENBEX(FEIEEEHH)
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION) (Continued) (&)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EEBSMEAL (&)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not FHNFATHEN M ES (GF
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell AKRAREE) AEIOT ¢
within the following bands are as follows:
Number of employees
BEAH
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—LF
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 75 ¥ 1,500,001 7T & /& ¥ 2,000,000 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 75 ¥ 2,000,001 7T 2 78 % 2,500,000 7T = 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 71 2,500,001 7T £ 78 ¥ 3,000,000 7T - 1
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 75 1 8,000,001 7T & /% ¥ 8,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 75 ¥ 9,000,001 7T Z 75 # 9,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$18,500,001 to HK$19,000,000 75 118,500,001 7T £ & # 19,000,000 75 1 -
3 3
11 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 11 BBBRARER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Finance income -3/ ON
Bank interest income IRITH BUA 701 152
Finance costs k&M
Interest on borrowings fBERFE (6,612) (154)
Net exchange losses on foreign INERE TR B 1E)F 5
currency borrowings (9,885) -
(16,497) (154)
Finance costs, net WEEBR  FE (15,796) 2
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

= NEr=H=4—HIEERE

12

Under the Law of the PRC on Corporate Income Tax (the “CIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the CIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years. No provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial
statements as the relevant group entities incurred tax losses. No
overseas profits tax has been calculated for subsidiaries of the

FREHR X

RIFPBEEEAEIE(TREMEHE]D K
TEEMBHIERGD B =TT N\E—A
—HiE - PEMNEARZHRHES25%

P M8 6 J2 2 & 78 RIS Bl 19 4% 14 71 FE AR B0 0 7
AR E16.5%1E - RN ABSEEERELD
HER QU ENGSTHREARE SR
GRELRE ARERBEHE  RWBER
REBEBRESXAREEIMULZALE

Group that are incorporated in the BVI or Bermuda as they are BB ARGTESINIGER(ZZ—tF :
exempted from tax (2017: same). ) o
Income tax expense charged to the profit or loss represents: FFABEHMERALZE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —t&F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Current tax AREAFIE 18,429 -
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the REEZHEERATEGEE=RREMER
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss Wk 2BRRATEEHERNT
and other comprehensive income as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\E —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loss before tax B %54 A ES 18 (426,264) (95,159)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates ZERANSEEBE A
applicable to loss in the respective MEFTE ZHIE
countries (66,470) (13,104)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose  “NA] FAYEFIRL 2 B2 65,822 14,759
Income not taxable AR 2 WA (187) (3,896)
Utilisation of tax loss previously not AL ARER 2 HIAEE
recognised (1,279) =
Tax loss not recognised RER 2 TIBBE 20,549 2,639
Others Efh (6) (398)
Income tax expense i 18,429 =
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13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 13 AAQAREEMB A RIFE

OF THE COMPANY

Place of incorporation/ Effective economic
operation and kind of Particulars of interest held
Name of entities legal entities Principal activities issued share capital by the Group
i/ AR FEEREER
ERER ERERER TEER BRORAFES LEER
2018 2017
—E-N\F ZE—tE
Beijing Huan Sheng X'\ao Yu Culture Media - The PRC, limited Film and TV programmes ~ RMB80,201,750 100% 100%
Company Limited & liability company fight investments registered capital
FTREBRENE % RAgOM  hE - FREEAR EYREREIMERE AR¥802017507T
HHER
Huan Huan Xi Xi (Tianjin) Culture The PRC, limited Film and TV programmes  RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
Investment Company Limited @&® liability company right investments registered capital
BBES (RE) ULRABRARNE  hE FREAAF EYRERBIMERE  AKH100,000,0007T
HEXR
Taizhou Huanxi Culture Investment The PRC, limited Film and TV programmes  USD29,899,965 100% 100%
Company Limited (& liability company right investments registered capital
AMNBEX I REBRA TR ME - BRELAF EYREREIMERE  F229899.9657
HMHER
Guangdong Sinofocus Media Limited ¥&®  The PRC, limited Film and TV programmes ~ RMB50,000,000 100% 100%
ERPBERERARO liability company right investments registered capital
HE - BRELAF EYREREIMERE  AR¥50000,0007T
FHER
Gain Flow Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, Online platform USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
ERERBB A limited company development EE 1T ERR
AERBRME/BR  BETAEE
BRARF
Power Thought Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, Filmand TV programmes ~ USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
NEREBRAR limited company right investments EL 1T EBR
RBERNEE/BE EYRERAMERE
BRAR
HX Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited company  Film and TV programmes  HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
BERE(BA)BRAF & BERAR right investments BEATLER
EYREREIRERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

188

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

= NEr=H=4—HIEERE

13 RABETEMBARFES(F)

Place of incorporation/ Effective economic
operation and kind of Particulars of interest held
Name of entities legal entities Principal activities issued share capital by the Group
it/ EEEER FEEMFER
ERER ERERER TEEHR BRTRAFHE REER
2018 2017
—E-N\f e 3
Wiz Limited Hong Kong, limited company  Provision of management  HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
EMBRAT B GRATA sevicestothe Group BB TEBR
and securities trading
and investments
AAEERHEERRE
NREFEERIE
Graceful View Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
limited company REER EL 1T EBR
EBERRHES /A%
BRAH
Sinofocus Media (Holdings) Limited BVI/Hong Kong, Investment holdingand ~ USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
REEE(ER) BRLA limited company management ELITEBR
RBUBRHS /A% REPRRER
BRAF
Huanxi Entertainment (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited company  Investment holding HK$10,000 ordinary shares 100% 100%
BERL () BRAR &t BERAA REER 710,000 L AR
Huanxi Media Investment Um\'ted Hong Kong, limited company  Investment holding HKS$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
HEYRREAERA &t BRAA REER EEITERR
Joyful Sky Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
ERERBRAF limited company BB EFRITERR
ABERRES /A%
BRAF
Mansford Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
limited company REER EL 1T EBR
EBERRHE /A%
BRAH
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13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (Continueq)

IMF

For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

R E A

=i A=+ HIEEE

13 RABETEMBARFS(F)

Place of incorporation/ Effective economic
operation and kind of Particulars of interest held

Name of entities legal entities Principal activities issued share capital by the Group

o/ EEHER FrEEfEER

BERER ERERER FTEEH BRTREHE REER

2018 2017
—E-N\f S o3
Kingbox Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, Investment holding USD48,137 ordinary 100% 100%
limited company RERR shares
RBEBRHES/BE 848137 LBk
BRARF

Century 21 (HK) Group Limited Hong Kong, limited company ~ Investment holding HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%

4221 (F%) S EERAR &8 ARAA REER BEITLER

Century 21 Property Agency Limited Hong Kong, limited company  Provision of property HKS$2 ordinary shares 100% 100%

N NEER A % BRAR agency and related BEITERR

services in Hong Kong
EEBRENERER
BERS
Century 21 Surveyors Limited Hong Kong, limited company  Provision of property HK$100 ordinary 100% 100%
a2 AETERAR & BRAR project consulting shares
and related services AR 100 LB
RENZEEFAR
BER%

Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company  The PRC, limited Film and TV programmes ~ RMB10,000,000 100%" N/A
Limited (formerly known as “Beijing Hua  liability company production and registered capital TEm
Hua Duo Duo Culture Company HE - EREAAR investment AR 10,000,007
Limited") ®&@ By REREERE FMER

FRBEERLBRAR (R RiE
[ REFRFA BB AR PR

Beijing Hangaohua Network The PRC, other limited Provision of internet RMB10,000,000 100%® N/A
Technology Company liability company audio-visual registered capital TEA
Limited @ HE - EBREELA programmes services A& 10,000,000 7T

FRERERBREERARY RUEEHBSREHE HHER

%

HEEREEARAA |

—B-N\EER
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13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

190

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

o These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-owned enterprises of
Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macao corporate body under the PRC Law.

@ This subsidiary is registered as a wholly-owned enterprise of foreign-
invested corporate body under the PRC Law.

@ This subsidiary is registered as an enterprise invested/controlled by
natural persons under the PRC Law.

@ The English name for PRC entities are for identification purpose only.

© These subsidiaries are controlled by the Group by virtue of the
contractual agreements effective from 19 January 2018. Beijing Huan
Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media Company Limited (“Beijing Subsidiary”)
is a wholly-owned enterprise of Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macao
corporate body in PRC. The Group operates an internet broadcasting
platform in PRC through contractual arrangements with its affiliated
PRC entities, Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited and
Beijing Hangaohua Network Technology Company Limited (collectively
the “Target Group”). Beijing Subsidiary has entered into a series of
contractual arrangements with the Target Group and their respective
shareholders. These contractual arrangements enable the Group to
(1) have power to direct the activities that most significantly affect the
economic performance of the Target Group; (2) receive substantially
all of the economic benefits from the Target Group in consideration
for the services provided by Beijing Subsidiary; and (3) have an
exclusive option to purchase all or part of the equity interests in the
Target Group at the minimum price permitted under PRC laws, when
and to the extent permitted by PRC law, and request any existing
shareholders of the Target Group to transfer all or part of the equity
interest in the Target Group to any entity designated by the Group at
any time in its discretion. The Group believes that its ability to exercise
effective control give it the rights to receive substantially all of the
economic benefits from the Target Group in consideration for the
services provided by Beijing Subsidiary. Accordingly, as the primary
beneficiary of the Target Group and in accordance with the HKFRSS,
the Group consolidates their assets, liabilities, results of operations
and cash flows in the consolidated financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2018 and 2017 which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length. None of the
Company's subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of both years.

13 RABETEMBARFES(F)

& ZEMBARREBERBIAYEMAGEREA
BELE-

2 ZHBEARRERBAGIEMANERELE
ENBARE -

O EHBARRETEAERREAARE
ERAH -

@ TREEREEREHRSE

& ZEMBARAAEEREED T~ \F—5H
THEEERNAOBHRES - EREBKE
XEEHRAERAR ((dERMBRAL B — B
RAEBENEEREANBELE AEEZEBER
HfETHERIERBREER X CERDA R
IEFRESEBEHMEAERAR (TEREE]) H
BHRHRTEES —EARGERTS - bR
MELAREEBRER  URESEEBBRE

—/%E\Jé.\,%’ﬂim ZEANTHCAREES
NERNEFUERERZQERAEL K
%%E"J/E@J @ B R & EWREE AT D

ﬁ&yﬁi‘“qﬂlm f’H%it,‘?\W%QEﬂ}%Tﬁﬁﬁ%Zﬁt‘é:

RQERBERBERE AETRERAFTZE

MEGLERN  RPRARAFIREEREER
BIREE 2 alny B  WEREREE
FARERRAASERRREEEZEAE
BERBIREE 2K OMIE AEERE -
REATEERZEGESEAER B RS BRI
BARBORBWE - ERIERITE R RREHR
BHRME - At - (ERBEBRKRENEEREA
RAREREMBREEA ARERHREEE -
BE EEXERRENEER|YBHRRF

= A L gy
RERTE °

ERAFIARRR_F-NFR_FT—LF
TZA=t+t—RZHKBRAE iﬂz%ﬁ%m%
ﬂ$$l2% ENEEAATERENRQA -

FRBREMHMBAREE EFRARE
BHRREBNITR °¢E%?ﬁ$ﬁﬂﬁ’ﬂl‘ﬁ§ﬁﬂ
AR M £F 2 45 RS BT IE R B RS RE 55 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 14 EE2R/ARER

(a) Directors emoluments (a) EEM<
The remuneration of the directors of the Company paid AEBENRENEARRESHEHHN
and payable by the Group are set out below: T
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-Z2-N\E+=-A=+t—HLEE
Retirement
Salariesand  Performance benefits Share-
other related scheme based Total
Fees benefits bonus contributions compensation  emoluments

¥ER  BRERARM RIEN RERA
ik Rt A SEER  EHzHEM HefE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BB BRTR BRI ARTR BT

Executive Directors HATEE

Mr. Dong Ping (‘Mr. Dong") BT &4 ([EX4]) 260 1,505 3,000 - 2,557 7,322
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven BRI L&

("Mr. Xiang") (Note ii (MB%AE]) (ki) - 11,924 3,000 18 25,572 40,514
Sub-total N 260 13,429 6,000 18 28,129 47,836
Non-Executive Directors F#1TES
Mr.Ning Hao (‘M. Ning") B4 ([EE4£]) 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Gao Zhikai ('Mr. Gao")  BEE k&

(Note i) =y

(Bt sEii) 149 - - - - 149
Mr.XuZheng (‘Mr Xu')  BIEEE(REE] 240 - - - - 240
Sub-total NGt 629 - - - - 629
Independent Non- BUFHTES

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Xiaolong £ 240 - - - - 240
Mr.SuTuong Sing, David @R %4 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen BEELE 240 - - - - 240
Sub-total NG 720 - - - - 720
Total Bt 1,609 13,429 6,000 18 28,129 49,185
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—T—N\F+_A=1+—HIFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 14 EE2@ARER (&)

(Continued)
(a) Directors emoluments (Continued) (a) EEM 2 (2)
For the year ended 31 December 2017 BE-_Z—tF+-A=+—HLEFE
Retirement
Salaries and benefits
other  Performance scheme Total
Fees benefits  related bonus ~ contributions emoluments
He R BRERBRER RREH
ik H & 7 Al RS HemE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BETT BETT BETT
Executive Directors BTEE
Mr. Dong sk 262 1,464 2,430 - 4,156
Mr. Xiang (Note i) T5 5 A (P aE i) - 10,989 2,430 18 13,437
Sub-total Nt 262 12,453 4,860 18 17,593

Non-Executive Directors H*#H{TESE

Mr. Ning BEE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Gao BRE 240 = = = 240
Mr. Xu ks 240 - - - 240
Sub-total et 720 - - - 720
Independent Non- BUFBTES
Executive Directors

Mr. Lii Xiaolong =N 5t 240 - - - 240
Mr.SuTuong Sing, David BB K4 240 - - - 240
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen BERLE 240 - - - 240
Sub-total e 720 - - - 720
Total B@at 1,702 12,453 4,860 18 19,033
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

BEEREEARAA | =

Directors emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The performance related bonus is determined by reference to
individual performance of the directors and approved by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”).

(i) Mr. Xiang is the chief executive officer of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above included these services rendered
by him as the chief executive officer.

(i) Mr. Gao has resigned as the director of the Company with
effective from 15 August 2018.

For years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors waived any emoluments for both years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2017: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2017: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services.

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration to

any third parties for making available directors’ services
(2017: nil).

—N\FER

wm

R E A

=i A=+ HIEEE

14 ESCEANRER ()

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EEME (F)
fi s -
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Bg )it
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—T—N\F+_A=1+—HIFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans

(f)

and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year, there is no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with such
directors (2017: nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 34, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group'’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly; subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year (2017: same).

15 DIVIDENDS

194

Neither dividends were paid, declared or proposed for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of both reporting periods.

14 EE2EARER (&)

(e) FRALIES EFZEFNZEZERK
HAEEERASZHEANER  H
UERKEMRZHNER

FREEAET  EFEHNEER
HEEERATH A L EMER -
AR R D R (=T — L5 -
%) -

(H EZ=RXEZ ZHIEGHHNEKX
e

BRIMIESAPAEE SN RERKFAE
B - WEREMEAEEBSERAR
ANEEREPEEAR (BRER
HEE) NAEEXBRBNEREAN
R5 REREH(ZT—LF : H8R) -

15 RE
N
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=t+—HLEFE TERY ERIEZK
NEMKRE M EZMBEREHERE T
|EZRSEMARE -

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

16 LOSS PER SHARE
(a) Basic

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year.

IQF

R E A

=i A=+ HIEEE

16 BRER

(a)

X

SR A TS AR W AR (5
18 TS 0.4 3 AR LA S 2 £ 3 19 4 36
) BIABBEE NE BT ERRZ
IEF B -

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—+F
Loss attributable to owners of RARHEE ANEILEBE(BETT)
the Company (in HK$'000) (444,693) (95,159)
Weighted average number of ordinary AT E SRR EAR N #EE 18 2
shares for the purpose of basic and 3B AT N RE 39 B (F R
diluted loss per share (in thousands) 2,812,850 2,768,055
Basic loss per share (HK$) BREAREBE(BET) (0.16) (0.03)

(b) Diluted

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per
share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares
outstanding during the year (2017: same).

BEEREEERAA | =F-N\EEH

(b) #F

Bh#EEERGRENESIEMER T
&F$¢W$ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁxaﬁ%%ﬁfza
BOEAR(CT—1F : AR) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z— N\F+_A=+—HILFE

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17 V¥ BERRE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HRE- - £B
HEMELE SET ] AE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BET T BT
At 1 January 2017 R=-ZE—+&—-H—H
Cost B 3,780 1,518 1,399 6,697
Accumulated depreciation RETIE (1,002) 429) (324) (1,755)
Net book amount REDFE 2,778 1,089 1,075 4,942
Year ended BE-ZE-t&E+=A
31 December 2017 =t+t—BLFEE
Opening net book amount HAY R EFE 2,778 1,089 1,075 4,942
Additions EEE 56 449 2,535 3,040
Disposals HE - (15) - (15)
Depreciation charge (Note 9) T EE A (FH:E9) (1,103) (347) (787) (2,237)
Exchange differences fEH =5 135 52 - 187
Closing net book amount HIRARESE 1,866 1,228 2,823 5,917
At 31 December 2017 i =
Er=1F
Cost DN 4,026 2,024 3,934 9,984
Accumulated depreciation RETIE (2,160) (796) (1,111) (4,067)
Net book amount REHE 1,866 1,228 2,823 5,917
Year ended BZ-E-N\E+=8
31 December 2018 =t+t—-HLEE
Opening net book amount HYIERE #E 1,866 1,228 2,823 5,917
Additions S - 332 - 332
Disposals HE = (47) = (47)
Depreciation charge (Note 9)  EE A (FH:E9) (1,140) (434) (787) (2,361)
Exchange differences PEH =5 (42) (37) - (79)
Closing net book amount HIRARESE 684 1,042 2,036 3,762
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE-NE+=A
Sr=[
Cost DN 3,900 1,980 3,934 9,814
Accumulated depreciation ZETHE (3,216) (938) (1,898) (6,052)
Net book amount REHE 684 1,042 2,036 3,762
Depreciation are included in administrative expenses of WEH AITHE S 45523610007 (ZF
approximately HK$2,361,000 (2017: HK$2,237,000). —-t 4 : ¥ 2,237,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS BREEE
Software
development
License costs Total
AR EBUERERE HEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT T
At 1 January 2017 R=-—Z—tF—H—H
Cost AR - _ _
Accumulated amortisation REH S - - -
Net book amount BRESE - - -
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE=—Z—t &
t-A=t—-HLEE
Opening net book amount ERYNER T FE = = =
Additions g - 22,515 22,515
Amortisation charge (Note 9) BHEA (M) - (2,251) (2,251)
Exchange differences ME N ZEF8 - 753 753
Closing net book amount BR AR FE - 21,017 21,017
At 31 December 2017 R=TB—+tF
t+ZA=+-—
Cost X AR = 23,352 23,352
Accumulated amortisation RET#EE = (2,335) (2,335)
Net book amount BREFE - 21,017 21,017
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE_—Z— )\ &
Tt-A=t—-HLEHFE
Opening net book amount BRI BR M F1E - 21,017 21,017
Additions b - 334 334
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 33) U BB /& 2 &) (K 5E£33) 842 - 842
Amortisation charge (Note 9) BHEA (i) (269) (4,758) (5,027)
Exchange differences ME H ZEH (33) (848) (881)
Closing net book amount HREREFE 540 15,745 16,285
At 31 December 2018 R=ZZB-NEF
T=A=+-
Cost B A 799 22,494 23,293
Accumulated amortisation REH R (259) (6,749) (7,008)
Net book amount REEE 540 15,745 16,285
The license and software development costs are related to FF AT 75 N B0 B B AR N B N 5 B A9 AR HE R
the Group’s internet broadcasting platform. Amortisation TaBE - M E AW 2 KAL)
expenses are included in cost of revenue of approximately 4,758,0007T (=& — 4 : A% 2,251,0007T)
HK$4,758,000 (2017: HK$2,251,000) and administrative expenses NMATE A S 49 78 # 269,000 0 (ZZF — & -
of approximately HK$269,000 (2017: nil). ) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z— N\F+_A=+—HILFE

19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 19 REHE»HNEMIE

The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEBERETI@mIA -

198

2018 2017
—E2-NF —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets StREE
Financial assets at amortised cost:  ZEIEKX A EN SR E E
Trade receivables FE MR X 139,263 2,041
Other financial assets at amortised — H b 3% # $5 5K A5t 2 £
cost TRMEE 234,972 -
Other loans and receivables HAth B 5% FE W IE - 39,200
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFE 158,528 39,169
FVPL: BRATFER AR :
Film rights investments BREMRERE - 23,980
532,763 104,390
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial liabilities =K
Liabilities at amortised cost REHER AT ENAE
Trade and other payables JE S BR 3R B HL b FE 5 SRR (79,487) (45,816)
Amounts due to related parties FEfTREE A T 5RIE (92,467) (120,000)
Other borrowings H A fER (295,307) (77,500)
(467,261) (243,316)
The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the AEEREBTAAZHSERB LM EI
financial instruments is disclosed in Note 3.1. The maximum BE - HmEHARNEREERRBRKRO A Lt
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the ZHReMEENKRAEE -

carrying amount of each class of financial assets mentioned

above.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

20 PREPAYMENT FOR FILM AND TV 20 E¥RERBIREFANSR
PROGRAMMES RIGHTS
2018 2017
—EBE-N\EF —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT 5T BT T
Prepayment for film and TV programmes & & K& B 45 Bl i 4 78~ 5%
rights 358,248 395,305
Prepayment for film director’s fee B8 B 1A R (M 3E34(h)
(Note 34(b)) 11,974 12,612
370,222 407,917

The prepayment for film and TV programmes rights represented
the prepayment made by the Group to respective parties in
relation to the film and TV programmes rights. The prepayment
will form part of the contribution by the Group for the investment
in the proposed film and TV programmes rights. The related
terms will be further agreed between the respective parties

upon the signing of the agreements.

BEXLEGBIRERN R EASEREY &
BRBIRERZTIEL ZBNR - ZEMRK
BERASEEEZZEZ NERBIRERE
ZEOHE - HEGREES IR BERE

BE—FBETE -

21 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS 21 EXREHRBIMRAE
2018 2017
—Z2-N\F —E—LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Film and TV programmes rights completed 2 52k 2 &5 & B 18 Bl i i 10,246 10,779
Film and TV programmes rights under BIfErh 7 B & BAR B A&
production (Note a) (FfzEa) 734,296 471,603
Film rights investments (Note b) B MR E (M5ED) - 23,980
Licensed film and TV programmes rights ERE B NERBIMRE
(Note ¢) (MfzEc) 18,077 22,743
762,619 529,105
Less: W
Current portion BNERER 7 (744,542) (506,362)
18,077 22,743
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21 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS 21 EXRERBIREE)
(Continuead)
Film and
Film and v
TV programmes Licensed film
programmes rights and TV
rights under Filmrights  programmes
completed production investments rights Total
A2 B2 EEE
E=4-4 E¥ E¥K
EREImE ERBIRRE TRERE BRI E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BT BETT BT BT
As at 1 January 2017 R=ZE—tE-A—-H - 134,457 72,254 46,687 253,398
Additions g = 325,258 23121 30,013 378,392
Transfer = 10,393 (10,393) -
Amortisation 3 = = = (56,640) (56,640)
Derecognition (Note d) & ERER (MEEd) = - (75,145) (75,145)
Exchange differences EHZE 386 22,281 3,750 2,683 29,100
As at 31 December 2017 R-E—+&
+=A=+-H 10,779 471,603 23,980 22,743 529,105
Additions 2 - 346,155 15,036 27,554 388,745
Fair value gains A ERE - - 137,973 - 137,973
Transfer B 49,527 (49,527) - - -
Amortisation 2§ (48,970) - - (31,507) (80,477)
Derecognition (Note ) 8RR (fsEe) - - (176,622) - (176,622)
Exchange differences B =R (1,090) (33,935) (367) (713) (36,105)
As at 31 December 2018 R-ZE-N\&
+ZA=+-H 10,246 734,296 - 18,077 762,619
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

21 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS
(Continued)

Notes:

@

HEEREEARAA |

As at 31 December 2018, included in the film and TV programmes
rights under production was a film right with incurred production cost
of approximately HK$428,074,000 (2017: HK$373,540,000) in respect
of the production of a film (“f&@ A 4N 2 A ") in the PRC. On 30
December 2016, the Group entered into an agreement with a company
established in the PRC, EF R TR S8 L EE B R A A (“iayi
Movie"), as the production house of the aforementioned f||m ata
budgeted cost of RMB400,000,000, including the service fee to Jiayi
Movie which is chargeable based on 5% of the total production cost of
the film and film director fee to Mr. Ning, the non-executive director of
the Company, of RMB30,000,000. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, liayi Movie is an independent third party and Mr. Ning does
not have any interests in the contracts or transactions in connection
with the production of such a film other than his role as a film director.
An amount of approximately HK$5,862,000 (2017: HK$18,639,000) was
paid to Mr. Ning as the aforementioned film director’s fee and was
recognised as film and TV programmes rights under production during
the year ended 31 December 2018 (Note 34(a)).

The balance represented the Group's investments in film productions
which entitled the Group to predetermined percentage of income to
be generated from the films based on the Group’s investment portion
as specified in respective film right investment agreements.

The balance represented the Group’s investments in film and TV
programmes right licenses. The Group acquired license rights from
independent third parties for broadcasting licensed films or TV
programmes series on its internet broadcasting platform (Note 18) or
sublicensing the license rights to other independent third parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group disposed certain
film rights investments, of approximately HK$75,145,000 to a PRC
entity (" b R ABEFE & L AR A R]"), which is an independent third
party, and there was no gain or Ioss arlsmg from this transaction.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group is entitled
to proceeds from certain film rights investments of approximately
HK$176,622,000 based on the Group'’s investment portion as specified
in respective film right investment agreements. The Group has
recognised the net gain of approximately HK$137,973,000 as film rights
investment income.

The Group has entered into certain joint operation arrangements
to produce and distribute four films (2017: five). The Group has
participating interests ranging from 50% to 57% in these joint
operations. As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate amounts of
intangible assets recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position relating to the Group’s interests in these joint
operation arrangements are approximately HK$50,803,000 (2017:
HK$82,778,000).

—B-N\EER

n\/-_r\

21

= E/
B K

B

R E A

=i A=+ HIEEE

ERBINRE (&)

R-ZB—N\F+-_A=+—0 E&PHKE
BY [RININEA HENEZRERE
B AN #) 76 #5 428,074,000 7T (—ZF — 4 : B
37354000073):Jr)\%f’EEPZ@%&%%EJ%JHﬁ
E-RZTE—ARF+-ZA=+HB A&E@E—
F'E-EJEC‘:F‘.EXiE'J RIERMRHPSERAUE
BABRAR ((REEF) I hHIEALME
T2 BERT - RKATEHE A AR 400,000,000
T BEAFEEEINZREE REFE

BIER A 25%:T &) RAIARA 723E$ﬂﬁ§
EFEELATNZ2EFEEE AR 30,000,000
T ARREERE FEEFARBIULFE=
7‘5 MEBLEERERERE RN REEZE
FHBZANRR ST EAAFE - ERE
5"5;3'211%’7,%%5,862,0007“7? tF B

% 18,639,000 T) fEAR L X Fril v EX EEE -

ZECHERNEBE_ZT-N\E+-_A=1+—A81t
FEERRAREFR 2EY RERBIMRE (K=
34(a)) °

ZEREARENEYRIEZRE - RIEHEE
BEYIRBEREGEMEAZASBREA LG -
AEBARRALEE AN LZFAELHR
EEZRA -

ZEREARNEEREY REREIREF AWK
g e 2&%%@%1%‘75?%%?3?7&%%&
HBPBEmTa (ME18) MmERE 2 ERF X

BRE - RAEMBILE =T DRFFAIRE -
AEBERBE_T—tF T _HA=1+—HLF

& DA %) 7 % 75,145,000 70 [/ — fE AR B B 88 ([4t
REBEEXEBRAR]  BBYE=F)H
EETEURERE  BAR S W EEETM
B3 o

RBE_EZ—N\E+-A=+—HILEE &
SEERHEEVRERERZENIERNARE
ERELLFERKIE TEZRERERBR
TH 4B 176,622,000 7T ° 78 & B B W a5 58
#9755 137,973,000 THER A B ARIEILE WA -

AEECFLETEEREBRIFNBERETT

MBEY (ZE—LF: A7) - AEERZSF
BREEBHRZSEEEN T50%E57% - K=
%f/\¢+:ﬁz+ B RASERZES

EEBLTHZERTEREMBRRBRAER
ZEMEENB ST AE50,803,0007T (=
T— 4 : B#82,778,0007T) °
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= NEr=H=4—HIEERE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 22 Eu&,ﬂﬁm HhEWRIE - RE
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS R
2018 2017
—EBE-N\EFE —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Trade receivables JEH&QE?”
— Sublicensing and sales of film and TV AEREEEY RERE RE
programmes rights 2,946 1,792
— Film rights investment — BRI 136,225 =
— Property agency commission and service —R&EBRY %ﬁfiﬁ & R RBEA
income in Hong Kong 349 2,424
139,520 4,216
Loss allowance (see Note 3.1(b)) e (R HIEE3.1(D) (257) (2,175)
139,263 2,041
Deposits by 6,219 5,975
Prepayments SELDEEN 1,575 1,727
Other receivables H b FE WRIE 229,856 33,659
237,650 41,361
Less: Amounts due within one year shown & : ZI{E—F R BB REBEE 2
under current assets & (232,042) (35,871)
Non-current portion JEBNERER 5,608 5,490

Trade receivables from sublicensing of film and TV programmes
rights are usually received within 180 days from the date of
delivery of the master copy or materials. Trade receivables from
film and TV programmes rights investment income are usually
received within 60 days after the completion of release of the
film in movie theatres according to the timing for settlement
schedule stipulated in the investment agreement. For property
agency segment in Hong Kong, the Group allows an average
credit period of 60 to 90 days to property developers upon
completion date of relevant agreements whilst the individual
customers are obliged to settle the amounts upon completion
of the relevant agreements and generally no credit terms are
granted.

PTREZMNERBREZEBUETBTETER

EASME 2 B 180 B AKE - EX KL E
BERERERA ZBUEFBERERE
HEPRANEEREARNEXR TNER
PR 1E 60 B MIER - BB RAIE S BT |

AEBREEBETKBERRE T EER
BZEEHTIHR0E0H - mEAZFA
AN B TT B ERIE - i — R
BTEEH-
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22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables,
net of loss allowance, presented based on invoice date were as

nVT\

22

R E A

=i A=+ HIEEE

BUIRR R EMmERRIE - BE
RENKE)

RtT-—A=+—8  BYREX

CHERE R A )

BREFZAHENZRESTOT -

follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
0-30 days 0=30H 139,170 112
61-90 days 61290H - 1,792
91-180 days 91% 180 H 93 11
Over 180 days 180 H A - 126
139,263 2,041

(i)

(ii)

HEEREEARAA |

Other receivable pledged as security

The Group has pledged receivables amounting to
approximately HK$223,133,000 (2017: nil) to several third
parties to obtain borrowings amounting to approximately
HK$220,364,000 (2017: nil) and has retained late payment
and credit risk. Thus, the Group considers the held to
collect business model to remain appropriate for these
receivables and continues measuring them at amortised
COSt.

Fair values of trade and other receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables,
their carrying amount is considered to be the same as
their fair value.

—B-NEEH

0

(i)

BERARARNEAEYWKE

AEBERMZRFE=HERERFIELD
75 1 223,133,0007T (Z T —+F : )
LA BR 15 18 FR 49 78 #5 220,364,000 T (==
—tF: &) URBAANRREE
[B Bz o B - AN ERR %%ﬁiuﬁz%m
FBEAEZFRBFIAN S DEE

I AR S X AN TR = o

FE W B
=

R E R R IR 2 X F

R EE SR S I E A - H
FEEERESEEAFERR -
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204

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

23 HekREEE

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Cash at banks RITIRE 158,483 39,151
Cash on hand BFAEMRE 45 18
158,528 39,169

HK$ ki 321 24,988
uSD & 1,060 1,086
RMB AR 157,147 13,087
Other currency Hith B ¥ = 8
Cash and cash equivalents RekREeEE 158,528 39,169

Bank balances and cash comprised of cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits that are interest-bearing ranging
from 0.01% t0 0.30% (2017: 0.01% t0 0.30%) per annum and have
original maturity of three months or less.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has cash and bank
balances amounting to approximately HK$158,189,000 (2017:
HK$14,162,000) which are held in PRC. These cash and bank
balances are subject to the rule and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

RITEBRBRSEREASEMBES RIE
NF0.01%E030% (ZZF—+4%:001% =
0.30%) 7 EM=HE BERZNPE A=A
AR Z 52 HARITIE 3K o

R-ZZE—NF+_A=+—H AEE%H
ERFTEBEENRS RBRITERNHBE
158,189,000 T (= ZF — £ 4F : 7 ¥ 14,162,000
T0) ° ZEH & RIRITEH T BEBUTEM K
HINE B FERDEBIRE -
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24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

=i A=+ HIEEE

24 BERIREMENRE

2018 2017

—E-N\F ZE—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Trade payables FETRR R 64,377 13,679
Other payables H b 3B 15,208 29,997
Accruals et E A 18,440 10,408
98,025 54,084

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables were
approximated to their fair values.

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of the trade payables based

FEN R R E b B IR REERE AT

BHEE -

RtZA=1t—H BENEXERERAH

on invoice date were follows: RERER DITAAT ¢
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
0-30days 02 30H 28,111 60
91 -180 days 91 %180 H 17,685 5
181 — 365 days 181 £ 365 H 5,630 2,823
Over 365 days 365 B £ 12,951 10,791
64,377 13,679
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25 BORROWINGS

25 f&RK

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEETF T

Other borrowings H &=
Secured HHEAE 220,364 =
Unsecured R4 74,943 77,500
Total borrowings R 295,307 77,500

All borrowings are repayable within one year.

The secured borrowings are secured by other receivables
amounting to approximately HK$223,133,000 (2017: nil).

For the borrowings, the fair values are not materially different
to their carrying amounts, since the interest payable on those
borrowings is either close to current market rates or the
borrowings are of a short-term nature.

206

PIBERBTEAR—FA

i
R
o

A

EEARETBEMBRBRRINAEAOEE
223,133,000 T (ZF—+F : &) EEM -

fERNAFEREREAETEEAZE It
EEE#EZX%?XEI’JJZH?’FU%& ARITH 5
RRMERBEAEE -
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26 DEFERRED TAX 26 EELEHIE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax RIREBR  AEEAHEEHEERERN 2R
losses of HK$323,228,000 (2017: HK$228,618,000) available A HIB R 18 A8 # 323,228,000 T (ZF—+
for offset against future profits of which the amount of F B %228,618,0007T) + HA BE LB
approximately HK$252,690,000 (2017: HK$188,702,000) may be 252,690,000 7¢ (= Z —+4F : j# ¥ 188,702,000
carried forward indefinitely and the amount of HK$70,538,000 7T) A PR B 45 88 K2 /5 8008 %5 70,538,000 7T (=
(2017: HK$39,916,000) will be expire in five years from the year T —4F : B#39,916,0007T) 1 B FFHEE
of assessment. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in BEARAFANER BHRZEHEBEEES
respect of these tax losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries EEE—BRNEANRBAR BEEEER
that have been loss-making for some time and the management B 1& FE 1S 7] BE = A FE mR B s A1) AT K SE AR IR U8
does not consider probable that taxable profits will be available B U ERZENBEERERAEERIBEEE
against which the tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred income tax liabilities of approximately HK$6,241,000 BEEFBHAENEK6241000T (ZF
(2017: HK$2,848,000) have not been provided for the — -t 2,848,000 T) I LB A ﬂ
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted B & BB & R 4978 15 62,410,000 7T (= Z —
earnings of subsidiaries of approximately HK$62,410,000 (2017: F : 128,482,000 T) A B FER 2 FEH fR
HK$28,482,000) in the PRC. The unremitted earnings are used SR E REHBANIDBERBIRE - 5
for reinvestment. The income tax liability is not recognised, MBERTHR ZRAXREEEHIEHED
because the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of R EREz KM AREZENA R ARKRET
the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary BT ERE -
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
27 SHARE CAPITAL 27 B
Number of Share
shares capital
REEE &S
HK$'000
BT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares = Rilhe
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017, RZZ—+tF—HF—H"
1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018, —T—+tF+ZA=1+—RH"
at HK$0.01 each “E-N\F-H-Bk
Z—-N\E+-A=+—8"
PR mEEE0.017T 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITRAR
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 and R—E—+tF—H—B - ZF—+tF
1 January 2018 TZA=T—BRZZE-NF
—H—H 2,768,055,408 27,681
Issue of ordinary shares for cooperation with ~ B —ZEFE RS EMEET 2 LB
a film director (Note 32(a)) (Pi7E32()) 150,000,000 1,500
At 31 December 2018 R-E-NE+=-A=+—H 2,918,055,408 29,181
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28 RESERVES 28 #1E
Attributable to owners of the Company
NG 2PN
Share-based Accumulated
Share payment  Translation losses
premium reserve reserve (Note) Total
PYip:]
ER A% 25tEE
R RE A ELmE (FsE) kel
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2017 R=-E—+&—-H—H 1,974,993 = (3,039) (1,172,724) 799,230
Loss for the year AEEFBA - - - (95,159) (95,159)
Other comprehensive income  Efb 2 EURz - - 60,415 - 60,415
Total comprehensive AEERXEFBEE
loss for the year - - 60,415 (95,159) (34,744)
At 31 December 2017 R=ZE—tF+=AH
Er=|F 1,974,993 - 57,376 (1,267,883) 764,486
Loss for the year rERER - - - (444,693) (444,693)
Other comprehensive loss HizmEER - = (44,174) = (44,174)
Total comprehensive loss  AFEZEFELE
for the year - - (44,174) (444,693) (488,867)
Transactions with owners; SEHEBAETZRS
Issue of ordinary shares for H-FEHERAE
cooperation with a film director %77 2 @M 268,500 - - - 268,500
Issue of share options under R IFFER#ERT 818 1T
share option scheme B - 85,368 - - 85,368
268,500 85,368 - - 353,868
At 31 December 2018 R=B-NF+=A4
=t+-H 2,243,493 85,368 13,202 (1,712,576) 629,487
Note: ihg=s

The capital reserve arising from the group reorganisation represents the
difference between the nominal value of the share capital issued by the
Company in exchange for the aggregate nominal values of the share
capital of the subsidiaries amounted to approximately HK$2,099,000 (2017:
HK$2,099,000) is included in the accumulated losses.

The contributed surplus represents the aggregate amounts of capital
reduction and share premium cancellation attributable to the capital
restructuring and the capital reorganisation of the Company during prior
years amounted to approximately HK$149,220,000 (2017: HK$149,220,000) is
included in accumulated losses.
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SEEHEAZEREENEARR AN B AR
BAMBITZRAZEESLEE BB R RRALEE
2 Z=FAK) S 2,099,000 7T (ZF — 4 : ##2,099,000
JL) i ARETEE -

BEHRAREARANBEFERARAERRBRAE
HELEZEXRHREBROGETHNESEOBE
149,220,000 7T (= F —+4F : % 149,220,0007T) - &t
AZRFHEE -
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29 CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 9 RETHMEAZRE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Loss before tax MR AT 18 (426,264) (95,159)
Adjustments for: T & IEF R
Depreciation of property, plant WME- -BELRZE2ITE
and equipment 2,361 2,237
Amortisation of film and TV B N EAR B MR 2 #E i
programmes rights 80,477 56,640
Amortisation of intangible assets BIVEE B 5,027 2,251
Share-based payment for H-PEXERERAIEZARN R
cooperation with a film B2
director 270,000 -
Non-cash employee benefits IR REEBAFAS -
expense — share-based PARR (0 B B0 2 5 B
compensation 85,368 -
Finance costs, net HBER - F5E 15,796 2
Loss on disposal of property, plant  HEWE - ME KRG
and equipment ) iEi! 29 10
Gain from bargain purchase KEZEEREE 2 W= (188) -
Reversal of impairment loss on B fE W BR SR 2 BB B 18
trade receivables - (34)
Dividend income BB YA - (588)
Impairment loss on available-for- A HERE 7R {EEE
sale investment - 208
Gain on disposal of art work o BT R 2 W - (2,000)
Gain on change in fair value of FIEEBEREZATEEZ
investments held for trading 2 Wz = (3,747)
Operating cash flows before EEESEFAT 2
working capital changes KERERE 32,606 (40,180)
Changes in working capital: EEESES
Trade and other receivables JrE AT AR R % LAt JE R (346,915) 134,127
Contract assets EREE (5,414) =
Film and TV programmes rights B R EREIRE (332,386) (280,172)
Prepayments of film and TV
programmes rights B LBREIREENR - (204,068)
Investments held for trading BIEEBRE - 56,515
Trade and other payables JE AT BR 30 B EL At FE A< 3B 41,994 (131,860)
Contract liabilities AHEE 548,235 =
Cash used in operating activities rEESMERAZE® (61,880) (465,638)
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29 CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 29 REFTBMERAZRE(F)
(Continued)
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from RIEEERERERAN HEWE - BE KK
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise: BEIEFIARTE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Cost disposed & B AN 327 27
Accumulated depreciation REtinE (280) (12)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BERZE 2 EE
plant and equipment (29) (10)
18 5
(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (@) REMETBHZ2EEHE
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRFVNAESERREZTHELAZEE
arising from financing activities, including both cash & 28 BIERSRIIRSETH -MEF
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing PEAZBEEREREIRRRER
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future EHRAEEGERENERTHER
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated RERHZHEeRECBE
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
Interest
payable
included in Amounts due
other to related
payables  Borrowings parties Total
STAEA
B RIEZ ENEEAL
B FE B IE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T B¥T T BT T
(Note 25) (Note 34)
(Kt =E 25) (P =X 34)

At 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\F—H—H 160 77,500 120,000 197,660
Financing cash flows RERGRE (2,307) 211,503 (21,868) 187,328
Interest expenses FERAE 6,612 - - 6,612
Exchange differences bEE 5, = 78 (164) 6,304 (5,665) 475
At 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F

+=-A=+—H 4,301 295,307 92,467 392,075
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29 CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 29 REFTEFFEAZRE (Z)
(Continued)
(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (@) REMETHZ2EEHE(E)
financing activities (Continued)
Interest
payable
included in Amount due
other to a related
payables Borrowing party Total
A AEA
ERZIEZ e — &R
FEFFI 8 f& % ALHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETT BETT BETT
(Note 25) (Note 34)
(GEYS) (BFzE34)
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+%—HF—H = = = =
Financing cash flows RERGRE - 77,500 120,000 197,500
Interest expenses M EFZ 154 - - 154
Exchange differences BEH ZER 6 - - 6
At 31 December 2017 RZZE—+F
+-A=+—H 160 77,500 120,000 197,660
(b) Material non-cash transactions (b) EXFBRERS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
transferred prepayments for film and TV programmes
rights amounted to approximately HK$17,710,000 (2017:
HK$40,417,000) to film and TV programmes rights.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has

transferred other receivables amounted to approximately
HK$12,000,000 to intangible asset.

BEEREEERAA | =F-N\EEH

REZ-ZT—N\GF+_A=1T—HI1tF
g ZIK;EK@EL B RESRBIMRER
R EHE17,710,000C (T —H4F ¢
7S£ 40,417,000 70) EEF L EREIRE

RBE_Z—+tF+-_A=+—HLHF

B AEBEEBREMEREFENES
12,000,000 T £ EL & EE -
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30

31

212

OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee

The Group made minimum lease payments paid under operating
leases in respect of office premises and certain furniture,
fixtures and equipment of approximately HK$15,481,000 (2017:
HK$14,953,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

30 KEHE

REBBAEBEA

AREEBRHLAEDERETHRE HERRK
BRELEHES M 2 HERBNNRBLE
515,481,000 7T (=& — 4 : 5% 14,953,000
JL) °

RBEMR  AEBR T REZELHEE
AT 5 A 2 B 8 A 2 R SR S AR AR 40 1+ 500
Em

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T T T

Within one year —F R 15,334 16,203
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EZERF(PIEEEMS) 20,243 3,954
35,577 20,157

Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for lease terms of
one to five years (2017 one to five years).

HEHE-—ZEZ2RF(ZT—+tF: —ERHF)
ETERAESRNEMAEE T E -

COMMITMENTS 31 A&iE
(@) commitments (@) =¥
2018 2017
—E2-NF —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
commitments in respect of the acquisition FLEEE REEE M B8 B
and production of film and TV programmes A ¥ £ 1E 2 #3E (B 2T 49
rights contracted for but not provided in MARRERE WS IREREE)
the consolidated financial statements 250,633 229,207
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

31 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) Pending litigation

(i)

HEEREEARAA |

A court action was commenced in the Chengdu
Intermediate People’s Court on 29 April 2018 by Chengdu
Watson Media Co., Ltd. (the “Chengdu Plaintiff”), an
independent third party, against Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying
Culture Company Limited (“Shou Ying"), an indirect wholly-
owned company through contractual arrangements, and
other 17 investors of the film Us and Them (" % SR B9 F 1F1")
(the “18 Defendants”).

By the above action, the Chengdu Plaintiff alleged that the
18 Defendants through unfair competition adversely affect
the box office receipts of the Chengdu Plaintiff's film during
the release period of the film Us and Them (" 12 3R B9 F 11 ")
The Chengdu Plaintiff mainly requested the 18 Defendants
to compensate a total sum of RMB10,000,000 and bear the
relevant legal fee and reasonable expenses arising from
their legal rights protection. One of the 18 Defendants is
applying for transferring the case to Chaoyang District
People’s Court of Beijing for trial.

In the opinion of legal counsel, it is premature to predict
the outcome of the said claim against Shou Ying. The
Company considers that the amounts of claim by the
Chengdu Plaintiff against Shou Ying is insignificant to the
Group as a whole.

—B-N\EER

MF

R E A

=i A=+ HIEEE

31 EE(E
(b) RIREFFR

(i)

RZZE—NFOAZ+NHB BIE=
HREERIAEBRERR AR (TR
FHREEBHRRARERHARRE —
BEBANLIEZEE2ERABNRRIL
REBEERXEBERAR ((HREER])
AR BE(EROBFDOEM+ERE
B ([t N\RWE]D RH—IBFR -

RIE Ealiahas - ARSI T\ RIS
BRI EAFD R - ATIE
ERFEETRBRENTHEE RS
REBREETZERTNBWERES #
/\EVHMOOOOOOOE]I?%H*%F@DJ?% g
AeZ@RELANAEXE - +N\A
%ﬁ%?é? —ERELERBEREFBER
IERFABRAREGETEE

REBZEBERNER  RERBNEE
EERMNLAREERABREBE
ARRAFRA  KBRESHEREERE
HEARMNBEHAREERME L EE
REE-
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= NEr=H=4—HIEERE

31 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

214

(b)

(if)

Pending litigation (Continuead)

A court action was commenced in the Wuhan Intermediate
People’s Court on 29 November 2018 by Wuhan Guangya
Culture and Art Development Co., Ltd. and Huang
Gansheng (the “Wuhan Plaintiffs”), independent third
parties, against 17 related companies/persons of the film
Us and Them (" & R &3 1P9"), including Shou Ying (the 17
Defendants”).

By the above lawsuit, the Wuhan Plaintiffs alleged that
the 17 Defendants infringe on the right of adaptation and
filming of their production and damage the interests of
market through filming Us and Them (“ % 3893 3"). The
Wuhan Plaintiffs mainly requested the 17 Defendants to
stop the reproduction, distribution and dissemination of
the film, compensate a total sum of RMB70,000,000 and
bear the case acceptance fee and other legal fees.

In the opinion of legal counsel, it is premature to predict
the outcome of the said claim against Shou Ying. The
Company considers that the amounts of claim by the
Wuhan Plaintiffs against Shou Ying is insignificant to the
Group as a whole.

31 EE(E

(b)

(if)

RIRFFAER (42)
R-ZE-N\FE+—A-+hB BIF
ZEHRERDXCEMERBR AR R
Bt (REREDREETHRAR
ER BB (RROBEFD+LREH
RAE AL EheEBREER(++
BWE D) TR — AR ©

B ElFA RERGETEEES
BET R (ERNBRMDNITREERS
RERBIBURERBRE BEAEMS
ﬂ/\ ° %5%5%%1%%*+t%w¢ﬁ

FRHEE - BITRERE BEEAHR
/\E’ﬁngOOOOOTE]D%Tf“(#ﬁ BE
REAMFAE -

REBEZEBERNER  RERBNEER
EERMNLAREERABRHBE
ARARA RERSHEREEHRIE
HEARMBEHAREERME L EE
REE-
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32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions

n\/-_r\

For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

32 LURGBHBER AR

RERNERZABRO RERZNRXBEL

=i A=+ HIEEE

HEEREEARAA |

with a film director

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
entered into an agreement (“Agreement”) with Unique
Swift Limited (“Unique Swift”) and Mr. Zhang Yimou (“Mr.
Zhang"), whereby the Company issued 150,000,000
ordinary shares to Unique Swift and pursuant to which
Unigue Swift has conditionally agreed to procure Mr.
Zhang to provide the Company (or its designated group
member) with certain investment rights for the film and
TV programmes to be produced by Mr. Zhang or partially
directed by Mr. Zhang within a period of 6 years. The
shares granted vest immediately on grant date. On this
date, the market value of the shares issued is recognised
in the profit or loss as a share-based payment.

—B-N\EER

recognised during the year were as follows: AT HaT
2018 2017
—E-N\E —+F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt =E BT T BT T
Share-based payment for H—FBEHEBEEEZARD
cooperation with a film BEMRZ AR (HEa)
director (Note a) 270,000 -
Options issued under share option AR5 B8 A i 51 212517 2 BE 4k
scheme (Note b) (ffEED)
- Directors —EF 14 28,129 -
- Employees —ES 10 57,239 -
355,368 -
(@) Share-based payment for cooperation () EE—BEFEEFESIEZURG A

BE_T - \F+_A=t—HLFE"
AEBEBEFERAR ([HE]) KRE
ot E (TREED AT ek ([1HaE])
PR - KA R A ME B2 89T 150,000,000 A%
TR - MEZRE AR BRZRMER
TETRFHEARARTE (EETE
MEBEKE QR REHRELBIER
MAOHREEAENEY REGRBINE
TRE®E - IR TZBROREKL A B
REE NZAH BETRH2ZTE
R T ERSARD BER N -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z— N\F+_A=+—HILFE

32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 32 LR AER IR (E)

(b) Share option scheme (b) EBRESTE

Pursuant to the resolution passed at the annual
general meeting held on 17 June 2014, the Company'’s
shareholders approved the adoption of a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”). The Scheme became valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing on 17
June 2014. The Company operates the Scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who have made or may make contribution to
the Group. The eligible participants of the Scheme include
the Company’s or its subsidiaries’ directors, employees,
and any business consultants, agents, financial or legal
advisers and any other persons whom the board of
directors of the Company (the “Board”) may determine, at
its sole discretion, will contribute or have contributed to
the Group.

The share options may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Scheme at any time within the period
commencing from the date of grant of the share options
and expiring on the date determined by the Company’s
directors, but in any event such exercise period shall not
be more than 10 years from the date of grant of the share
options. The amount payable on the acceptance of a share
option is HK$1 (or such other nominal sum in any currency
as the board of directors of the Company may determine).

The exercise price of the share options shall be
determined by the board of directors of the Company, but
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company'’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must
be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the
Company'’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of
the Company’s share.

BERZZT—MF A +EHRITZK
RBFAG LBBZIRER  ARAKR
RN —IREAERT 8 ([%eTE]) -
ZAEE T -—HFERATEARER
KA - RE+TF - RABRMZETE
VAN 2B 2 A S AT pe & W AR R B E
HERMZABERDEE - ZtElzEE
BR2EREBERANASIHEMNBRARZE
= B8 UREREKER - KEA -
MBIERBRARARAEFE([EF
2NAEERBRARYAEER/ELE
BB EE B2 B A AL -

BRETARHERE  AEEARART
EEEE 2 A - HE AR A AR B % AT
SRR T ATTIE - HERRITEMIRET
AER T NMSBEER L AEERE A
i +F  ZRBEREBRNSRSEE
17T (RARRESE A BEETE 2 A EM
EBHEZHEMRIEESER) °

®EE

BREZITEERARAE

MRS ﬁFMTZfH% () A" > B BX
MREEARH(BER %E)E k32T
RsmRAE 2 WHE : () ARR RO

%%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ&%“%ﬁ
MR 2 FHWME: RA)ERD
R 7 2 E1E e

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CRE

n\/-_r\

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

32 URGARERZNAR(E)
BRESTE (E)

32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme (Continuead) (b)

HEEREEARAA |

The maximum number of shares in the Company in
respect of which the share options may be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company is not permitted to exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of approval of
the Scheme by the Company’s shareholders (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit"), or, if such 10% limit is refreshed, as at the
date of approval of the renewal of the Scheme Mandate
Limit by the Company’s shareholders. Notwithstanding
the foregoings, the maximum number of the Company’s
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company shall not exceed 30% of the Company'’s
shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares of the Company already issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all the share options
granted to each participant in any 12-month period up to
and including the date such new grant is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the total number of the Company’s shares
in issue as at the date of such grant. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject
to the approval of the Company’s shareholders in general
meeting.

Each grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company or
any of their respective associates in excess of 0.1% of the
Company'’s shares in issue and with an aggregate value
in excess of HK$5,000,000 in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant must be approved in
advance by the Company's shareholders.

—B-N\EER

IRIEFZ 5T &) R AR B ] E h B AR dE 5t
ST RER I 2 BB R AR F R G
B E N EBAEAR G RENIEZ
FTEIE HARQRIE BITRAE 10% ([5
SRR - MR 10%RBELEDE
AR BHRBAATREAREE
ATEIREREE B AN BRITRAY
10% - @EER LMATE  BEZAER
AR AR fA] At B AR i 5 B 2 5 HE 1B )
ﬂiﬁfﬁi’EZFﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁT%?‘ﬁ
ZARRRMDEDEE TMEBBAR
T E BITAR D 89 30% ©

REBEREERARAEL B8 EER2
EAHE AIeR2BERHOMERE
RIEETEEMBETRE TRITZAR
AR BB T FEBBNZE N B RAARR
ADBTROBEN 1% - EAE—F
RHBBZ1%BRE I ERE AEN
NAEIBRREOBRAS LHLE -

HWREBEEREREAEBRL BB LEER
128 AHE > MARB] —REBBRK
—HRBIUATESTIRES B 2EM
BREATERH ZBREBEAARCH
ﬁﬂﬁ@rz‘l’\JOJ%&E{Efﬁ BRI B
5,000,0007C * H/AES AR RIRRE L
HUE ©
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32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 32 LR AER IR (E)
(b) Share option scheme (Continuea) (b) HERRMETEI(E)

Average

exercise
price per Number of
share option options

BhEREZ
FiGITEE BREHAR

As at 1 January 2018 RZFE-—NF—H—H N/A A~ 3 A -

Granted during the year FAEE HK$2.08
B 2.08 7T 130,700,000

As at 31 December 2018 RZE—-N\F+=ZA=+—H HK$2.08
B 2,08 7T 130,700,000

Vested and exercisable at RZE—NF+ZA=+—8 HK$2.08
31 December 2018 BB &AITE ¥ 2.08 7T 100,700,000
No options expired during the periods covered by the ERORENEIR A EEREDE -

above tables.

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the FRERITERERE 2D BHB RITHE
following expiry date and exercise prices: (ERUNNE

Share options Share options
Grant Date Expiry date Exercise price 2018 2017

—E2-NF —ZT—tF
BB ZH A TEE ZERE ZHERE
27 April 2018 17 June 2024 HK$2.08 130,700,000 =
—E-N\FOA=++H T 4F 7S 2.08 7T
NATLER

Weighted average remaining contractual life of options

outstanding at the end of the year 5.47 years N/A
FREARITEBIRE 2 NEFHRTELFH 5.47 F i@ A
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32 URGARERZNAR(E)
BRESTE (E)

32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
(b) Share option scheme (Continuead) (b)
(i) Fair value of options granted (i) ERHBERENDTE

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted REZEZZT—N\GF+A=+—HI1tF

HEEREEARAA |

during the year ended 31 December 2018 was HK$0.72
per option. The fair value at grant date is independently
determined using an adjusted form of the Black Scholes
Model with Binomial Tree Method which includes a
Binomial Tree model that takes into account the stock
price, the exercise price, the time to maturity, the risk-
free rate, the dividend yield and volatilities of comparable
companies, the sub-optimal factor, and the forfeiture rate.

The model inputs for options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2018 included:

(@ options are granted for consideration of HK$1 and
vested period of three years from the employment
date of the respective employees. Vested options
are exercisable before expiry date

(b)  exercise price: HK$2.08

() grant date: 27 April 2018

(d)  expiry date: 17 June 2024

—B-N\EER

J*E‘&Hjﬁ%ﬂﬂféﬁﬁiﬂjEIB}ﬁE*J%«pHﬁ
TEABHERES072TT - REHH
HEOANFEDERLCARNE =&
RETHIEEEEL —EXRETEE (8
E_EAHEETERER) EFETE I
ETRREER  TEE - DARE &
BB FE - A] & LR A B8 A% B e X
KORWE - REREFRLUE -

REBE-ZT-N\F+_A=1+—HLF
EERNBRENEL G AZRIEEE

(@ BREAKREEE1IEL B8
HEREEZRRERBESTSB

3F -OREBMERETERHA
ZRI{TfE

(b) ATfEE : BEE2087T

o BHEHHBH: ZZFE—/\FWTA
o =

(d BB :Z—ZE-_WFEA++tH
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32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
(b) Share option scheme (Continued)

(i) Fair value of options granted (Continuead)

(e) time to maturity from the date of grant: 6.15 years

(f)  share price at grant date: HK$2.08
(g) risk-free interest rate: 1.91%
(h)  expected dividend yield: 0%

() expected price volatility of the company’s shares:
48.38%

()  forfeiture rate: 0to 16.35%
The expected price volatility is based on the historic
volatility (based on the remaining life of the options),

adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due
to publicly available information.

220
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32 URODA/ERZARE)
(b) RERRAESTE (F)
() BEHBRENATFEGD

e MEL B HAMBTE AR :
6.15 %

 HEBAHORE - B¥2087T
® EEBRAE:1.91%
(hy JEHIRBUWER : 0%

() RARIKRETAHERIKIE - 48.38%

() RKE:0FE16.35%

B BB AR IR I8 Ty AR 2R iR (R B AR
BHSRTFH) RER  YREAFRA
ERERBLRFRIE Z(ERFERE S E
HAARRE -

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A\
e

B 7% ¥ 3K B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BHE T —-A\F+ZA=+—HILFE

In January 2018, the Group's wholly-owned subsidiary,
Beijing Huan Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media Company
Limited* entered into certain contractual arrangements
(the “Contractual Arrangements”) with Beijing Huanxi
Shou Ying Culture Company Limited* (formerly known as
“Beijing Hua Hua Duo Duo Culture Company Limited”*)
and its subsidiary, Beijing Hangaohua Network Technology
Company Limited* (together the “VIE entities”), and their

33 BUSINESS COMBINATION 33 XKEH
(@) Summary of acquisition (@) WBESEHE

R-ZE-N\F—A AEE2EHBEA
AIERBBRE X CERBR AR EL
REEEBRIXEERAR (AR
TEFERA LR AT ) REWE QT
ERESEFREHXERAR (RER
[MENEER) URRERE ZRE
HEA(REFREA]l BHBEZET
FZDTADILETEHNRHETARN

ZH]) - BBEBEWE  AEECDIS
R B SRR AR AT -
BEANTY  A5EE-Z—N\F—
ATHhARERSHAZEMNRER 2T
IR EEA 2 EFZ (B2EWE
13) ©

respective equity holders (“Equity holders”) who are
independent third party individuals in the PRC. Through the
acquisition, the Group has obtained the license required
for operating internet broadcasting platform in the PRC.
By virtue of the contractual arrangements, the Group has
obtained control over and derived economic benefits from
the VIE entities with effect from 19 January 2018 (refer to
Note 13).

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the ApEEERERANEEREEAT :
acquisition are as follows:

19 January

2018

—E-N\F

—A+hB

HK$'000

BT T

Cash and cash equivalents RekReFE 494
Other receivables H b JE WRIE 119
Amount due from the Group FE WA & B 518 313
Intangible assets EmEEE 842
Trade and other payables JE 1< BR SR % L b FE A SRR (1,580)
Net identifiable assets acquired B 2 AT BRI EEFE 188
Less: Consideration w o R(E =
Gain from bargain purchase REZBHBE 2 W= 188

REBEE_FT—tFt+t-_A=1+—BHLHF
B MmN R SRR -

There were no acquisitions in the year ended 31 December
2017.
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33 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

(b) Purchase consideration — cash inflow

33 ¥Ba6t(E&)

BERE-BERA

2018
—B-N\F
HK$'000
BT T
Inflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, WEEKT B ARl 2B & R
net of cash acquired (KRB WEZRE)
Cash consideration ReNE =
Less: Balances acquired B B 2 8 494
Net inflow of cash — investing activities REMAFEIREEY 494

Acquisition-related costs

Acquisition-related costs of approximately HK$118,000 are
included in administrative expenses in profit or 10ss.

& The English name is for identification purpose only

34 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The ultimate controlling parties of the Group are Mr. Dong, Mr.
Ning and Mr. Xu. The directors of the Group are of the view that
the following individuals and companies were related parties
that had transactions or balances with the Group as at and
during the year:

Name of related party

34

Wy 55 A B AR AR

Uit B 4 B8 A 7R 4978 5 118,000 T 1A 18 &
WEFAITERFX

R ABEMRHR

BEALHE

AEBZHEERT RERE BRAERRF
KE-AEBEZTAR/ NINBARRBBE
EPRAFEAERNEETBERIHHEHRL
FEATL :

Relationship with the Group

BEATER HE B A KEEAF

Mr. Dong Executive Director
BhE HITES

Mr. Ning Non-Executive Director
B FBMITES

Mr. Xu Non-Executive Director
REE FEHITES

Beijing Dirty Monkey Cultural Development Company Limited* Controlled by Mr. Ning
IREBEETFXULEERZERER AT HE A
Khorgas Dirty Monkey Media Culture Company Limited* Controlled by Mr. Ning
ERRMERFZREXULERERA HE A

Tibet Jindouyun Film Company L|m|ted* Controlled by Mr. Ning
ARSI ELEBRAA] B3 S A
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 E#ZE —=

34 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continuead)

(@) Related party transactions

During the year, the Group entered into the following

34 BEATHE

=i A=+ HIEEE

(&)

() HBEEATZXRS

FAAEEEBEALITIIATRS

transactions with related parties: ESI

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Film director’s fee to Mr. Ning MELAESTNZEXZERE
(Note 21(a)) (MF5E21@)) 5,862 18,639

Prepayment of film director’s fee to MIREETEN 2 EFERE
Mr. Xu - 12,612

These transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.

On 24 December 2018, the Group has entered into a film
investment agreement with Tibet Jindouyun Film Company
Limited*. The Group will invest RMB12 million, being 10%
of the estimated total production cost of the film.

HEEREEARAA |

—B-NEEH

X ZHEAR ETRAE VAZR R

RZZE-NF+-_A-+WB A&

) £ 7h A

EXREmE -
12,000,000 7T -

REI10% °

Y EFEXEERAARL
AEEKEEARS
BT R At R RAERK
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34

224

R A

= NEr=H=4—HIEERE

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 34 BAEALTIRE (&)
(b) Related party balances (b) BALT &S
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Amounts due to a shareholder FERT— R IR KIE
- Mr. Dong (note i) —E &4 (MEED 1,393 120,000
Amounts due to related companies FET R E R R FUIA
- Beijing Dirty Monkey Cultural —IRBEREFULEXFZEEEAR
Development Company Limited* ~al (fExin)
(note ii) 45,537 -
- Khorgas Dirty Monkey Media Culture  —E B RETEE F A LERE
Company Limited* (note i) BRAE (M) 45,537 -
92,467 120,000
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Prepayment for film and TV B2 & BAR B AR IE TR K
programmes rights
— Mr. Xu (Note iii) — R A& (M EEii) 11,974 12,612

Notei: The balance is denominated in HKS$, non-trade in nature, MizEi - BRAEBKETE AIEEEME &K
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 2B RARBEREE-

Note ii: The balance is denominated in RMB, non-trade in nature, MizEii: BERAARBE AIEEEHE &
unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one year. IR RERER—FARNEE -

Note iii: The balance represented the payment made to Mr. Xu in MisEiii : ZAERIERFEEZRERAREEED
relation to the development of the proposed film. EokNE

e — R AR A KB B &
MEmEEE A ERES

The carrying amount of amount due to a shareholder and NGIE /S5
amounts due to related companies approximate their fair

values.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

34 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 34 BEATHE(E)

(c) Key management personnel compensation (c) FEEBEASHMH
The remuneration of directors who were considered as FAERABAEBEFTEERAEBZES
key management personnel of the Group during the year MemT :
is as follows:
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Short-term benefits 52 BitE A 21,038 19,015
Pension costs — defined contribution BIKE KA — T HIGHE
plans 18 18
Share-based compensation VARR 17 2 EE 7 2 %7 M 28,129 =
49,185 19,033
The remuneration of directors and key executives is %%&I ITHRABZME T REME
determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard EgRTRARRBETEBEMEE -

to the performance of individuals and market trends.

@ The English name is for identification purpose only e S &R L ]
35 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 35 HEHEREIE
On 12 March 2019, the Group has signed a shares subscription RZE—NF=ZA+=H AEEAFHRIR
agreement with Maoyan Entertainment in relation to BEZERORBRBEWMZE NEEHRE7.5%
subscription of 7.5% enlarged ordinary share of the Company ARABEREZEZBEKR REABHNBIE
with consideration of approximately HK$390,556,000. The 390,556,0007T ° 1T & @A 2 FTIERIEE R
proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares have been —E—AFE=ARE -

received in March 2019.

BEEREEERAA | =F-N\EEH 225



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-.r\ 7,|- ﬁ% #& % BT_.I- FIE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z— N\F+_A=+—HILFE

36 CHANGE IN PRESENTATION OF 36 BEZI|LLBHT
COMPARATIVES
Certain comparative figures of the consolidated financial HRAVERERAE THRETHE FTEFH S
statements were reclassified to conform with the current year's HURERFEZ25FR -
presentation.

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37 AATR ZHBARRIERK
THE COMPANY

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mo e BT T BET T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NG £ 231,079 243,381
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H th JE R T 143 552
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE Uk B B8 2 B) 508 262,695 246,237
Cash and cash equivalents BekRE ﬁfﬁ 41 17,040
262,879 263,829
Total assets EEMBE 493,958 507,210
Equity Em
Share capital f&% 7R 29,181 27,681
Reserves s (a) 228,020 271,828
Total equity A 257,201 299,509
Current liabilities RBAE
Other payables b < 5K IE 15,000 10,201
Amount due to a related party JE—REEA T FIAE 1,393 120,000
Borrowings BN 220,364 77,500
Total liabilities EEHEE 236,757 207,701
Total equity and liabilities EakBEAHE 493,958 507,210
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IMF

R E A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—E—N\F+=—A=1+—HIFE

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

37 KRB BB RRFRE

Notes: MTTEE\ o
@  Reserves a)
Share-based
Share  compensation Translation Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
SRR A
Hifz
AR R E e ERfHE it ER “E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T BT BT BT
(Note b)
(Hi#ED)
At 1 January 2017 R=ZF—+tF—HA—H 1,974,993 - 22,921 (1,707,217) 290,697
Total comprehensive 10ss
for the year AEEEABRELER . = 23,468 (42,337) (18,869)
At 31 December 2017 RZZ—+F
+-A=1+—H 1,974,993 = 46,389 (1,749,554) 271,828
Issue of ordinary shares for B-FBYEREE
cooperation with ME1T 2 L@k
a film director 268,500 - - - 268,500
Issue of share options under ~ {RIREE AR HE AT 81317
share option scheme R - 85,368 - - 85,368
Total comprehensive l0ss
for the year AFEXABBEE - - 5,028 (402,704) (397,676)
At 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F
+-A=1+—H 2,243,493 85,368 51,417 (2,152,258) 228,020
(b)  The contributed surplus of approximately HK$199,168,000 (2017: (b)) EHBHLEE 199,168,000 T (ZF—+4F :

HK$199,168,000) is included in the accumulated losses. It represented
reduction in issued share capital and share premium cancellation
pursuant to a capital restructuring in 2004 and capital reorganisation
in 2010, 2011 and 2012. Under the Company Law of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution.
However, the Company shall not declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the

aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium accounts.

BEEREEERAA | =F-N\EEH

MW9%MMWO?A%J%E°§@EﬁEh
BE—_STNFRAEERRA - —TF - _F
—— R T FRANEARBHER
ﬁ%$&ﬁ%2h%ﬁ%omﬁﬁ%éﬁa%'
RRARZEHEBATHIR -SAMnE NHIER
$@TI Ma%%ﬁgﬁ&mﬁﬁ%iﬁﬁ
DR -

) HERTEIRIKMRESEDEERH
B %

iy HAEZUEREESAMEXREAR
REBHEITRAER M EEREBZ A -

227



~FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LU R ]

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is as follows:

AEEEE AN REE S £E  AEREBEL
mF -

For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—F—mFE —ET—AF ZE—F —IET—+tF ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BET T BT T
RESULTS HE
Revenue and film investment Wk EBZHERA
income 203,303 266,913 16,112 53,209 174,632
Loss before tax PR Al E 1R (12,796) (84,166) (1,253,745) (95,159) (426,264)
Income tax expense FTEHAY (348) (8,630) = = (18,429)
Loss for the year REFEHE (13,144) (92,796)  (1,253,745) (95,159) (444,693)
Loss for the year attributable to: ~ ANFEEEIEFRBR
Owners of the Company RREHEBA (13,144) (92,796)  (1,253,745) (95,159) (444,693)
(13,144) (92,796)  (1,253,745) (95,159) (444,693)
At 31 December
R+=B=+—-H
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—E-NFE ZE-RF ZE—RF ET—+tF ZB-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T BETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Total assets BERHE 472,981 1,055,285 1,011,555 1,046,527 1,693,549
Total liabilities BELT (136,871) (65,169) (184,644) (254,360)  (1,034,881)
Total equity A% 336,110 990,116 826,911 792,167 658,668
Attributable to: FER
Owners of the Company RREHEBA 336,110 990,116 826,911 792,167 658,668
336,110 990,116 826,911 792,167 658,668
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